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Financial Highlights

10.4%
increase in rental income

24.4%
increase in ffo

14.8%
increase in ffo/per share

       

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31
(in thousands $)

	

						        2012	        2011

OPERATIONS		
     RENTAL INCOME	                                                $ 54,448 	         $ 49,316 
     OPERATING EXPENSES	                                                  43,057 	            40,578 
     INTEREST	                                                                   11,812 	            12,031 
     DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION	                   11,239 	            10,247 
     TOTAL EXPENSES	                                                   46,183 	            43,217 
     TOTAL OTHER INCOME	                                        866 	                 403 
     LOSS ON IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY	                       (262)	               (264)
     DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS		                                                  116  
     FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS                                           20,705             16,649
     NET INCOME	                                                                     9,131 	              6,618 
     NONCONTROLLING INTEREST IN INCOME	    (6,424)	            (4,891)
     NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO INREIT	                     2,707 	              1,727 
     NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE	                       0.57 	                0.46 
     WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING	     4,733 	              3,771 
	 	
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS	 	
     FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES	                                 $ 20,094 	        $ 15,400 
     USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES	                                    (9,507)	         (11,498)
     USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES	                                   (9,223)	         (10,718)
		
BALANCE SHEET		
     TOTAL ASSETS	                                                              $ 385,095 	       $ 381,268 
     TOTAL LIABILITIES	                                                 221,904 	          237,043 
     STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY	                                 163,191 	          144,225 
		

OTHER	 	
     FFO PER SHARE                                                                 $ 1.32               $ 1.15
     DIVIDENDS DECLARED (SHARES)	                     4,022 	              3,030 
     DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER SHARE	                       0.83 	                0.81 
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To Our 
Investors,

Bruce Furness, Chairman of the Board

"A key to our strength and 
success is you, our 

investors."  

In 2012, we celebrated ten years of serving our 
investor-owners.  On behalf of your Board of 
Trustees, Management, and all of INREIT’s staff 
we want to thank you for the opportunity to serve 
you.  After a decade of hard work and an unwavering 
commitment to quality, performance and long-term 
ownership, INREIT stands apart from its peers.  
We are a success story and I am pleased to report 
INREIT is stronger today than it has ever been.

A key to our strength and success is you, our 
investors.  Our investors share a common trait:  you 
think, invest, and manage your assets like owners.  
You really are investor-owners.  You are patient, 
seek value for your hard earned dollars, and know 
assets need to be carefully and expertly managed.  
You understand the unique value of real estate as an 
investment, and appreciate that well-managed real 
estate produces steady and reliable income.  These 
binding qualities define who we are and what we do.   
It drives INREIT forward and makes us stronger.   

A DECADE OF EXCELLENCE
The results of this common approach are clear.  
Over the past 10 years, total assets, investor 
equity, and funds from operations (FFO) have all 
grown at a steady upward pace.  The following 
are a few highlights from a decade of hard work:

•   Total Assets have grown from $11,257,000 in      
    2003 to $385,095,000 in 2012.
•   Investor Equity in those Assets has grown from 
    $4,015,000 in 2003 to $163,191,000 in 2012.
•   Funds generated from the operation of those 
    Assets have grown from $251,000 in 2003 to 
    $20,705,000 in 2012.

2012 was a record-setting year for INREIT.  For 
the first time, gross revenue from our rental 
operations exceeded $50,000,000.   Expenses 
were also significantly lower than budgeted due 
to interest savings and the warm (lower utility 
costs) and dry (lower snow removal costs) 
weather we enjoyed during the winter months.  
The net result drove INREIT’s profitability to 
record levels for both the Trust and its investors.  
Below are some year-over-year highlights:

•      Investor Equity grew 13.2% from $144,225,000 
     in 2011 to $163,191,000 in 2012.
•   Funds generated from the operation of our 
     Assets grew 24.4% from $16,649,000 in 2011 
     to $20,705,000 in 2012.
•   FFO per weighted share grew 14.5% from 
     $1.15 in 2011 to $1.32 in 2012.
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 "The combination of strong performance, 
profitability and overall return of 

equity to our investors made 2012 the best 
overall year in our ten year history."    

CAPITAL ALLOCATION
In 2012, we returned record levels of capital to 
our investors paying a total of $13,126,000 in 
dividends and distributions (a 12.8% increase 
over 2011).  INREIT also redeemed $5,525,000 
in shares and units under our redemption plans 
(a 59.3% increase over 2011).  The combination 
of strong performance, profitability and overall 
return of equity to our investors made 2012 the 
best overall year in our ten year history.

We also continued to actively acquire properties in 
2012, with each property advancing our investment 
strategies and objectives.  Quality additions to our 
multi-family portfolio in Fargo, North Dakota 
and Moorhead, Minnesota reinforce our strong 
presence in these healthy communities.  The August 
2012 acquisition of multi-family development 
land in Bismarck, North Dakota also marked the 
beginning of a multi-phase development project 
aimed at taking advantage of consistently strong 
occupancy rates in the Bismarck market.

Attractive triple-net lease (NNN) commercial 
property acquisitions in Fargo, Minot, and 
Dickinson, North Dakota further enhanced our 
growing portfolio of these stable investments, as 
well as, our geographic diversity across the state.  
We are particularly pleased with our acquisition 
of the Guardian Building Products (GBP) 
distribution facility in Fargo, North Dakota.  GBP 
is one of North America's largest building products 
distributors.  This 100,000 square foot facility is 
attractively located along Interstate 29 and is in the 
heart of Fargo's industrial center.     

OPERATIONS
Operationally, INREIT achieved 99.3% occupancy 
across its commercial and 98.8% occupancy across 
its multi-family portfolios.  While outstanding on 
their own, these occupancy levels continue to 
be particularly noteworthy in the context of the 
nation’s slow economic recovery.  These results 
evidence, again, our mindset of strong, expert 
management of each property we own. 

Kenneth P. Regan, Chief Executive Officer
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Sincerely,

Chairman of the Board	                Chief Executive Officer

With the process of becoming a publicly reporting, 
non-traded, company now behind us, INREIT also 
worked to further improve its investor relations 
systems in 2012.  For example, in April 2012, 
INREIT appointed Registrar and Transfer Company 
(RTCO) as its new transfer, registrar and dividend 
agent.  Prior to RTCO’s appointment, INREIT 
processed all transactions internally.  As the 
number of investors and complexity of transfers 
has grown, the cost of these services increased 
dramatically.  INREIT determined RTCO could 
improve these services to our shareholders and do 
so at an attractive cost.

INREIT also launched a completely new and 
updated website (www.inreit.com).  This website 
is a culmination of over a year of programming 
and content development; all designed to provide 
our investor-owners a deeper understanding of 
INREIT, its structure and assets.  The site also 
provides investors easy access to our reported 
financial data.  Since the release of the new website, 
your feedback has been overwhelmingly positive.
 
In July 2012, INREIT also launched a new 
Dividend Reinvestment Plan, allowing all 
shareholders the opportunity to reinvest their 
dividends in additional shares.  The plan also allows 
existing shareholders the opportunity to purchase 
up to $5,000 in additional shares each quarter, 
above and beyond any dividend reinvestment 
purchase.  This cash purchase option was provided 
to our shareholders in response to requests for the 
opportunity to expand current holdings. 

NEXT  YEAR AND BEYOND
In summary, we are extremely pleased with the 
results achieved over the past ten years.  These 
results are the reward for the long-term ownership 
mindset shared by our investor-owners.  We are 
also thrilled by the good fortune we enjoyed in 
2012, where a convergence of good weather, low 
interest rates, and strong management led us to 
record-breaking profitability.   

INREIT’s future continues to be bright.  Our 
structure, strong management, stable financial 
position, and business relationships all position us 
well to take advantage of value opportunities as 
they arise.  Your loyalty and shared vision inspires 
and empowers us to stay the course, holding to 
our investment principles while growing with 
discipline and confidence during the next decade 
and beyond.

Thank you again for your investment, loyalty and 
ongoing support.
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The REIT Structure
A Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) is an 
investment vehicle created in 1960 by the United 
States Congress with the Real Estate Investment 
Trust Act.  This Act authorized a real estate 
ownership structure that is treated similar to 
mutual funds; a tax-exempt pass-through entity 
with broad based ownership, distributing most of its 
earnings and capital gains to investors. Investment 
in a REIT offers diversification benefits, since 
REITs often offer differing investment strategies 
in terms of property type and geographic focus.

INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust
In 2002, INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust 
(“INREIT”) was formed to invest in a diversified 
portfolio of primarily multi-family (apartments
and assisted or independent living centers) 
and commercial properties (retail, office and 
medical).  INREIT elected to be taxed as a 
Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”) under 
Sections 856-860 of the Internal Revenue Code.

INREIT Properties, LLLP
INREIT is an Umbrella Partnership Real 
Estate Investment Trust, and holds all of its 
properties in a separate partnership, INREIT 
Properties, LLLP (“INREIT Properties”). 

INREIT controls INREIT Properties and acts as its 
general partner.   INREIT uses  INREIT Properties to 
acquire properties, including through the exchange 
of  limited partnership units for properties. 
These “UPREIT” exchanges can be advantageous, 
as the seller may be able to defer taxation of gain 
until the seller later resells the limited partnership 
units received in the exchange.  By offering 
sellers the ability to defer taxation, INREIT gains 
an advantage in acquiring quality properties.

INREIT Management, LLC
INREIT operates under the direction of the 
Board of Trustees, the members of which are 
accountable to the Trust and its shareholders 
as fiduciaries. However, INREIT has no paid 
employees and therefore retains a management 
company to manage INREIT’s and INREIT 
Properties’ day-to-day affairs.  From 2003 – 2012, 
INREIT has relied upon INREIT Management, 
LLC as its external management company.  
INREIT Management’s CEO, President and CFO 
serve concurrently as the Trust’s executive officers.

UPREIT exchanges can be advantageous, as 
the seller may be able to defer taxation of 

gain until the seller later resells the limited 
partnership units received in the exchange.  

Our Business
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Public Company Status
From inception through 2010, INREIT has 
operated as a private REIT.  However, in 2011, 
INREIT filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”) and became a non-traded 
public company. INREIT’s ongoing growth 
and success necessitated our registration 
and transition to public company status.

It is important to note there are two forms 
of Public REITs: Traded and Non-Traded. A 
traded REIT is a public company whose shares 
are traded on major stock exchanges such as 
NYSE or NASDAQ. Non-traded REITs are also 
public companies but their shares are not traded 
on major exchanges and are, instead, offered

directly to investors through representatives/
broker dealers registered to sell the shares.
INREIT operates as a public “non-traded” REIT.

Although INREIT’s registration process 
ended in October 2011, the requirement to file 
reports with the SEC began immediately. INREIT 
filed its first report on Form 10-Q on May 15, 
2011.  INREIT's most recent Annual Report on 
Form 10-K is contained at the end of this document. 
INREIT’s registration and reports are all available 
to investors on INREIT's and the SEC’s website.

7Our Business



2002
INREIT Real Estate 
Investment Trust is 
formed and purchases 
its first investment 
property, golden 
estates (williston,nd).

           

  total 
 multi-family    commercial

       256 units    |   181,100 sq. ft.

2003
INREIT purchases 
grand forks 
marketplace (grand 
forks, nd), its first 
commercial property.

2006
INREIT acquires
two (2) signature 
single tenant office 
properties.

2004
INREIT completes 

autumn ridge
(grand forks,nd), its 

first multi-family 
development.

2005
INREIT acquires its 
first property outside 
of North Dakota, 
colonial plaza        
(norfolk,ne).

           

   total 
 multi-family    commercial

        488 units     |  233,000  sq. ft.

           

  total 
 multi-family    commercial

      544 units     |  323,000 sq. ft.

A Decade Of Opportunity
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  total 
 multi-family    commercial

       514 units     |  503,200 sq. ft.



2010
INREIT diversifies 
its portfolio with 
four (4) high-
value triple net 
(nnn) restaurant 
purchases.

2008
INREIT adds ten 

(10) biolife medical 
properties to 

its portfolio.

2011
INREIT registers 
with SEC as a public 
non-traded REIT.

2012
INREIT acquires 
guardian building 
products (fargo,nd), 
its first industrial-
distribution property.

           

  total 
 multi-family    commercial

           3,772 units  |  1,000,000 sq. ft.

           

  total 
 multi-family    commercial

        3,451 units  |  932,500 sq. ft.

           

  total 
 multi-family    commercial

           4,613 units  |  1,100,000 sq. ft.

 2007
INREIT acquires 
eighteen (18) 
properties, increasing 
shareholder equity 
280% over 2006.

 2009
INREIT adds two 
(2) nnn Walgreen’s 
stores in Arkansas and 
one (1) in Louisiana, 
extending its 
geographic footprint.

             A Decade of Opportunity   9



2012 Highlights

----------------------------------

1.15.12:  INREIT Real Estate 
Investment Trust pays a fourth 
quarter 2011 dividend of $0.20125 
per share, its 36th consecutive 
dividend.  INREIT Properties, 
LLLP pays a fourth quarter 2011 
distribution of $0.20125 per unit, 
its 36th consecutive distribution.

1.19.12:  INREIT Properties,
LLLP successfully acquires a Dairy 
Queen Grill & Chill, located along 
the I-94 corridor in Dickinson, 
North Dakota for $1,330,000.  
The purchase and lease-back 
transaction incorporates an 18-year 
absolute triple-net (NNN) lease.   

2.7.12:  INREIT Properties, 
LLLP successfully closes on the sale 
of a Burger King Restaurant located 
in Norfolk, Nebraska for $350,000.

3.30.12:  INREIT Properties, 
LLLP successfully acquires an 
implement dealership lot and 
facility located in Dickinson, 
North Dakota for $1,390,500. 
The purchase and lease-back 
transaction incorporates a 15-
year absolute triple-net (NNN) 
lease with Titan Machinery.  

6.7.12:  INREIT Real Estate
Investment Trust convenes
its 2012 Annual Shareholder 
Meeting at the Hilton Garden Inn 
in Fargo, North Dakota.  More than 
200 share and unitholders attend.

6.7.12:  INREIT Real Estate 
Investment Trust’s Board of 
Trustees establishes a new Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan which allows 
shareholders to not only reinvest 
dividends in additional shares, 
but also make optional quarterly 
cash purchases of up to $5,000 in 
INREIT common shares.

7.15.12:  INREIT Real Estate 
Investment Trust pays a second 
quarter 2012 dividend of $0.2065 
per share, its 38th consecutive 
dividend.   INREIT Properties, 
LLLP pays a second quarter 2012 
distribution of $0.2065 per unit, 
its 38th consecutive distribution.

8.1.12:  INREIT Properties, 
LLLP successfully acquires an 
implement dealership lot and facility 
located in Minot, North Dakota 
for $2,630,000. The purchase and 
lease-back transaction incorporates 
a 15-year absolute triple-net 
(NNN) lease with Titan Machinery.

----------------------------------

4.1.12:  INREIT Real Estate
Investment Trust appoints 
Registrar and Transfer Company 
(RTCO) as its new transfer,
registrar and dividend agent. 
Upon appointment, RTCO 
becomes responsible for issuing 
all of INREIT’s dividend and 
distribution payments, processing 
share transfer requests, and 
dividend reinvestment enrollment.   

4.15.12:  INREIT Real Estate 
Investment Trust pays a first 
quarter 2012 dividend of $0.2065 
per share, its 37th consecutive 
dividend.  INREIT Properties, 
LLLP pays a first quarter 2012 
distribution of $0.2065 per unit, 
its 37th consecutive distribution.

4.26.12:  INREIT Real Estate 
Investment Trust’s Board of  Trustees 
issues an $8,400,000 Private 
Placement of INREIT's Common 
Shares starting in May 2012.

5.25.12:  INREIT Properties, 
LLLP successfully closes on 
the sale of raw land suitable for 
development located in Minot, 
North Dakota for $583,000.

----------------------------------

----------------------------------
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8.3.12:  INREIT Properties, 
LLLP successfully acquires raw 
land for $2,420,000 located along 
Highway 83 in Bismarck, North 
Dakota suitable for a multi-family 
housing development. INREIT plans 
to construct a multi-family housing 
development on this land in 2013.  

8.29.12:  INREIT Properties, LLLP 
successfully acquires an industrial 
lot and building located in Fargo, 
North Dakota for $3,450,000.  
The purchase and lease-back 
transaction incorporates a long-
term double-net (NN) lease with 
Guardian Building Products.

9.20.12:   INREIT Real Estate 
Investment Trust’s Board of 
Trustees issues an additional 
$3,500,000 Private Placement 
of INREIT's Common Shares 
starting in October 2012.

9.29.12:  INREIT Properties,
LLLP successfully acquires 
Prairiewood Meadows an 85 
unit, five building apartment 
community, located in Fargo, 
North Dakota for $3,450,000.

9.29.12:  INREIT Properties, 
LLLP successfully acquires 
Terrace on the Green, a 116 
unit, four building apartment 
community, located in Moorhead, 
Minnesota for $3,450,000.

10.15.12:  INREIT Real Estate 
Investment Trust pays a third 
quarter 2012 dividend of $0.2065 
per share, its 39th consecutive 
dividend.   INREIT Properties, 
LLLP pays a third quarter 2012 
distribution of $0.2065 per unit, 
its 39th consecutive distribution.

10.24.12:  INREIT Real Estate 
Investment Trust consolidates 
operations and relocates its head-
quarters from Minot, to 
Fargo, North Dakota.

10.30.12:  INREIT Properties, 
LLLP successfully acquires an
implement dealership lot and facility 
located in Fargo, North Dakota 
for $2,820,000. The purchase and 
lease-back transaction incorporates 
a 15-year absolute triple-net 
(NNN) lease with Titan Machinery.

11.27.12:  INREIT Properties, 
LLLP successfully acquires 
Candlelight Apartments, a 66 unit, 
two building community, located in 
Fargo, North Dakota   for $1,950,000.

12.20.12:  INREIT Real Estate 
Investment Trust’s Board of 
Trustees votes to increase the 
aggregate total number of shares 
or units able to be redeemed under 
the Trust’s Share and Partnership’s 
Unit Redemption plans, from 
$10,000,000 to $15,000,000.

----------------------------------

----------------------------------

----------------------------------

----------------------------------
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             Shares           Units            Total
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DIVERSIFIED ASSETS BY STATE 
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Board of Trustees

Bruce W. Furness
Chairman of the Board

INREIT Real Estate
Investment Trust

3*,4

Kenneth P. Regan
Chief Executive Officer

INREIT Real Estate
Investment Trust

Timothy Hunt
Chief Executive Officer
Alexandria Clinic, PA

1*,3

Richard Savageau
Former President

Butler Machinery Company
3,4*

Lance R. Wolf
Executive Vice President/Director

 of Retail Banking
Gate City Bank

1,2*

James R. Hansen
President

Hansen Investments, Inc.
3,4

Clifford Fearing
Former Chief Financial Officer

Fairview Health Services
1,2

Lawrence R. O’Callaghan
Investments and Securities Advisor

Financial Advantage
Wealth Management

2,4

James S. Wieland
President

Goldmark Schlossman
Commercial Real Estate Services

3,4

The INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust Board of  Trustees met 
four (4) times in 2012 and held eighteen (18) interim committee 
meetings. Board members focus on areas of importance to 
investors – strategy, performance, risk management and 
regulatory matters. In 2012, the Board of Trustees received 
briefings on a variety of issues including: Trust financial 
performance, acquisition and disposition of assets, state and 
federal tax issues, regulatory and compliance matters, litigation, 
emerging SEC rules, and managing the transition from a private 
to public company.

Legend
1. Audit Committee

2. Disclosure Committee
3. Executive Committee

4. Nominating and Governance Committee
* Committee Chair

Executive Officers of INREIT 
Real Estate Investment trust 

Kenneth P. Regan
Chief Executive Officer

Bradley J. Swenson
President

Pete Winger
Chief Financial Officer
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Investor Relations

INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust files the 
company’s Form 10-K and Form 10-Q reports with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Copies 
are available on the SEC's website and on INREIT’s 
website at www.inreit.com.  To request a hard copy 
without charge, please call or write to INREIT’s 
Investor Relations Department at:

	 INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust
	 Investor Relations
	 1711 Gold Drive South, Suite 100
	 Fargo, ND 58103
	 (877) 269-1031

Communications concerning shareholder address 
changes, stock transfers, changes of ownership, 
payment of dividends or other account services can 
be directed to:

Brittaney van der Hagen
Investor Relations Coordinator
(877) 269-1031
bvanderhagen@inreit.com

~OR~

Registrar and Transfer Company
Attn:  Investor Relations Department
10 Commerce Drive
Cranford, NJ  07016
(800) 368-5948

For additional information about INREIT Real 
Estate Investment Trust, visit our website online at 
www.inreit.com.

Annual Meeting

Date:		  June 27, 2013 
Time:		  6 p.m.
Where:		 Holiday Inn, Fargo, North Dakota

We sincerely hope you can join us for this year’s 
annual meeting.  Shareholders will vote to elect the 
2013 Board of  Trustee’s slate and confirm INREIT’s 
choice of auditor.

If you have any questions regarding the annual 
meeting or your account, please contact Investor 
Relations directly at (701) 353-2729.

We look forward to seeing you in June!

              Investor Relations   19



20

our mission

to provide investors the opportunity of 
long-term ownership in low-risk and well-
managed income-producing real estate. 
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==============================================================================================

UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 

FORM 10-K 
 ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012

or 
 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

For the transition period from to 

Commission File Number 000-54295 

INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

North Dakota 90-0115411
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification Number)

1711 Gold Drive South, Suite 100
Fargo, North Dakota 58103
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NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated into this document by reference 
contain certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the 
“Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such forward-looking 
statements include statements regarding our plans and objectives, including, among other things, our future financial condition, 
anticipated capital expenditures, anticipated dividends and other matters. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by the 
use of terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue,” “predict,” 
“potential” or the negative of such terms and other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions and are not
historical facts. Actual events or results may differ materially. 

The forward-looking statements included herein are based on our current expectations, plans, estimates and beliefs that involve 
numerous risks and uncertainties. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future 
economic, competitive and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict 
accurately and many of which are beyond our control. Any of the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements contained 
herein could be inaccurate. Although we believe the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable 
assumptions, we cannot assure readers that the forward-looking statements included in this filing will prove to be accurate. The
accompanying information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including, without limitation, the information set forth 
under the section entitled “Risk Factors” in Item 1A, identifies important additional factors that could materially adversely affect 
actual results and performance. We undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed 
assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to future operating results. 
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PART I 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

GENERAL 

INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust (“we”, “us”, “our”, “Company” or “INREIT”) is a real estate investment trust (“REIT”), formed 
in North Dakota as an unincorporated business trust on December 3, 2002. References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the 
“Company,” “INREIT,” “we,” “us,” or “our” include consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise. We were 
formed for the purpose of investing in a diversified portfolio primarily of commercial properties (such as retail, office and medical) 
and multi-family dwellings (such as apartment buildings and senior assisted or independent living centers). As a REIT, we are not 
subject to U.S. federal income taxation as long as we satisfy certain requirements, principally relating to the nature of our income, the 
level of our dividends and other factors.  At December 31, 2012, we owned directly or through our operating partnership, 97 
properties in ten states.

UPREIT Structure 

We operate as an Umbrella Partnership Real Estate Investment Trust, which is a REIT that holds all or substantially all of its assets 
through a partnership which the REIT controls as general partner. Therefore, we conduct substantially all of our investment activities 
and hold all or substantially all of our assets through our operating partnership INREIT Properties, LLLP. We control the operating 
partnership as the general partner and own approximately 32.3% of the operating partnership as of December 31, 2012. For purposes 
of satisfying the asset and income tests for qualification as a REIT for tax purposes, our proportionate shares of the assets and income 
of our operating partnership are deemed to be our assets and income. 

Operating Partnership 

Our operating partnership, INREIT Properties, LLLP, was formed as a North Dakota limited liability limited partnership on April 25, 
2003 to acquire, own and operate properties on our behalf. The operating partnership holds a diversified portfolio of commercial 
properties and multi-family dwellings located principally in the upper and central Midwest United States. 

Since our formation, our focus has consisted of owning and operating income-producing real estate properties. In 2006, we held 23 
total properties approximating $56 million in total assets. Between 2007 and 2012, we focused extensively on strengthening the 
multifamily component of our portfolio, acquiring properties directly or through UPREIT transactions. A majority of these 
multifamily properties were located in North Dakota. By the end of 2012, our portfolio has grown to 97 properties, approximating 
$356.0 million in total assets, which includes assets held for sale, and book equity, including noncontrolling interests, of 
approximately $163.2 million as of December 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2012, our portfolio contained approximately 4,543
apartments, 193 assisted living units and 1,056,443 square feet of leasable commercial space.

As of December 31, 2012, approximately 56.7% of the properties were apartment communities and senior assisted living communities 
located primarily in North Dakota with others located in Minnesota and Nebraska. Most multi-family dwelling properties are leased to 
a variety of tenants under short-term leases. 

As of December 31, 2012, approximately 43.3% of the properties were comprised of office, retail and medical commercial properties
located primarily in North Dakota with others located in Arkansas, Colorado, Louisiana, Michigan, Mississippi, Minnesota, Nebraska, 
Texas and Wisconsin. Most commercial properties are leased to a variety of tenants under long-term leases. 
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OUR PEOPLE 

We do not have any employees. Instead, we rely on our external Advisor to conduct our day-to-day affairs. 

Our Advisor

Our external Advisor is INREIT Management, LLC, a North Dakota limited liability company formed on November 14, 2002. Our 
Advisor is responsible for managing our day-to-day affairs and for identifying, acquiring and disposing investments on our behalf. The 
Advisor is owned in part by Kenneth Regan, a trustee and our Chief Executive Officer, and by an entity controlled by James Wieland, 
also one of our trustees. In addition, Messrs. Regan and Wieland serve on the Board of Governors of the Advisor. From 2007 to 2012,
our Advisor’s staff increased in number and expertise, growing from 4 to 8 full-time employees including a president, chief financial 
officer, financial reporting manager, property accountant and internal auditor.

Our Board of Trustees and Executive Officers 

We operate under the direction of our Board of Trustees, the members of which are accountable to us and our shareholders as 
fiduciaries. In addition, the Board has a specific fiduciary duty to supervise our relationship with the Advisor, and evaluates the 
performance of and fees paid to the Advisor on an annual basis prior to renewing the Advisory Agreement with the Advisor. Our 
Board of Trustees has provided investment guidance for the Advisor to follow, and must approve each investment recommended by 
the Advisor. Currently, we have nine members on our board, six of whom are independent of our Advisor. Our trustees are elected 
annually by our shareholders. 

Although we have executive officers, we do not have any paid employees. Our President, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer, Treasurer and Secretary are also officers, employees, owners or governors of our Advisor. Among others, such executive 
officers oversee our Advisor’s day-to-day operations with respect to us. However, when doing so, such executive officers are acting 
on behalf of our Advisor in performing the Advisor’s obligations under the Advisory Agreement. Generally, the only services 
performed by our executive officers in their capacity as executive officers are those required by law or regulation, such as executing 
documents as required by North Dakota law and providing certifications required by the federal securities laws. 

Organizational Structure 

The following chart shows our structure: 

____________

(1) The Advisor is owned in part by our Chief Executive Officer and Trustee Mr. Kenneth P. Regan (33.00%), by Wieland 
Investments, LLLP, an entity controlled by our Trustee Mr. James S. Wieland (33.00%) and by our President Bradley J. 
Swenson (5%). In addition, Mr. Regan serves as the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of the Advisor, and 
Messrs. Wieland and Swenson serve on the Board of Governors of the Advisor. 

(2) The Advisor serves as both our and our operating partnership’s advisor. The Advisor does not own any of our shares. Messrs. 
Regan and Wieland each beneficially own approximately 2.5% and 2.1%, respectively, of our shares as of December 31, 2012.

(3) We control the operating partnership as the general partner, and own approximately 32.3% of the operating partnership as of 
December 31, 2012. Mr. Regan and Mr. Wieland beneficially owned and had voting power over approximately 10.6% and 8.9%, 
respectively, of the operating partnership as of December 31, 2012.
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OUR CORE INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGY 

Investment Objectives 

Our primary investment objectives are to: 

• acquire quality real estate properties or interests in real estate properties that can provide stable cash flow for distribution to 
our shareholders, preservation of capital and realization of long-term capital appreciation upon the sale of such properties;

• offer an investment option in which the value of the common shares is correlated to real estate as an asset class rather than
traditional asset classes such as stocks and bonds; and 

• provide a hedge against inflation through use of month-to-month rentals or short-term and long-term lease arrangements 
with rental properties tenants. 

We may change our investment objectives only with the approval of holders of a majority of the outstanding common shares. 

Investment Strategy 

Our investment strategy is primarily to acquire and hold a diverse portfolio of: 

• commercial real estate properties or portfolios or real estate properties in various sectors, including multi-family residential, 
senior housing, retail, office, medical and other commercial properties, including restaurants, primarily located in the 
central corridor of the contiguous 48 states; and 

• ownership interests in real estate properties in various sectors, including multi-family residential, senior housing, retail, 
office, medical and other commercial properties located in these markets. 

The majority of our acquisitions are located in or near metropolitan areas. However, there is no limitation on the geographic areas in 
which we may acquire targeted investments. 

We may acquire portfolios of real estate properties held by individual owners and real estate properties held by funds, including hedge 
funds. We anticipate such property owners will primarily sell the properties in exchange for limited partnership interests of the 
operating partnership. 

We may make investments alone or together with other investors, including with affiliates of the Advisor, through holding company 
structures or joint ventures, real estate partnerships, tenant-in-common deals, REITs or other collective investment vehicles.

Investment Guidance 

Our Board of Trustees has provided investment guidance to the Advisor to direct our investment strategy. Changes to our investment 
guidance must be approved by our Board. The Advisor has been authorized to execute (1) commercial real estate property acquisitions 
and dispositions and (2) investments in other real estate related assets, in each case so long as such investments are approved by our 
Board. Our Board will at all times have ultimate oversight over our investments and may change from time to time the scope of 
authority delegated to our Advisor with respect to acquisition and disposition transactions. 

Currently, our investment guidance is that our real estate investments be allocated approximately as follows: 

• up to 50% in multi-family and apartment properties; 
• up to 20% in commercial office properties; 
• up to 10% in retail properties; 
• up to 10% in medical properties; 
• up to 10% in industrial properties; and 
• up to 5% in restaurant properties. 

Despite our intentions, the actual percentage of our portfolio invested in each investment type may fluctuate above or below such 
levels due to factors such as a large inflow of capital (including from additional capital raises or sales of investments), lack of 
attractive investment opportunities in an investment type or an increase in anticipated cash requirements (including repayment of 
outstanding debt obligations or REIT dividend requirements). 

Investments in Real Estate Properties 

Our investment guidance provides we will primarily invest in existing or newly constructed real estate properties and interests in real 
estate properties in a multiple of sectors, including multi-family residential and senior housing properties, retail, office, medical, 
industrial, and restaurant properties by acquiring direct ownership or ownership interests through equity interests or other joint venture 
structures. We may also invest in other real estate property types, including undeveloped land or other development opportunities if 
the land is acquired for the purpose of producing rental or other operating income and either development or construction is in process 
or development or construction is planned to commence on the land within one year. We primarily invest in real estate properties with 
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existing rent and expense schedules or newly constructed properties with predictable cash flows or in which a seller agrees to provide 
certain minimum income levels. We concentrate our efforts on real estate properties located primarily in North Dakota, the central 
corridor of the contiguous 48 states and in or near metropolitan areas. 

Investments in Real Estate Related Assets 

Our guidelines provide we may invest in real estate related assets. These assets include securities of other companies engaged in real 
estate activities, mortgage-backed securities and conventional mortgage loans. However, to date, our investment in such assets have 
been nominal, and we do not expect to increase such investments in the near future. 

Investments in Cash, Cash Equivalents and Other Short-Term Investments 

We may invest in cash, cash equivalents and other short-term investments. Consistent with the rules applicable to qualification as a 
REIT, such investments may include investments in the following: money market instruments; short-term debt instruments, such as 
commercial paper, certificates of deposit, bankers’ acceptances, repurchase agreements, interest-bearing time deposits and corporate 
debt securities; corporate asset-backed securities; and U.S. government or government agency securities. However, to date, our 
investment in such assets have been nominal, and we do not expect to increase such investments in the near future. 

SEGMENT DATA 

Commencing January 1, 2012, we began reporting our results in two reportable segments: residential and commercial properties. Our 
residential properties include multi-family and assisted senior living properties. Our commercial properties include retail, office, 
restaurant and medical properties. We assess and measure operating results based on net operating income (“NOI”), which we define 
as total real estate segment revenues less real estate expenses (which consist of real estate taxes, property management fees, utilities, 
repairs and maintenance, insurance and direct administrative costs). We believe NOI is an important measure of operating 
performance even though it should not be considered an alternative to net income or cash flow from operating activities. NOI is 
unaffected by financing, depreciation, amortization, legal and professional fees and other general and administrative expenses.

COMPETITION 

Our properties are located in highly competitive real estate markets. The number of competitive properties in a particular area could 
have a material adverse effect on our ability to lease space and the amount of rent we can charge at our properties. We compete with 
many property owners, such as corporations, limited partnerships, individual owners, other real estate investment trusts, insurance 
companies and pension funds. 

Our competition also consists of other owners and developers of multifamily and commercial properties who are trying to attract 
tenants to their properties. We also compete with other real estate investors such as individuals, partnerships, corporations, and other 
REITs to acquire properties that meet our investment objectives. This competition influences our ability to acquire properties and the 
prices that we may pay for those properties. We do not have a dominant position in any of the markets in which we operate and many 
of our competitors have greater financial and other resources than us and may have substantially more operating experience than either 
us or our Advisor. We believe, however, that the diversity of our investments, the experience and abilities of our management, the 
quality of our assets and the financial strength of many of our commercial tenants affords us some competitive advantages that have in 
the past, and should in the future, allow us to operate our business successfully despite the competitive nature of our business. 

Generally, there are multi-family and other similar commercial properties within relatively close proximity to each of our properties. 
Regarding our retail properties, in addition to competitor retail properties, we and our tenants face increasing competition from outlet 
malls, internet shopping websites, discount shopping clubs, catalog companies, direct mail and telemarketing. 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS AND GOVERNMENT REGULATION 

As an owner of real estate, we are subject to various environmental laws, rules and regulations adopted by various governmental 
bodies or agencies. These laws and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation and removal of 
underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of solid hazardous materials, the 
remediation of contaminated property associated with the disposal of solid and hazardous materials and other health and safety-related 
concerns. Under these laws, a current or previous owner or operator of real estate may be liable for the costs of removal or 
remediation of certain hazardous or toxic substances released at a property, and may be held liable to a governmental entity or to third 
parties for property damage or personal injuries and for investigation and clean-up costs incurred in connection with any
contamination. We could be subject to liability in the form of fines or damages for noncompliance with these laws and regulations, 
and some environmental laws create a lien on a contaminated site in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs in 
connection with the contamination. Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability on resident, owners or 
operators for the costs of investigation or remediation of contaminated properties, regardless of fault or the legality of the original 
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disposal. In addition, the presence of these substances, or the failure to properly remediate these substances, may adversely affect our 
ability to sell or rent the property or to use the property as collateral for future borrowing. Compliance with new or more stringent 
laws or regulations or stricter interpretation of existing laws may require material expenditures by us. 

In addition we are subject to many other laws and governmental regulations applicable to our properties, and changes in the laws and 
regulations, or in their interpretation by agencies and the courts, occur frequently. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 
(the “ADA”), all places of public accommodation are required to meet certain federal requirements related to access and use by 
disabled persons. The Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988 (the “FHAA”) requires apartment communities first occupied after 
March 13, 1991, to be accessible to the handicapped and prohibits housing discrimination based upon familial status, which is 
commonly referred to as age-based discrimination. The Housing for Older Persons Act (HOPA) provides age-based discrimination 
exceptions for housing developments qualifying as housing for older persons. Non-compliance with ADA, FHAA or HOPA could 
result in the imposition of fines, awards of damages to private litigants, payment of attorneys’ fees and other costs to plaintiffs, 
substantial litigation costs and substantial costs of remediation. We believe our properties which are subject to ADA, FHAA and/or 
HOPA are substantially in compliance with their present requirements. 

Compliance with these laws, rules and regulations has not had a material adverse effect on our business, assets, or results of
operations, financial condition and ability to pay dividends. We do not believe our existing portfolio as of December 31, 2012 will 
require us to incur material expenditures to comply with these laws and regulations. However, we cannot assure that future laws, 
ordinances or regulations will not impose any material liability, or that the current environmental condition of our properties will not 
be affected by the operations of tenants, by the existing condition of the land, by operations in the vicinity of the properties, such as 
the presence of underground storage tanks, or by the activities of unrelated third parties. 

AVAILABLE INFORMATION 

We electronically file our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, proxy and 
information statements and all amendments to these filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The public may
read and copy any materials filed by us with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 
20549, on official business days during the operation of 10:00 am to 3:00 pm. The public may obtain information on the operation of 
the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at (800)-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site at www.sec.gov that contains 
reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically. 

We will make these reports available, free of charge, by responding to requests addressed to 1711 Gold Drive South, Suite 100 Fargo, 
North Dakota 58103. You may also request by calling the telephone number (701) 353-2720. Additionally, we maintain an internet site 
at www.inreit.com, which includes the Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K
and all amendments to those reports. These reports are available as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically 
filed or furnished to the SEC. This reference to our website is not intended to incorporate information found on the website into this 
filing. 

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 

Risks Related to INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust 

Common shares of beneficial interest represent an investment in equity only, and not a direct investment in our assets. Therefore, 
common shareholders will hold only an indirect interest in our assets. 

The common shares of beneficial interest represent an equity interest only in us, not in any of our assets or the real estate or real estate 
related investments made by our operating partnership. We will have no substantial assets other than our equity interest in the 
operating partnership. Neither the Advisor nor any of its managers or affiliates have any obligation with respect to the payment of 
dividends to our shareholders or the return of capital investments made to us by the shareholders. 

Income will be received primarily from the leasing and resale of investments, which is subject to market and economic changes. If 
income is insufficient to meet our capital needs, our ability to carry out our business plans could be adversely affected. 

Our purpose is to acquire and hold our real estate investments as long-term investments before we resell the investments to maximize 
anticipated appreciation for our shareholders. The primary income that will be generated by us will be the profits, if any, from the 
operation or holding of the real estate and real estate related investments and upon the resale of the investments. If circumstances arise 
which cause an investment to remain at its current value or decrease in value, we may generate less income than anticipated. 

We may raise additional funds in the future to fund our capital needs, which may not be available on acceptable terms if at all. 

We may need to raise additional capital in the future in order to fulfill our business plans. The timing and amount of our future capital 
needs will depend on a number of factors, including the revenue generated by the operation of our real estate investments, when and if 
the properties will appreciate in value, the resale price of the properties and other real estate related investments, our future operating



9

expenses and required capital outlays. There can be no assurance additional financing will be available when needed on terms 
favorable to us, if at all. 

Further, we may be required to raise additional capital and sell additional securities in the future on terms which are more favorable to 
those investors than the terms under which our current shareholders purchased their common shares. If adequate funds are not 
available or are not available on acceptable terms, our ability to fund our current business plans and to acquire additional real estate 
and real estate related investments would be significantly limited. Such limitation could have a material adverse effect on our results. 

Our success is based on continuing to locate and hold suitable real estate investments, and failure of our Advisor to locate 
additional suitable properties or the unsuccessful operation of our existing real estate investments could adversely affect our 
operations and our ability to pay dividends.

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to pay dividends to our shareholders is dependent upon the performance of our 
Advisor in locating suitable investments and appropriate financing arrangements for us as well as on the successful management of 
our properties after acquisition. We currently own, through the operating partnership, the properties described under Item 2 –
Properties. 

We cannot be sure our Advisor will be successful in continuing to obtain suitable investments on financially attractive terms, or be
certain that operation of the properties will avoid the risks attendant to real estate acquisitions, such as: 

• The risk properties may not perform in accordance with expectations, including projected occupancy and rental rates; 
• The risk we may have underestimated the cost of improvements required to bring an acquired property up to standards 

established for its intended use or its intended market position. 

Our Board of Trustees may have to make expedited decisions on whether to invest in certain properties or real estate-related assets, 
including prior to receipt of detailed information on the investment. 

In the current real estate market, our Board of Trustees may frequently be required to make expedited decisions in order to effectively 
compete for the acquisition of desirable properties and other real estate-related assets. In such cases, our Advisor and Board of 
Trustees may not have access to detailed information regarding investment properties, such as physical characteristics, environmental 
matters, zoning regulations or other local conditions affecting the investment property, at the time of making an investment decision to 
pay a non-refundable deposit and to proceed with an acquisition. In addition, the actual time period during which our Advisor will be 
allowed to conduct due diligence may be limited. Therefore, there can be no assurance our Advisor and Board of Trustees will have 
knowledge of all circumstances that may adversely affect an investment. 

We face competition from other real estate investors for suitable properties, and may not be successful in our attempts to acquire 
desirable properties. 

The commercial and multi-family real estate industries are highly competitive, and we face competition for investment opportunities. 
These competitors may be real estate developers, real estate financing entities, real estate investment trusts, mutual funds, hedge 
funds, investment banking firms, institutional investors and other entities or investors that acquire real estate and may have 
substantially greater financial resources than we do. These entities or investors may be able to accept more risk than our Board of 
Trustees believes is in our best interests. This competition may limit the number of suitable investment opportunities offered to us. 
This competition also may increase the bargaining power of property owners seeking to sell to us, making it more difficult for us to 
acquire properties or interests in properties. In addition, we believe competition from entities organized for purposes similar to ours 
may increase in the future. 

We may change our investment and operational policies without shareholder consent, and such changes could increase our 
exposure to additional risks. 

Generally, the Board of Trustees may change our investment and operational policies, including our policies with respect to 
investments, acquisitions, growth, operations, indebtedness, capitalization and distributions, at any time without the consent of our 
shareholders, which could result in our making investments different from, and possibly riskier than, investments made in the past. A 
change in our investment policies may, among other things, increase our exposure to interest rate risk, default risk and commercial 
real estate market fluctuations, all of which could materially affect our ability to achieve our investment objectives. 

There can be no assurance dividends will be paid or increase over time. 

There are many factors that can affect the availability and timing of cash dividends to our shareholders. Dividends will be based 
principally on cash available from our real estate and real estate related investments. The amount of cash available for dividends will 
be affected by many factors, such as our ability to acquire profitable real estate investments and successfully manage our real estate 
properties and our operating expenses. We can give no assurance we will be able to pay or maintain dividends or that dividends will 
increase over time. Our actual results may differ significantly from the assumptions used by our Board of Trustees in establishing the 
dividend rate to our shareholders. 
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We may pay dividends from sources other than our cash flow from operations, which could subject us to additional risks. 

We are permitted to pay distributions from any source. If we fund dividends from cash flow from operations or working capital, we 
will have less funds available for investment in real estate and real estate related investments and our shareholders’ overall return may 
be reduced. Actual cash available for dividends may vary substantially from the estimates of our Board of Trustees. Because we may 
receive income from interest or rents at various times during our fiscal year, dividends paid may not reflect our income earned in that 
particular dividend period. In these instances, we may obtain third party financing to fund our dividends, causing us to incur additional 
interest expense. We may also fund such dividends from the sale of assets or additional securities. Any of these actions could 
potentially negatively affect future results of operations. 

Dividends may include a return of capital, and shareholders may be required to recognize capital gain on distributions. 

Dividends payable to shareholders may include a return of capital. To the extent dividends exceed cash flow from operations, a
shareholder’s basis in our shares will be reduced and, to the extent dividends exceed a shareholder’s basis, the shareholder may
recognize capital gain and be required to make tax payments. 

We depend on certain executive officers and trustees, and the loss of such persons may delay or hinder our ability to carry out our 
investment strategies. 

Our future success substantially depends on the active participation of James Wieland, one of our trustees, Kenneth Regan, our Chief 
Executive Officer and a trustee, Peter Winger, our Chief Financial Officer and Bradley J. Swenson, our President. Messrs. Wieland 
and Regan are also governors and owners of the Advisor; Mr. Winger is also the Chief Financial Officer of the Advisor; and Mr. 
Swenson is also the President and a governor of the Advisor. Messrs. Wieland and Regan have over 30 years of extensive experience 
each in the commercial real estate industry, and have been instrumental in setting our strategic direction, operating our business and 
arranging necessary financing, and through the Advisor, in locating desirable real estate investments and where serving as property 
manager, managing our properties. Mr. Winger is a Certified Management Accountant and has experience in operations and 
accounting in real estate. Losing the services of Messr. Wieland, Regan, Winger or Swenson could have a material adverse effect on 
our ability to successfully carry out our investment strategies and achieve our investment objectives. There can be no guarantee they 
will remain affiliated with us. 

Our systems may not be adequate to support our growth, and our failure to successfully oversee our portfolio of real estate 
investments could adversely affect our results of operation. 

There can be no assurance we will be able to adapt our management, administrative, accounting and operational systems, or hire and 
retain sufficient staff, to support any growth we may experience. Our failure to successfully oversee our current and future real estate 
investments or developments could have a material adverse effect on our results of operation and financial condition and our ability to 
pay dividends to our shareholders.

Risks Related to Our Status as a REIT and Related Federal Income Tax Matters 

If we fail to continue to qualify as a REIT, we would incur additional tax liabilities that would adversely affect our operations and 
our ability to make distributions and could result in a number of other negative consequences. 

Although our management believes we are organized, have operated, and will be able to continue to be organized and to operate in 
such a manner to qualify as a real estate investment trust (REIT), as that term is defined under the Internal Revenue Code, we may not 
have been organized, may not have operated, or may not be able to continue to be organized or to operate in a manner to have 
qualified or remain qualified as a REIT. Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex Internal 
Revenue Code provisions for which there are only limited judicial or administrative interpretations. Even a technical or inadvertent 
mistake could endanger our REIT status. 

The determination that we qualify as a REIT requires an ongoing analysis of various factual matters and circumstances, some of which 
may not be within our control, regarding our organization and ownership, distributions of our income and the nature and 
diversification of our income and assets. The fact we hold substantially all of our assets through our operating partnership and our 
ongoing reliance on factual determinations, such as determinations related to the valuation of our assets, further complicates the 
application of the REIT requirements for us. 

If we lose our REIT qualification, we will face income tax consequences that will reduce substantially our available cash for dividends 
and investments for each of the years involved because: 

• We would be subject to federal corporate income taxation on our taxable income, including any applicable alternative 
minimum tax, and could be subject to increased state and local taxes; 

• We would not be allowed a deduction for dividends paid to shareholders in computing our taxable income; and 
• Unless we are entitled to relief under applicable statutory provisions, we could not elect to be taxed as a REIT for four 

taxable years following the year during which we were disqualified. 
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The increased taxes could reduce the value of the shares as well as cash available for dividends to shareholders and investments in 
additional assets. In addition, if we fail to continue to qualify as a REIT, we will not be required to pay dividends to shareholders. Our 
failure to continue to qualify as a REIT also could impair our ability to expand our business and to raise capital. 

As a REIT, we may be subject to tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow. 

Even if we continue to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to federal and state taxes on our income 
or property, including the following: 

• To continue to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (which is 
determined without regard to the dividends-paid deduction or net capital gains) to our shareholders. If we satisfy the 
distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, we will be subject to corporate income 
tax on the undistributed income. In such situation, shareholders will be treated as having received the undistributed income 
and having paid the tax directly, but tax-exempt shareholders, such as charities or qualified pension plans, will receive no 
benefit from any deemed tax payments.

• We will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which the distributions we pay in any 
calendar year are less than the sum of 85% of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income, and 100% of our 
undistributed income from prior years. 

We may be forced to borrow funds on a short-term basis, to sell assets or to issue securities to meet the REIT minimum distribution 
requirement or for working capital purposes. 

To qualify as a REIT, in general, we must distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our net taxable income each year, excluding 
capital gains. However, we could be required to include earnings in our net taxable income before we actually receive the related cash. 
If we do not have sufficient cash to make the necessary dividends to preserve our REIT status for any year or to avoid taxation, we 
may need to borrow funds, to sell assets or to issue additional securities even if the then-prevailing market conditions are not favorable 
for such actions. 

To the extent dividends to our shareholders had been made in anticipation of qualifying as a REIT, we might be required to borrow 
funds, to sell assets or to issue additional securities to pay the applicable tax if we lose our REIT qualification and are subject to 
increased taxes. 

In addition, we will require a minimum amount of cash to fund our daily operations. Due to the REIT distribution requirements, we
may be forced to make distributions when we otherwise would use the cash to fund our working capital needs. Therefore, we may be 
forced to borrow funds, to sell assets or to issue additional securities at certain times for our working capital needs. 

If our operating partnership does not qualify as a partnership, its income may be subject to taxation, and we would no longer
qualify as a REIT. 

The Internal Revenue Code classifies “publicly traded partnerships” as associations taxable as corporations (rather than as 
partnerships), unless substantially all of their taxable income consists of specified types of passive income. We structured our 
operating partnership to be classified as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. However, no assurance can be given the IRS 
will not challenge our position or will classify our operating partnership as a “publicly traded partnership” for federal income tax 
purposes. To minimize this risk, we have placed certain restrictions on the transfer and/or redemption of partnership units in the
Agreement of Limited Liability Limited Partnership of our operating partnership (“LLLP Agreement”). If the IRS would assert 
successfully our operating partnership should be treated as a “publicly traded partnership” and substantially all of the operating 
partnership’s gross income did not consist of the specified types of passive income, the Internal Revenue Code would treat the 
operating partnership as an association taxable as a corporation. In such event, we would cease to qualify as a REIT. In addition, the 
imposition of a corporate tax on the operating partnership would reduce the amount of distributions the operating partnership could 
make to us and, in turn, reduce the amount of cash available to us to pay dividends to our shareholders. 

• If we have net income from the sale of foreclosure property we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course 
of business or other nonqualifying income from foreclosure property, we must pay a tax on that income at the highest 
corporate income tax rate. 

• If we sell a property, other than foreclosure property, we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of 
business, our gain will be subject to the 100% “prohibited transaction” tax. 

• We may be subject to state and local taxes on our income or property, either directly or indirectly, because of the taxation 
of our operating partnership or of other entities through which we indirectly own our assets. 
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To maintain qualification as a REIT, we have transfer restrictions on our shares that may limit offers to acquire substantial 
amounts of the trust’s shares at a premium. 

To qualify as a REIT, our shares must be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons and no more than 50% of the value of our issued
and outstanding shares may be owned directly or indirectly by five or fewer individuals. Currently, our Amended Declaration of Trust 
prohibits transfers of our shares that would result in (1) our shares being beneficially owned by fewer than 100 persons, (2) five or 
fewer individuals, including natural persons, private foundations, specified employee benefit plans and trusts, and charitable trusts, 
owning more than 50% of our shares, applying broad attribution rules imposed by the federal income tax laws, or (3) before our shares 
qualify as a class of publicly-offered securities, 25% or more of our shares being owned by ERISA investors. If a shareholder acquires 
shares in excess of the ownership limits or in violation of the restrictions on transfer, we: 

• May consider the transfer to be void ab initio. 

• May institute legal action to enjoin the transaction. 
• May redeem such excess shares. 
• Any excess shares shall be automatically transferred to a charitable trust for the benefit of a charitable beneficiary. 

If such excess shares are transferred to a trust for the benefit of a charitable beneficiary, the charitable trustee shall sell the excess 
shares and the shareholder will be paid the net proceeds from the sale equal to the lesser of: (1) the price paid by the shareholder or the 
“market price” of our shares if no value was paid or (2) the price per share received by the charitable trustee. 

If shares are acquired in violation of the ownership limits or the restrictions on transfer described above: 

• Transferee may lose its power to dispose of the shares; and 
• Transferee may incur a loss from the sale of such shares if the fair market price decreases. 

These limitations may have the effect of preventing a change of control or takeover of us by a third party, even if the change in control 
or takeover would be in the best interest of our shareholders. 

Complying with REIT requirements may restrict our ability to operate in a way to maximize profits. 

To qualify as a REIT, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, the sources of our income, the nature and 
diversification of our assets, the amounts we distribute to our shareholders, and the ownership of our common shares. For example, we 
may be required to pay dividends to our shareholders at disadvantageous times, including when we do not have readily available 
funds. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits. 

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to forego or liquidate otherwise attractive investments which could negatively 
impact shareholder value. 

To qualify as a REIT, at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of our assets must consist of cash, cash items, government 
securities and qualified real estate assets. The remainder of our investments in securities (other than government securities and 
qualified real estate assets), in general, cannot include more than 10% of the voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of 
the value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer. In addition, no more than 5% of the value of our assets (other than 
government securities and qualified real estate assets) can consist of the securities of any one issuer, and no more than 25% of the 
value of our assets may be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. Therefore, we may be required to 
liquidate otherwise attractive investments or may be forced to forego attractive investments to satisfy these requirements. Such action 
or inaction could be adverse to our shareholder interests. 

Gains from asset sales may be subject to a 100% prohibited transaction tax, which tax could reduce the trust’s available assets and 
reduce shareholder value. 

We may have to sell assets from time to time to satisfy our REIT distribution requirements and other REIT requirements or for other 
purposes. The IRS may posit one or more asset sales may be “prohibited transactions.” If we are deemed to have engaged in a 
“prohibited transaction,” our gain from such sale would be subject to a 100% tax. The Internal Revenue Code sets forth a safe harbor 
for REITs that wish to sell property without risking the imposition of the 100% tax, but we cannot assure you we will be able to 
qualify for the safe harbor. We will use reasonable efforts to avoid the 100% tax by (1) conducting activities that may otherwise be 
considered prohibited transaction through a taxable REIT subsidiary, (2) conducting our operations in such a manner so no sale or 
other disposition of an asset we own, directly or through any subsidiary other than a taxable REIT subsidiary, will be treated as a 
prohibited transaction or (3) structuring certain sales of our assets to comply with a safe harbor available under the Internal Revenue 
Code. We do not intend to hold assets in a manner to cause their dispositions to be treated as “prohibited transactions,” but we cannot 
assure you the IRS will not challenge our position, especially if we make frequent sales or sales of assets in which we have short 
holding periods. Payment of a 100% tax would adversely affect our results of operations. 

• May not reflect the transaction on our books. 
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Ordinary dividends payable by REITs generally are taxed at the higher ordinary income rate which could reduce the net cash 
received by shareholders as a result of an investment in the trust and may be detrimental to our ability to raise additional funds 
through the sale of our common shares. 

The maximum U.S. federal income tax rate for “qualified dividends” payable by U.S. corporations to individual U.S. shareholders 
currently is 20%. In general, ordinary dividends payable by REITs to its shareholders, however, are generally not eligible for the 
reduced rates and generally are taxed at ordinary income rates (the maximum individual income tax rate currently is 39.6%). This 
result could reduce the net cash received by shareholders as a result of an investment in the trust and could be detrimental to our 
ability to raise additional funds through the sale of our common shares. 

Changes in legislative or other actions affecting REITs may adversely affect our status as a REIT. 

The rules dealing with U.S. federal income taxation are constantly under review by the legislative process, the IRS and the U.S. 
Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may apply retroactively) could adversely affect us or our shareholders. 
Furthermore, new legislation, regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions could change the federal income tax laws 
with respect to our qualification as a REIT or the federal income tax consequences of our qualification. We cannot predict whether, 
when, in what forms, or with what effective dates, the laws applicable to us or our shareholders may be changed. 

Our Board of Trustees may revoke our REIT election without shareholder approval, and we would no longer be required to make 
distributions of our net income. 

Our Board of Trustees can revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election without the approval of our shareholders if our Board 
determines it is not in our best interest to continue to qualify as a REIT. In such case, we would become subject to U.S. federal income 
tax on our taxable income, and we no longer would be required to distribute most of our net income to our shareholders, which may 
reduce the total return to our shareholders and affect the value of the shares.

Risks Related to Tax-Exempt Investors 

Common shares may not be a suitable investment for tax-exempt investors. 

There are special considerations that apply to investing in common shares on behalf of a trust, pension, profit sharing or 401(k) plans, 
health or welfare plans, trusts, individual retirement accounts (IRAs), or Keogh plans. If you are investing the assets of any of the 
above in common shares, you should satisfy yourself: 

• Your investment is consistent with your fiduciary obligations under applicable law, including common law, ERISA and the 
Internal Revenue Code; 

• Your investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments that govern the trust, plan or IRA, including 
any investment policy; 

• Your investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404(a)(1)(B) and 404(a)(1)(C) of 
ERISA and other applicable provisions of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code; 

• Your investment will not impair the liquidity of the trust, plan or IRA; 
• Your investment will not produce “unrelated business taxable income” for the trust, plan or IRA; 
• You will be able to value the assets of the trust, plan or IRA annually in accordance with ERISA requirements and 

applicable provisions of the trust, plan or IRA; and 
• Your investment will not constitute a prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal 

Revenue Code. 

We have not evaluated, and will not evaluate, whether an investment in us is suitable for any particular trust, plan, or IRAs.

Under certain circumstances, tax-exempt shareholders may be subject to unrelated business taxable income, which could adversely 
affect such shareholders. 

Neither ordinary nor capital gain distributions with respect to our common shares nor gain from the sale of our common shares, in 
general, should constitute unrelated business taxable income to tax-exempt shareholders. The following, however, are some 
exceptions to this rule: 

• Under certain circumstances, part of the income and gain recognized by certain qualified employee pension trusts with 
respect to our common shares may be treated as unrelated business taxable income if our common shares are held 
predominately by qualified employee pension trusts (which we do not expect to be the case); 

• Part of the income and gain recognized by a tax-exempt shareholder with respect to common shares would constitute 
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unrelated business taxable income if the tax-exempt shareholder incurs debt to acquire the common shares; and  

 

•  Part or all of the income or gain recognized with respect to our common shares held by social clubs, voluntary employee 
benefit associations, supplemental unemployment benefit trusts and qualified group legal services plans that are exempt 
from federal income taxation under Sections 501(c)(7), (9), (17), or (20) of the Internal Revenue Code may be treated as 
unrelated business taxable income.  

Therefore, tax-exempt shareholders are not assured all dividends received from the trust will be tax-exempt.  

Risks Related to Our Relationship with the Advisor and Its Affiliates  

We depend on our Advisor for the successful operations of the REIT, and if required, we may not be able to find a suitable 
replacement advisor.  
Our ability to achieve our investment objectives is dependent upon the successful performance of our Advisor in locating attractive 
acquisitions, advising on dispositions of real estate properties and other real estate related assets, advising on any financing 
arrangements and other administrative tasks to operate our business. If the Advisor suffers or is distracted by adverse financial, 
operational problems in connection with its operations unrelated to us or for any reason, it may be unable to allocate a sufficient 
amount of time and resources to our operations. If this occurs, our ability to achieve our investment objectives or pay dividends to our 
shareholders may be adversely affected. Any adversity experienced by the Advisor or problems in our relationship with the Advisor 
could also adversely impact the operation of our properties and, consequently, our cash flow and ability to pay dividends to 
shareholders.  

Either we or the Advisor can terminate the Advisory Agreement upon 60 days written notice to the other party for any reason, or we 
can terminate the Advisory Agreement immediately for cause or material breach of the Advisory Agreement. In addition, the Board of 
Trustees may determine not to renew the Advisory Agreement in any year. If this occurs, we would need to find another advisor to 
provide us with day-to-day management services or engage employees to provide these services directly to us, which would likely be 
difficult to do and may be costly. There can be no assurances we would be able to find a suitable replacement advisor or suitable 
employees or enter into agreements for such services on acceptable terms.  

The termination or replacement of the Advisor could trigger a default or repayment event under financings.  
Lenders providing financing for our acquired properties may include provisions in the mortgage loan documentation that state the 
termination or replacement of the Advisor is an event of default or an event triggering acceleration of the repayment of the loan in full. 
Even though we will attempt to have such provisions excluded from the loan documents, the lenders may still require them to be 
included. In addition, the termination or replacement of the Advisor could trigger an event of default under any credit agreement 
governing a line of credit we may obtain in the future. If an event of default or repayment event occurs with respect to any of our 
properties, our ability to achieve our investment objectives could be materially adversely affected.  

The Advisor may not be able to retain its key employees, which could adversely affect our ability to carry out our investment 
strategies.  
We depend on the retention by the Advisor of its key officers, employees and governors. However, none of these individuals have an 
employment agreement with the Advisor. The loss of any or all of the services by the Advisor’s key officers, employees and 
governors and the Advisor’s inability to find, or any delay in finding, replacements with equivalent skills and experience, could 
adversely impact our ability to successfully carry out our investment strategies and achieve our investment objectives. 
 
Our future success also depends on the Advisor’s and its affiliates’ ability to identify, hire, train and retain highly qualified real estate, 
managerial, financial, marketing and technical personnel to provide the services to us pursuant to the Advisory Agreement and any 
other written services agreement, including any property management agreements. Competition for such personnel is intense, and the 
Advisor or its affiliates may not be able to attract, assimilate or retain such personnel in the future. The inability to attract and retain 
the necessary personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.  

Payment of fees and expenses to the Advisor reduces the cash available for dividends.  
The Advisor performs services for us in connection with the selection, acquisition and disposition of our investments; the management 
of our assets; and certain administrative services. We pay the Advisor an annual management fee, reimbursement for operating and 
acquisition expenses as well as acquisition, disposition, financing and development fees. Such fees and payments reduce the amount 
of cash available for further investments or dividends to our shareholders. Additionally, such fees increase the risk shareholders may 
receive a lower price when they resell their shares than the purchase price they initially paid for their shares.  
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We are subject to potential conflicts of interest arising out of our relationships with the trustees, Advisor and its affiliates. Conflicts of 
interest may arise among a trustee or the Advisor and its respective affiliates, on the one hand, and us and our shareholders, on the 
other hand. As a result of these conflicts, the trustee or Advisor may favor its own interests or the interests of its affiliates over the 
interest of our shareholders.  

Allocation of time and effort  
We rely on the personnel of the Advisor and its affiliates to manage our assets and daily operations. Two of our trustees are also 
governors and owners of the Advisor and the primary property manager of a number of our properties, and therefore have conflicts of 
interest in allocating their time, services and functions among us and other real estate programs or business ventures the Advisor or its 
affiliates organize or serve.  

Division of loyalty  
Several of our officers and/or trustees serve as officers, governors and owners of one or more entities affiliated with our Advisor or 
trustees, including property managers, tenants of our properties and brokerage companies. As a result, these individuals owe fiduciary 
duties to these other entities and their investors, which may conflict with the fiduciary duties that they owe to us and our shareholders. 
Their loyalties to these other entities and investors could result in action or inaction detrimental to our business, which could harm 
implementation of our business strategy and investment and leasing opportunities.  

Allocation of investment opportunities  
The Advisor and its affiliates are or may become committed to the continuing management of other business ventures. Accordingly, 
there may be conflicts of interest between our investments and other investments or business ventures in which the Advisor and its 
affiliates are participants. In addition, the Advisor and its officers will advise other investment programs that invest in commercial real 
estate properties and real estate related assets in which we may be interested. Therefore, the Advisor could face conflicts of interest in 
allocating and determining which programs will have the opportunity to acquire and participate in such investments as they become 
available. As a result, other investment programs advised by the Advisor may compete with us with respect to certain investments we 
may want to acquire.  

Investments owned by Advisor or its affiliates  
Our Advisor identifies and selects potential investments in real estate properties and other real estate related assets in which we may 
be interested. Such investments could include property owned by the Advisor or its affiliates.  

May profit even if investment is not profitable  
The Advisor receives acquisition, disposition, management, financing and development fees under the Advisory Agreement. The 
Advisor and its affiliates may also be appointed or utilized to provide other services to us and our assets and receive fees and 
compensation for providing such other services, such as property management fees and construction fees. Therefore, the Advisor and 
its affiliates may profit from real estate investments even where we lose all or a portion of our investment. In addition, the agreements 
and arrangements, including those relating to compensation, between us and the Advisor and its affiliates are not the result of arm’s-
length negotiations and their terms may not be as favorable to us as if they had been negotiated with an unaffiliated third party.  

 
Fees received by the parties  

The Advisor is paid an annual management fee for its services based on total assets as reflected on our consolidated financial 
statements. The Advisor may benefit by us retaining ownership of certain investments at times when our shareholders may be better 
served by the sale or disposition of such investments in order to avoid a reduction in the total assets and correspondingly to the 
Advisor’s annual management fee. In addition, the Advisor may recommend we purchase investments that increase the total assets and 
correspondingly the Advisor’s annual management fee but that is not necessarily the most suitable investments for our portfolio. 
Further, the book value of the assets may include property-related debt, which could influence the amount of leverage obtained on real 
estate investments and other real estate related investments.  

Our Advisor and its affiliates (including some of our trustees) may also be entitled to additional fees for providing other services, 
including property management and assistance with investment acquisition and disposition. These fees could influence our Advisor’s 
advice to us as well as the judgment of their affiliates and our trustees performing services for us. These compensation arrangements 
could affect their judgment with respect to:  
  

 

There are conflicts of interest in our relationship with the Advisor and its affiliates and several trustees, which could adversely 
affect our operations and business operations.  
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properties and possibly entitling trustees to brokerage commissions;  

 
•  property sales, which entitle our Advisor to disposition fees and possibly trustees to receive brokerage commissions;  

 
•  property acquisitions, which entitle our Advisor to acquisition, financing and development fees, possibly entitles affiliates 

to property management fees on new properties and possibly entitles trustees to receive brokerage commissions; and  

 

•  borrowings to acquire properties, which may increase the acquisition, financing and management fees payable to our 
Advisor, possibly entitles affiliates to property management fees on new properties and possibly entitles trustees to receive 
brokerage commissions.  

Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate  

Our performance could be adversely affected by the general risks involved in real estate investments.  
Our results of operation and financial condition, the value of our real estate assets, and the value of an investment in us are subject to 
the risks normally associated with the ownership and operation of real estate properties, including, among others:  
 

 
•  Fluctuations in occupancy rates, rent schedules and operating expenses, which can render the sale or refinancing of a real 

estate investment difficult or unattractive;  

 
•  The validity and enforceability of leases, financial resources of the tenants, tenant bankruptcies, rent levels and sales levels 

in the local areas of the investments;  

 
•  Perceptions of the safety, convenience and attractiveness of our properties and the neighborhoods where they are located;  

 
•  Ability to provide adequate management, maintenance and insurance on our properties;  

 
•  Adverse changes in local population trends, market conditions, neighborhood values, local economic and social conditions;  

 
•  Supply and demand for properties such as our real estate investments, competition from properties that could be used in the 

same manner as our real estate investments;  

 
•  Changes in interest rates and availability of permanent mortgage funds;  

 
•  Changes in real estate tax rates and other taxes;  

 
•  Changes in governmental rules, regulations and fiscal policies, including the effects of inflation and enactment of 

unfavorable real estate, rent control, environmental or zoning laws; and  

 

All of these factors are beyond our control. Any negative changes in these factors could affect our ability to meet our obligations, pay 
dividends to shareholders or achieve our investment objectives.  

Market disruptions may significantly and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.  
Our results of operations may be sensitive to changes in overall economic conditions impacting tenant leasing practices, such as 
increased unemployment, weakening of tenant financial condition, large-scale business failures and tight credit markets. Adverse 
economic conditions affecting tenant income, such as employment levels, business conditions, interest rates, tax rates, fuel and energy 
costs and other matters, could reduce overall tenant leasing or cause tenants to shift their leasing practices. In addition, periods of 
economic slowdown or recession, rising interest rates or declining demand for real estate, or the public perception any of these events 
may occur, could result in a general decline in rents or an increased incidence of defaults under existing leases. A general reduction in 
the level of tenant leasing could adversely affect our ability to maintain our current occupancy rates and gain new tenants, affecting 
our growth and profitability. Accordingly, difficult financial and macroeconomic conditions could have a significant adverse effect on 
our cash flows, profitability and results of operations.  

Lack of geographic diversity of our real estate investments could adversely affect our operating results if economic changes impact 
those real estate markets.  
Geographic concentration of our properties may expose us to economic downturns in those areas where our properties are located. A 
recession in any area where we own several properties or interests in properties could adversely affect our ability to generate or 
increase operating revenues, locate and retain financially sound tenants or dispose of unproductive properties. In addition, it could 
have an adverse impact on our tenant’s revenues, costs and results of operations and may adversely affect their ability to meet their 
obligations to us. Likewise, we may be required to lower our rental rates to attract desirable tenants in such an environment. Currently, 
the majority of our properties are located in North Dakota, and we hold several properties in Fargo, North Dakota.  To the extent weak 
economic or real estate conditions affect North Dakota or other markets in which we own properties more severely than other areas of 
the country, our financial performance could be negatively impacted.  

 

 

 
•  Hazardous material laws, uninsured losses and other risks.  

•  the continuation, renewal or enforcement of our agreements with our Advisor and its affiliates, including the Advisory 
Agreement and any property management agreement;  

•  offerings of equity by us, which may result in property acquisitions entitling our Advisor to increased acquisition, 
management, financing and development fees, possibly entitling its affiliates to property management fees for new 
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We face numerous risks associated with property acquisitions which could adversely affect our operating results. 

Through our operating partnership, we acquire properties and portfolios of properties. Our acquisition activities and their success are 
subject to the following risks typically encountered in real estate acquisitions: 

• We may be unable, or decide it is not in our interests, to complete an acquisition after making a non-refundable deposit and 
incurring certain other acquisition-related costs or purchasing an option to purchase; 

• We may be unable to obtain financing for acquisitions on favorable terms or at all; 
• Acquired properties may fail to perform as expected; 
• The actual costs of repositioning or redeveloping acquired properties may be greater than our estimates; 
• Acquired properties may be located in new markets in which we may face risks associated with a lack of market knowledge 

or understanding of the local economy, lack of business relationships in the area and unfamiliarity with local governmental 
and permitting procedures; and 

• We may be unable to quickly and efficiently integrate new acquisitions, particularly acquisitions of portfolios of properties,
into our existing operations. 

These risks could have an adverse effect on our results of operation, our financial condition and the amount available for payment of 
dividends to our shareholders. 

We may invest in undeveloped real property, which requires us to pay expenses prior to receiving any income on the property. 

We have the discretion to invest up to 10% of our total assets in undeveloped property. If we invest in undeveloped property, such 
property will not generate operating revenue while costs are incurred to develop the property and may generate other expenses 
including property taxes and insurance. In addition, construction may not be completed within budget or as scheduled and projected 
rental levels may not be achieved. In addition to the risks of real estate investments in general, an investment in undeveloped property 
is subject to additional risks, including the expense and delay which may be associated with rezoning the land for a higher use and the 
development and environmental concerns of governmental entities and/or community groups. Therefore, we will not generate income 
on such property until development is completed and we begin leasing the property. 

We may acquire multiple properties in a single transaction, which may adversely affect our operations through the inclusion of 
less desirable investments or financing requirements greater than we would otherwise be willing to incur. 

Periodically, we may acquire multiple properties in a single transaction. Portfolio acquisitions are more complex and expensive than 
single property acquisitions, and the risk a multiple property acquisition does not close may be greater than in a single property 
acquisition. Portfolio acquisitions may also result in us owning investments in geographically dispersed markets, placing additional 
demands on our ability to manage the properties in the portfolio. In addition, a seller may require a group of properties be purchased 
as a package even though we may not want to purchase one or more properties in the portfolio. In these situations, if we are unable to 
identify another person or entity to acquire the unwanted properties, we may be required to operate or attempt to dispose of these 
properties. To acquire multiple properties in a single transaction we may be required to accumulate a large amount of cash. We would 
expect the returns we can earn on such cash to be less than the ultimate returns in real property and therefore, accumulating such cash 
could reduce the funds available for dividends. Any of the foregoing events may increase the risk of adverse business results and 
negatively affect our results of operations. 

We may invest in co-ventures, where our co-venture partners, co-tenants or other partners in co-ownership arrangements could 
take actions that decrease the value of a real estate investment and lower our overall return. 

We may enter into joint ventures, tenant-in-common investments or other co-ownership arrangements with our Advisor, its affiliates, 
our trustees, or third parties having investment objectives similar to ours in the acquisition of real estate investments. In such 
arrangements, we may be acquiring non-controlling interests in or sharing responsibility for managing the affairs of the joint venture. 
In such event, we would not be in a position to exercise sole decision-making authority regarding the joint venture. Investments in 
joint ventures may, under certain circumstances, involve risks not present where another party is not involved, including the 
possibility partners or co-venturers might become bankrupt or fail to fund their required capital contributions. Co-venturers may have 
economic or other business interests or goals which are inconsistent with our business interests or goals, and may be in a position to 
take actions contrary to our policies or objectives. Such investments may also have the potential risk of impasses on decisions, such as 
a sale, because neither we nor the co-venturer would have full control over the joint venture. Disputes between us and co-venturers 
may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses and prevent our management and the Advisor from focusing 
their time and effort on our business. Consequently, actions by or disputes with co-venturers might result in subjecting properties 
owned by the joint venture to additional risk. In addition, we may in certain circumstances be liable for the actions of our co-venturers. 
Any of these risks could subject us to liabilities in excess of those contemplated and reduce our returns on that investment. 
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We could experience difficulties or delays renewing leases or re-leasing space, which will increase our costs to maintain such 
properties without receiving income. 

We derive a significant portion of our net income from rent received from our tenants. Our properties include both residential as well 
as commercial properties. If a tenant experiences a downturn in its business or other types of financial distress, it may be unable to 
make timely rental payments. If a significant number of tenants default on lease payments to us, it would cause us to lose the revenue 
associated with such leases and require us to find alternative sources of revenue to meet mortgage payments and prevent a foreclosure 
if the property is subject to a mortgage. If lease defaults occur, we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as landlord. Also, if 
our tenants decide not to renew their leases, terminate early or default on their lease, we may not be able to re-let the space or may 
experience delays in finding suitable replacement tenants. Even if tenants decide to renew or lease new space, the terms of renewals or 
new leases, including the cost of required renovations or concessions to tenants, may be less favorable to us than current lease terms. 
As a result, our net income and ability to pay dividends to shareholders could be materially adversely affected. Further, if one of our 
properties cannot be leased on terms and conditions favorable to us, the property may not be marketable at a suitable price without 
substantial capital improvements, alterations, or at all. 

We could face potential adverse effects if a commercial tenant is unable to make timely rental payments, declares bankruptcy or 
become insolvent. 

If a tenant experiences a downturn in its business or other types of financial distress, it may be unable to make timely rental payments. 
Delayed rental payments could adversely affect cash flow available for dividends. If a commercial tenant declares bankruptcy or 
becomes insolvent, it may adversely affect the income produced by our properties. If a tenant defaults, we may experience delays and 
incur substantial costs in enforcing our rights as landlord. However, if a tenant files for bankruptcy, we cannot evict the tenant solely 
because of such bankruptcy. If a court authorizes the commercial tenant to reject and terminate its lease with us, our claim against the 
tenant for unpaid future rent would be subject to a statutory cap that might be substantially less than the remaining rent actually owed 
under the lease. In addition, it is unlikely a bankrupt tenant would pay in full amounts it owes us under a lease. Additionally, we may 
be required to incur additional costs in the form of tenant improvements and leasing commissions in our efforts to lease the space to a 
new tenant, as well as lower our rental rates to reflect any decline in market rents. This shortfall could adversely affect our cash flow 
and results of operations. 

If our reserves for making capital improvements on our real estate investments are insufficient, we may be required to defer 
necessary capital improvements which could negatively affect our revenues. 

We establish capital reserves on a property-by-property basis, as we deem appropriate. If we do not have enough reserves to cover the 
costs of capital improvements throughout the life of the real estate property and there is insufficient cash available from our 
operations, we may have to borrow funds or defer necessary improvements to the property. If we delay or do not make necessary 
capital improvements when needed, there are risks the property may decline in value and may result in fewer tenants maintaining or 
renewing their leases and attracting new tenants to the property. If this happens, we may not be able to maintain projected rental rates 
for affected properties, and our results of operations may be negatively impacted. 

Properties will face significant competition for tenants, which could limit our profitability. 

We face significant competition from owners, operators and developers of similar real estate properties designed and dedicated to 
serve tenants with the same needs as the tenants that occupy or could occupy our properties in the same market. These competitors 
may have greater resources than we do, and may have other advantages resulting from lower cost of capital and enhanced operating 
efficiencies. This competition may affect our ability to attract and retain tenants and may reduce the rents we are able to charge. These 
competing properties may have vacancy rates higher than our properties, which may result in their owners being willing to lease 
available space at lower prices than the space in our properties. Due to such competition, the terms and conditions of any lease we 
enter into with our tenants may vary substantially from those we anticipate when we acquire a property. Our properties experience 
competition from existing and planned projects, as well as newer developments located within the market area. We cannot assure 
competitors will not develop similar properties in the area or not be able to negotiate better leases for existing or new properties which 
will adversely affect the profitability and viability of our properties. 

Increased affordability of single-family homes could limit our ability to retain residents, lease apartment units or increase or 
maintain rents. 

The residential properties we own or may acquire can compete with numerous housing alternatives in attracting residents, including 
other apartment communities and single-family homes, as well as owner occupied single- and multi-family homes available to rent. 
Competitive housing in a particular area and the increasing affordability of owner occupied single- and multi-family homes available 
to rent or buy caused by declining mortgage interest rates and government programs to promote home ownership could adversely 
affect our ability to retain our residents, lease apartment units and increase or maintain rental rates. 
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Investments in real estate are illiquid, and we may not be able to resell a property on terms favorable to us. 

We intend to hold real estate properties until such time as our Advisor determines a sale or other disposition appears to be 
advantageous to achieve our investment objectives or when our shareholders approve our termination and liquidation. Because real 
estate investments are relatively illiquid, it could be difficult for us to promptly sell one or more of our real estate properties on 
favorable terms. This may be a result of economic conditions, availability of financing, interest rates and other factors beyond our 
control. This may limit our ability to change our portfolio promptly in response to adverse changes in the performance of any such 
property or economic or market trends. We cannot predict the length of time needed to find a willing purchaser and to close the sale of 
a property. Real estate investments by their nature are often difficult or time consuming to liquidate. In addition, federal tax laws 
imposing a 100% excise tax on gains from sales of certain types of property sales by a REIT (generally, property viewed as being 
purchased for resale, rather than investment) could limit our ability to sell properties and may affect our ability to sell properties 
without adversely affecting returns to our shareholders. These restrictions could adversely affect our ability to achieve our investment 
objectives. 

Valuations and appraisals of our investments may not necessarily correspond to realizable value. 

We value our real estate properties initially at cost, which we expect to represent fair value at that time. After acquisition, valuations 
may include appraisals of our properties periodically. The valuation methodologies used to value our real estate properties will involve 
subjective judgments regarding such factors as comparable sales, rental and operating expense data, the capitalization and/or discount 
rate and projections of future rent and expenses based on appropriate analysis. Our investments in real estate related assets will
initially be valued at cost, and thereafter will be valued periodically, or in the case of liquid securities, daily, as applicable, at fair value 
as determined by the Advisor in good faith. Although our valuation procedures are designed to determine the accurate fair value of our 
assets, appraisals and valuations of our real estate properties and valuations of our investments in real estate related assets will be only 
estimates of fair value and therefore may not correspond to realizable value upon a sale of those assets. 

Uninsured losses related to real estate investments may adversely affect our results of operation. 

We purchase, and we may be required by lenders of mortgage loans or other financings to obtain, certain insurance coverage on our 
real estate investments. Either the property manager or the Advisor selects policy specifications and insured limits which it believes to
be appropriate and adequate given the risk of loss, the cost of the coverage and industry practice. The nature of the tenants at the 
properties we hold, such as senior living facilities, may expose us and our operations to an increase in liability for personal injuries or 
other losses. There can be no assurance that such insurance will be sufficient to cover all liabilities. Some of our policies may be 
subject to limitations involving large deductibles or co-payments and policy limits which may not be sufficient to cover losses. 
Furthermore, insurance against certain risks, such as terrorism, flood and toxic mold, may be unavailable or available at commercially 
unreasonable rates or in amounts less than the full market value or replacement cost of the properties. There can be no assurance 
particular risks are currently insurable, will continue to be insurable on an economical basis or current levels of coverage will continue 
to be available. If a loss occurs that is partially or completely uninsured, we may lose all or part of our investment in a property as well 
as the anticipated future cash flows from such properties. In addition, if the damaged properties are subject to recourse indebtedness, 
we would continue to be liable for the indebtedness, even if these properties were irreparably damaged. We may also be liable for any 
uninsured or underinsured personal injury, death or property damage claims, which could result in decreased dividends to 
shareholders. 

Discovery of toxic mold on our properties may adversely affect our results of operation. 

Litigation and concern about indoor exposure to certain types of toxic molds have been increasing as the public becomes aware
exposure to mold can cause a variety of health effects and symptoms, including allergic reactions. Toxic molds can be found almost 
anywhere; they can grow on virtually any organic substance, as long as moisture and oxygen are present. There are molds that can 
grow on wood, paper, carpet, foods and insulation. When excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials, mold 
growth will often occur, particularly if the moisture problem remains undiscovered or unaddressed. It is impossible to eliminate all 
mold and mold spores in the indoor environment. The difficulty in discovering indoor toxic mold growth could lead to a risk of 
lawsuits by affected persons and the risk the cost to remedy toxic mold will exceed the value of the property. We will attempt to 
acquire properties where there is no toxic mold or where there has not been any proceeding or litigation with respect to the presence of 
toxic mold. However, we cannot provide assurances toxic mold will not exist on any of our properties when we acquire the properties 
or will not subsequently develop on any of our properties. 

We may acquire a property or properties “AS IS,” which increases the risk of an investment that requires us to remedy defects or
costs without recourse to the prior owner. 

We may acquire real estate properties “as is” with only limited representations and warranties from the property seller regarding 
matters affecting the condition, use and ownership of the property. As a result, if defects in the property (including any building on the 
property) or other matters adversely affecting the property are discovered, we may not be able to pursue a claim for any or all damage 
against the property seller. Such a situation could negatively affect our results of operations. 
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We may engage in leaseback transactions, which involve risks including a failure to qualify as a REIT. 

In the future, we may purchase real estate properties and lease them back to the sellers of such properties. While we will use our best 
efforts to structure any such leaseback transactions to be characterized as a “true lease” so we will be treated as the owner of the 
property for federal income tax purposes, we cannot assure you the IRS will not challenge such characterization. If any such 
recharacterization were successful, deductions for depreciation and cost recovery relating to such real property would be disallowed, 
interest and penalties could be assessed by the IRS and it is possible, under some circumstances, we could fail to qualify as a REIT as 
a result. 

We rely on affiliated and outside property managers to properly manage and lease our properties. 

The Advisor and an affiliate of the Advisor serve as our main property managers, and the Advisor has hired and intends to hire other 
affiliates and/or third parties to serve as additional property managers, to manage our properties and act as leasing agents to lease 
vacancies in our real estate properties. These property managers will have significant decision-making authority with respect to the 
management of our properties. Our ability to direct and control how our properties are managed may be limited. We will not, and the 
Advisor will not as to its affiliates and third party property managers, supervise any of the property managers or any of their respective 
personnel on a day-to-day basis. Thus, the success of our business may depend in large part on the ability of our property managers to 
manage the day-to-day operations and their ability to lease vacancies in our properties. Any adversity experienced by our property 
managers could adversely impact the operation and profitability of our properties and, consequently, our ability to achieve our 
investment objectives. 

Risks Related with Our Indebtedness and Financing 

Current market conditions could adversely affect our ability to obtain financing. 

As a REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our taxable income (excluding net capital gains) to our shareholders in each 
taxable year, and thus our ability to retain internally generated cash is limited. Accordingly, our ability to acquire properties or to 
make capital improvements to or remodel properties will depend on our ability to obtain debt or equity financing from third parties or 
the sellers of properties or to sell other properties. We have incurred mortgage debt and pledged some or all of our properties as 
security for debt in order to obtain funds to acquire additional properties or for working capital. We have also obtained a line of credit 
to provide a flexible borrowing source of funds. 

Market fluctuations and disruptions in the credit markets could significantly affect our ability to access capital. Reductions in our 
available borrowing capacity, or inability to establish a credit facility when required or when business conditions warrant, could then 
limit the number, size and quality of properties we could acquire or the amount of improvements we could make on acquired 
properties, which could materially affect our ability to achieve our investment objectives and may result in price or value decreases of 
our real estate assets. 

We will incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings, which will increase our business risks. 

We have obtained mortgage loans on many of our properties so we can use our capital to acquire additional real estate properties and 
make improvements on the properties. However, we may not incur indebtedness of more than 300% of our net assets, unless such 
excess is approved by a majority of our trustees. High debt levels will cause us to incur higher interest charges, which would result in 
higher debt service payments and could be accompanied by restrictive covenants. If there is a shortfall between the cash flow from a 
property and the cash flow needed to service mortgage debt on that property, then the amount available for dividends to shareholders
may be reduced. In addition, incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness secured by a property 
may result in lenders initiating foreclosure actions. In that case, we could lose the property securing the loan in default, thus reducing 
the value of our shareholders’ investment. For tax purposes, a foreclosure on any of our properties will be treated as: (1) if the 
foreclosed debt is nonrecourse, a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the 
mortgage or (2) if the foreclosed debt is recourse, a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to its fair market value and as 
cancellation of debt income to the extent, if any, the outstanding debt balance exceeds the fair market value. If the outstanding balance 
of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property, we will recognize taxable income on foreclosure, but we 
would not receive any cash proceeds. We may give full or partial guarantees to lenders of mortgage debt on behalf of our operating 
partnership, whereby we will be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the debt if it is not paid by our operating partnership. If 
any mortgage contains cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions, a default on a single property could affect multiple 
properties. If any of our properties are foreclosed upon due to a default, our ability to pay cash dividends to our shareholders will be 
adversely affected. 

We could face difficulties in refinancing loans involving balloon payment obligations. 

Some of our mortgage loans require us to make a lump-sum or “balloon” payment at maturity. Our ability to make a balloon payment 
at maturity could be uncertain and may depend upon our ability to obtain additional financing, to refinance the debt or our ability to 
sell the particular property. If we try and refinance the debt, we may not be able to obtain terms as favorable as the original loan. 
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Based on historical interest rates, current interest rates are low and, as a result, it is likely the interest rate that will be obtained upon
refinancing in subsequent years may be higher than the original loan. If we are not able to refinance the debt, or obtain acceptable 
terms, we may be required to sell the mortgaged property at a time which may not permit realization of the maximum return on such 
property. The effect of a refinancing or sale could affect the rate of return to shareholders and the projected time of disposition of our 
assets. 

Lenders may require restrictive covenants relating to our operations, which may adversely affect our flexibility and our ability to 
achieve our investment objectives. 

Some of our mortgage loans impose restrictions on us that affect our distribution and operating policies, our ability to incur additional 
debt and our ability to resell interests in the property. Loan documents may contain covenants that limit our ability to further mortgage 
the property, discontinue insurance coverage, replace the Advisor or the property manager, or terminate certain operating or lease 
agreements related to the property. Such restrictions may limit our ability to achieve our investment objectives. 

Increases in interest rates on variable rate debt incurred by us will reduce cash available for dividends. 

If we incur variable rate debt, increases in interest rates would increase our interest costs, which would reduce our cash flows and our 
ability to pay dividends to our shareholders. In addition, if we need to repay existing debt during periods of rising interest rates, we 
could be required to liquidate one or more of our investments in properties at times which may not permit realization of the maximum 
return on such investments. 

Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may adversely affect our results of operations. 

We have entered into two hedging transactions and may enter into additional such transactions. Hedging transactions could take a 
variety of forms, including interest rate swaps or cap agreements, options, futures contracts, forward rate agreements, or similar 
financial instruments. Any income from a hedging transaction to manage risk of interest rate, price changes, or currency fluctuations 
with respect to borrowings made or to be made, or ordinary obligations incurred or to be incurred by us to acquire or own real estate 
assets, which is clearly identified as such before the close of the day on which it was acquired, originated, or entered into, including 
gain from the disposition of such a transaction, will be disregarded for purposes of the 75% and the 95% gross income tests. If 
applicable, there also are rules for disregarding income for purposes of the 75% and the 95% gross income tests with respect to hedges 
of certain foreign currency risks. To the extent we enter into other types of hedging transactions, the income from those transactions
likely will be treated as nonqualifying income for purposes of both the 75% and the 95% gross income tests. We intend to structure
any hedging transactions in a manner that does not jeopardize our ability to qualify as a REIT. 

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge liabilities through tax-efficient means. 

The REIT provisions of the Code substantially limit our ability to hedge liabilities. Because we conduct substantially all of our 
operations through our operating partnership, any income from a hedging transaction entered into to manage risk of interest rate
changes with respect to borrowings made or to be made to acquire or carry real estate assets will not constitute gross income to us for 
purposes of the 75% or 95% gross income test. To the extent our operating partnership enters into other types of hedging transactions, 
the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as nonqualifying income to us for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross 
income tests. As a result, we may be required to limit the operating partnership’s use of advantageous hedging techniques or to 
implement hedges through certain taxable corporations. This could increase the costs of hedging activities because any taxable 
corporation would be subject to tax on gains or expose the operating partnership to greater risks associated with changes in interest 
rates than is otherwise desirable. In addition, losses of a taxable corporation will generally not be deductible by the operating 
partnership and will generally only be available to offset future taxable income of such corporation. 

We may structure acquisitions of property in exchange for limited partnership units in our operating partnership on terms that 
could limit our liquidity or our flexibility. 

We may acquire properties by issuing limited partnership units in our operating partnership to contributors of property. If we enter 
into such transactions, in order to induce the property owners to accept limited partnership units rather than cash, it may be necessary 
for us to provide them with additional incentives. For instance, our operating partnership’s LLLP Agreement provides any holder of 
limited partnership units may, subject to certain conditions, request redemption of their units and we may purchase such units with our 
shares on a one-for-one exchange basis. 

We may, however, enter into additional contractual arrangements with contributors of property under which we would agree to 
redeem a contributor’s units for our shares or cash, at the option of the contributor, at set times. If the contributor required us to 
redeem units for cash pursuant to such a provision, it would limit our liquidity and thus our ability to use cash to make other 
investments, satisfy other obligations or pay dividends. Moreover, if we were required to redeem units for cash at a time when we did 
not have sufficient cash to fund the redemption, we might be required to sell one or more properties to raise funds to satisfy this 
obligation or seek short-term financing. Furthermore, in order to allow a contributor of a property to defer taxable gain on the 
contribution of property to our operating partnership, we might agree not to sell a contributed property for a defined period of time or 
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until the contributor exchanged the contributor’s units for cash or our shares. Such an agreement would prevent us from selling those 
properties, even if market conditions made such a sale favorable to us. 

Risks Related to Our Structure 

There are limitations on ownership of our common shares of beneficial interest, which could discourage a takeover transaction
even if it is beneficial to our shareholders. 

Our Amended Declaration of Trust provides no person may own more than 9.9% of our outstanding common shares of beneficial 
interest. Even if a shareholder did not acquire more than 9.9% of our shares, the shareholder may become subject to such restrictions if 
redemptions by other shareholders cause the holdings to exceed 9.9% of our outstanding shares. This limitation may have the effect of 
delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, 
tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might provide a premium price for our shareholders, even if it would be 
in the best interest of our shareholders. The ownership limits and restrictions on transferability will continue to apply until our Board 
of Trustees determines it is no longer in our best interest to continue to qualify or seek to qualify as a REIT. 

Our shareholders may experience dilution if we or our operating partnership issues additional securities. 

Our shareholders do not have preemptive rights to any shares issued by us in the future. If we sell additional shares in the future to 
raise capital, issue additional shares pursuant to a dividend reinvestment plan or issue shares in exchange for limited partnership units 
pursuant to our exchange rights under the LLLP Agreement of our operating partnership, our shareholders will experience dilution of 
their equity investment in us. In addition, if our operating partnership sells additional securities or issues additional securities in 
connection with a property acquisition transaction, we would, and indirectly our shareholders would, experience dilution in its equity 
position in the operating partnership. 

Our shareholders have limited control over our operation, and the Board of Trustees has the sole power to appoint and terminate 
the Advisor. 

Our Board of Trustees has the sole authority to determine our major policies, including our policies regarding financing, growth, 
investment strategies, debt capitalization, REIT qualification, distribution, and to take certain actions including acquiring or disposing 
of real estate and real estate related investments, dividend declaration and the election or removal of the Advisor. Our shareholders do 
not have the right to remove the Advisor, but have the right to elect and remove trustees. Under the Amended Declaration of Trust, our 
trustees may not do the following without the approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding common shares of beneficial 
interest: 

• Amend the Amended Declaration of Trust, except for amendments which do not adversely affect the rights, preference and 
privileges of shareholders; 

• Sell all or substantially all of our assets other than in the ordinary course of business or in connection with a liquidation and 
dissolution; 

In addition, the shareholders have the right, without the concurrence of the Board of Trustees, to terminate the trust and liquidate our 
assets or amend the Amended Declaration of Trust. 

Shareholders have no role in determining our investments and must rely on our Advisor and oversight by the Board of Trustees. 

For future acquisitions identified by our Advisor, the Board of Trustees has the authority to approve such investment acquisitions 
without shareholder approval. Therefore, shareholders will not be able to evaluate the terms of future investment acquisitions, their 
economic merit or other relevant financial data before we acquire such investments. The shareholders must rely entirely on the
oversight of our Board of Trustees, the management ability of our Advisor and the performance of the property managers. 

We may issue common shares of beneficial interest with more favorable terms than the outstanding shares without shareholder 
approval. 

Under our Amended Declaration of Trust, our Board of Trustees has the authority to establish more than one class or series of shares 
and to fix the relative preferences and rights regarding conversion, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends and other 
distributions, and terms or conditions of redemption of such different classes or series without shareholder approval. Thus, our Board 
could authorize the issuance of a class or series of shares with terms and conditions that could have priority as to dividends and 

• Dissolve or liquidate us. 

• Conduct a merger or other reorganization of the trust; or 
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amounts payable upon liquidation over the rights of the holders of our outstanding common shares of beneficial interest. Such class or 
series of shares could also have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us, including an extraordinary 
transaction (such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might otherwise provide a premium price 
to holders of our shares, even if it would be in the best interest of our shareholders. 

Shareholders could incur current tax liability on dividends they elect to reinvest in our shares, and may have to use separate funds 
to pay their tax liability 

Shareholders that participate in our dividend reinvestment plan will be deemed to have received, and for income tax purposes will be 
taxed on, the amount reinvested in shares to the extent the amount reinvested was not a tax-free return of capital. In addition, our 
shareholders will be treated for tax purposes as having received an additional dividend to the extent the shares are purchased at a 
discount to fair market value. As a result, unless shareholders are a tax-exempt entity, they may have to use funds from other sources 
to pay their tax liability on the value of the shares received. 

Our trustees, officers, Advisor and its affiliates have limited liability to us and our shareholders, and may have the right to be 
indemnified under certain conditions. 

Our Amended Declaration of Trust provides that our trustees, officers, Advisor and its affiliates will not be held liable for any loss or 
liability suffered by us if: (1) the trustee, officer, Advisor or its affiliate determines in good faith its actions or inactions were in our 
best interest, (2) such actions were taken on behalf of us and (3) such liability or loss was not the result of: (a) negligence or 
misconduct by a trustee (other than an independent trustee), the Advisor or its affiliate or (b) gross negligence or willful misconduct 
by an independent trustee. Moreover, we are required to indemnify our trustees, officers, the Advisor and its affiliates, subject to 
limitations stated in the Amended Declaration of Trust. As a result, we and our shareholders have limited rights against our trustees, 
officers, the Advisor and its affiliates, which could reduce our and our shareholders’ recovery from these persons. In addition, we may 
be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by such parties in some cases, which would decrease the cash otherwise available for 
dividends to our shareholders. 

There may be conflicts of interest between us and our shareholders on one side and our operating partnership and its limited 
partners on the other side. 

Our trustees and officers have duties to us and our shareholders in connection with their management of us. At the same time, we, as 
general partner will have fiduciary duties to our operating partnership and its limited partners in connection with the management of
the operating partnership. Our duties as general partner of the operating partnership may come into conflict with the duties of our 
trustees and officers to us and our shareholders. The LLLP Agreement of our operating partnership expressly limits our liability for 
monetary damages by providing we will not be liable for losses sustained, liabilities incurred or benefits not derived if we acted in 
good faith. In addition, our operating partnership is required to indemnify us and our trustees and officers from and against any and all
claims arising from operations of our operating partnership, unless it is established: (1) the act or omission was material and 
committed in bad faith or was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty; (2) the indemnified party received an improper personal 
benefit in money, property or services; or (3) in the case of a criminal proceeding, the indemnified person had reasonable cause to 
believe the act or omission was unlawful. The LLLP Agreement also provides that we will not be held responsible for any misconduct 
or negligence on the part of any agent appointed by us in good faith. 

If we are deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act, our shareholders’ investment return may be 
reduced. 

We are not registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (“Investment Company 
Act”) based on exceptions we believe are available to us. If we were obligated to register as an investment company, we would have 
to comply with a variety of substantive requirements under the Investment Company Act.  Registration as an investment company 
would be costly, would subject us to a host of complex regulations, and would divert the attention of management from the conduct of 
our business. If the SEC or a court of competent jurisdiction were to find we are required, but in violation of the Investment Company 
Act had failed, to register as an investment company, possible consequences include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) the SEC 
could apply to a district court to enjoin the violation; (ii) our shareholders could sue us and recover any damages caused by the 
violation; (iii) any contract to which we are party made in, or whose performance involves a, violation of the Investment Company 
Act would be unenforceable by any party to the contract unless a court were to find that under the circumstances enforcement would 
produce a more equitable result than non-enforcement and would not be inconsistent with the purposes of the Investment Company 
Act; and (iv) criminal and civil actions could be brought against us. Should we be subjected to any or all of the foregoing, we would 
be materially and adversely affected. 

There is no public trading market for our shares, nor do we expect one to develop, which may negatively impact a shareholders
ability to sell their shares and the price at which shares may be sold. 

There is no public market for the shares. In addition, the price shareholders may receive for the sale of their shares is likely to be less 
than the proportionate value of our investments. If our shareholders are able to find a buyer for their shares, they may have to sell them 
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at a substantial discount from the price they purchased the shares. Consequently, shareholders may not be able to liquidate their 
investments in the event of emergency or for any other reason. Therefore, ownership of our common shares is a long-term investment. 

Shareholders may not be able to have their shares redeemed under the Share Redemption Plan, and if shareholders do redeem 
their shares, they will not receive the current value of the shares. 

We have adopted a share redemption plan. However, our Board of Trustees can terminate the plan at any time without shareholder 
approval, and there is no assurance we will have sufficient funds available at the time of any request to honor a redemption request for 
cash. Shares redeemed under this plan may be purchased at a discount to the current price of the shares or to the price paid for such 
shares by the shareholder. Therefore, shareholders may not receive the amount they paid for the shares and may receive less by selling 
their shares back to us than they would receive if they were to sell their shares to other buyers. 

There will be transfer restrictions on the shares, and we do not plan to register the shares for resale. 

Other than shares issued under our dividend reinvestment plan, we have not registered our shares under federal or state securities laws, 
but rather we have sold the shares in reliance on exemptions under applicable federal and state securities laws Therefore, the shares 
may be “restricted securities” and may not be resold unless they are subsequently registered under the Securities Act and applicable 
state securities laws or pursuant to exemption from such registration requirements or may have other transfer restrictions based on the 
exemption relied on for the sale of the shares. We are not obligated to, nor do we currently plan to, register any shares for resale. 

Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate Related Assets 

Currently, we do not intend to invest in real estate related assets, and our investment portfolio contains only a nominal percent of real 
estate related assets. However, if in the future we do invest in real estate related assets, the following risk factors would apply. 

Investments in real estate related equity assets could involve higher risks than other investments, which could adversely affect our 
operations and ability to make dividend payments.

We may invest in common and preferred stock of both publicly traded and private real estate companies, including REITs, which
involves a higher degree of risk than debt securities due to a variety of factors, including subordination to creditors and lack of any 
security. Our investments in real estate related equity securities will involve special risks relating to the particular issuer of the equity 
securities, including the financial condition and business outlook of the issuer. Issuers of real estate related common equity securities 
generally invest in real estate or real estate related assets and are subject to the inherent risks associated with real estate discussed in 
this report, including risks relating to rising interest rates. 

The value of real estate related securities may be volatile and could cause the value of our shares to fluctuate, adversely affect our 
business operations and our ability to make dividend payments.

The value of real estate related securities, including those of REITs, fluctuate in response to issuer, political, market and economic 
developments. In the short term, equity prices can fluctuate dramatically in response to these developments. Different parts of the 
market and different types of equity securities can react differently to these developments and they can affect a single issuer or 
multiple issuers within an industry or economic sector or geographic region or the market as a whole. The real estate industry is 
sensitive to economic downturns. The value of securities of companies engaged in real estate activities can be affected by changes in 
real estate values and rental income, property taxes, interest rates and tax and regulatory requirements. In addition, the value of a 
REIT’s equity securities can depend on the structure and amount of cash flow generated by the REIT. Fluctuations in value of our 
securities may cause the value of our shares to vary regardless of the performance of our real estate assets, adversely affect our 
business operations and our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders.

Investments in commercial mortgage-backed securities have similar risks to mortgage loans, and we could be adversely affected if 
the value of such investments decrease due to repayment changes or non-payment. 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities are bonds which evidence interests in, or are secured by, a single commercial mortgage loan 
or a pool of commercial mortgage loans. Accordingly, the mortgage-backed securities we may invest in will be subject to all the risks 
of the underlying mortgage loans, including the risks of prepayment or non-payment. 

The value of commercial mortgage-backed securities may be adversely affected when repayments on underlying mortgage loans do 
not occur as anticipated, resulting in the extension of the security’s effective maturity and the related increase in interest rate 
sensitivity of a longer-term instrument. The value of commercial mortgage-backed securities also may change due to shifts in the 
market’s perception of issuers and regulatory or tax changes adversely affecting the mortgage securities markets as a whole. In 
addition, commercial mortgage-backed securities are subject to the credit risk associated with the performance of the underlying 
mortgage properties. 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities are also subject to several risks created through the securitization process. Certain 
subordinate commercial mortgage-backed securities are paid interest only to the extent there are funds available to make payments. To 
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the extent the collateral pool includes a large percentage of delinquent loans, there is a risk interest payments on subordinate 
commercial mortgage-backed securities will not be fully paid. Subordinate securities of commercial mortgage-backed securities are 
also subject to greater risk than more highly rated commercial mortgage-backed securities. 

Investments in mortgage instruments could adversely affect our business operations if the values of the underlying properties
decrease or there are repayment defaults. 

If we make investments in mortgage loans, we will be at risk of loss on those investments, including losses as a result of defaults on 
mortgage loans. These losses may be caused by many conditions beyond our control, including general prevailing local, national and 
global economic conditions; economic conditions affecting real estate values; changes in specific industry segments; tenant defaults 
and lease expirations; financial condition of tenants; changes in use of property; shift of business processes and functions offshore; 
declines in regional or local real estate values, or rental or occupancy rates; increases in interest rates, real estate tax rates and other 
operating expenses; competition from comparable types of properties; and property management decisions. 

If we acquire a property by foreclosure following defaults under our mortgage loan investments, we will bear a risk of loss of principal 
to the extent of any deficiency between the value of the collateral and the principal and accrued interest of the mortgage loan, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to achieve our investment objectives. We do not know whether the values of the 
property securing any of our real estate securities investments will remain at the levels existing on the dates we initially make the 
related investment. If the values of the underlying properties drop, our risk will increase and the values of our interests may decrease. 
Further, seeking available remedies could be a time-consuming and expensive process and would increase the costs associated with 
holding such mortgage and reducing our cash available for shareholders. 

If there are delays in liquidating defaulted mortgage loan investments, we could be required to incur additional expenses to pursue 
such remedies, which could adversely affect our operations. 

If there are defaults under any mortgage loan investments we hold, we may not be able to foreclose on or obtain a suitable remedy 
with respect to such investments. Specifically, we may not be able to repossess and sell the underlying properties quickly, which could 
reduce the value of our investment. For example, an action to foreclose on a property securing a mortgage loan is regulated by state 
statutes and rules and is subject to many of the delays and expenses of lawsuits if the defendant raises defenses or counterclaims. 
Additionally, in the event of default by a mortgagor, these restrictions, among other things, may impede our ability to foreclose on or 
sell the mortgaged property or to obtain proceeds sufficient to repay all amounts due to us on the mortgage loan. Therefore, we may 
experience a delay in liquidating the investment and return of the funds to invest in new investments. 

Investments in mezzanine loans may involve higher risks, and we may not be able to obtain full recourse if the investment becomes 
unsecured or the assets of the entity providing the pledge become insufficient to satisfy the loan. 

We may invest in mezzanine loans taking the form of subordinated loans secured by second mortgages on the underlying real property 
or loans secured by a pledge of the ownership interests of either the entity owning the real property or the entity that owns the interest 
in the entity owning the real property. These types of investments involve a higher degree of risk than long-term senior first-lien 
mortgage loans secured by income producing real property because the investment may become unsecured as a result of foreclosure 
by the senior lender. In the event of a bankruptcy of the entity providing the pledge of its ownership interests as security, we may not 
have full recourse to the assets of such entity, or the assets of the entity may not be sufficient to satisfy our mezzanine loan. If a 
borrower defaults on our mezzanine loan or debt senior to our loan, or in the event of a borrower bankruptcy, our mezzanine loan will 
be satisfied only after the senior debt. As a result, we may not recover some or all of our investment. In addition, mezzanine loans may 
have higher loan-to-value ratios than conventional mortgage loans, resulting in less equity in the real property and increasing the risk 
of loss of principal. 

Investments subject to interest rate risks may decline in value due to changes in the market interest rates, which could adversely 
affect the value of our assets. 

Interest rate risk is the risk fixed income securities such as preferred and debt securities, and to a lesser extent dividend paying 
common stocks, will decline in value due to changes in market interest rates. When market interest rates rise, the fair value of such 
securities tend to decline, and vice versa. 

During periods of rising interest rates, the average life of certain types of securities may be extended because of slower than expected 
principal payments. This may lock in a below-market interest rate, increase the security’s duration and reduce the value of the 
security. During periods of declining interest rates, an issuer may be able to exercise an option to prepay principal earlier than 
scheduled. If this occurs, we may be forced to reinvest in lower yielding securities. Preferred and debt securities frequently have call 
features allowing the issuer to repurchase the security prior to its stated maturity. An issuer may redeem an obligation if the issuer can 
refinance the debt at a lower cost due to declining interest rates or an improvement in the credit standing of the issuer. These risks may 
reduce the value of any real estate related securities investments. 
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Investments in illiquid investments could adversely affect the value of our assets if we are unable to resell the investments when 
desired to protect ourselves from changes in market or economic conditions. 

We may purchase real estate related securities in connection with privately negotiated transactions not registered under the relevant 
securities laws, resulting in a prohibition against their transfer, sale, pledge or other disposition except in a transaction exempt from 
the registration requirements of, or is otherwise in accordance with, those laws. As a result, our ability to vary our portfolio in 
response to changes in economic and other conditions may be relatively limited. Any mezzanine and bridge loans we may purchase
will be particularly illiquid investments due to their short life, their unsuitability for securitization and the greater risk of our inability 
to recover loaned amounts in the event of a borrower’s default. 

Liquidation prior to the maturity of any real estate securities investments could require us to sell on unfavorable terms and for a 
lower price than anticipated if held to maturity. 

Our Board of Trustees may choose to liquidate assets, including any real estate related securities investments. If we liquidate those 
types of investments prior to their maturity, we may be forced to sell those investments on unfavorable terms or at a loss during a time 
when prevailing interest rates are higher than the interest rates of such mortgage loans, whereby we would sell such investments at a 
discount to their stated principal values. 

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

None. 
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

General  

As of December 31, 2012, we owned 97 properties, containing approximately 4,543 apartments, 193 assisted living units and 
1,056,443 square feet of leasable commercial space. Many of our properties are located in the state of North Dakota.  

It is our policy to acquire assets with an intention to hold these assets as long-term investments seeking income and capital 
appreciation through an increase in value of our real estate portfolio, as well as increased revenue as a result of higher rent. These 
types of investments are the core of our strategy of creating shareholder value. We seek to own and maintain a portfolio of real estate 
diversified by geographical location and by type and size. Our Advisor monitors industry trends and invests in property believed to 
provide the most favorable return balanced with risk. We attempt to manage our real estate portfolio by evaluating changes or trends 
in the industries in which our tenants operate, the creditworthiness of our tenants and changes or trends in the area demographics 
surrounding our properties for evidence that our properties will continue to meet our investment objectives of cash flow, preservation 
of capital and capital appreciation.  

With the exception of single tenant buildings, the majority of our investment properties are managed by a third party. However, all 
decisions relating to purchase, sale, insurance coverage, capital improvements, approval of commercial leases, annual operating 
budgets, and major renovations are made by our Board, based on input from the Advisor. Property management firms usually receive 
between 3% and 5% of gross rent collection for their services. Substantially all of our revenues consist of base rents received under 
leases having terms ranging from month-to-month to over 25 years. Approximately half of our existing leases as of December 31, 
2012 contain “step up” rental clauses providing for annual increases in the base rental payments of approximately 1.0% to 3.0% each 
year during the term of the lease.  

Properties  

As of December 31, 2012, we owned 97 properties in ten states including North Dakota, Minnesota, Wisconsin, Nebraska, Colorado, 
Arkansas, Louisiana, Michigan, Mississippi and Texas. This portfolio of properties includes a diversified mixture of multifamily, 
senior living, single tenant retail and office buildings. The majority of the properties are located in the largest cities in the states of 
North Dakota and Minnesota.  Commencing January 1, 2012, we began reporting our results in two reportable segments: residential 
and commercial properties.  Please see Notes 2 and 4 to the consolidated financials included in this report for more information.  

The following table sets forth information regarding each of our properties owned as of December 31, 2012. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
  

 

Property 
 
Location 

 

Year 
Acquired 

 

# of 
Units or 
Leasable 

Sq Ft 
  

Total 
Investment 

  

Physical 
Occupancy 

at December 
31, 2012 

 

Annualized 
Base 

Rental 
Revenue (1)  

Aetna Building 
 
Bismarck, ND 

 
2006 

  
75,000 

   
8,896,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
841,000 

 Applebee’s Neighborhood Bar & Grill 
 
Apple Valley, MN 

 
2011 

  
2,997 

   
2,570,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
238,000 

 Applebee’s Neighborhood Bar & Grill 
 
Bloomington, MN 

 
2010 

  
5,043 

   
2,663,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
208,000 

 Applebee’s Neighborhood Bar & Grill 
 
Savage, MN 

 
2010 

  
4,936 

   
1,127,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
172,000 

 Applebee’s Neighborhood Bar & Grill 
 
Coon Rapids, MN 

 
2010 

  
5,576 

   
2,480,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
235,000 

 Arneson (Auburn/Hunter’s Run I) 
 
Fargo, ND 

 
2007 

  
36 

   
1,538,000 

   
99.96 %  

  
268,000 

 Autumn Ridge 
 
Grand Forks, ND 

 
2004 

  
144 

   
10,404,000 

   
99.13 %  

  
1,343,000 

 Bank of the West Financial Center 
 
Fargo, ND 

 
2004 

  
31,307 

   
4,060,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
307,000 

 Bank of the West Financial Center 
 
Moorhead, MN 

 
2011 

  
3,510 

   
1,014,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
82,000 

 Bayview 
 
Fargo, ND 

 
2007 

  
100 

   
4,677,000 

   
99.35 %  

  
745,000 

 Becker Furniture Building, St. Cloud 
 
Waite Park, MN 

 
2006 

  
30,200 

   
2,215,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
189,000 

 Berkshire 
 
Fargo, ND 

 
2008 

  
12 

   
475,000 

   
99.46 %  

  
80,000 

 Biolife Plasma Center 
 
Bismarck, ND 

 
2008 

  
11,671 

   
2,551,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
232,000 

 Biolife Plasma Center 
 
Eau Claire, WI 

 
2008 

  
11,900 

   
2,058,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
176,000 

 Biolife Plasma Center 
 
Grand Forks, ND 

 
2008 

  
13,190 

   
2,919,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
252,000 

 Biolife Plasma Center 
 
Janesville, WI 

 
2008 

  
12,225 

   
2,107,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
185,000 

 Biolife Plasma Center 
 
Mankato, MN 

 
2008 

  
13,181 

   
3,352,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
331,000 

 Biolife Plasma Center 
 
Marquette, MI 

 
2008 

  
11,737 

   
3,006,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
253,000 

 Biolife Plasma Center 
 
Onalaska, WI 

 
2008 

  
12,180 

   
2,280,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
208,000 

 Biolife Plasma Center 
 
Oshkosh, WI 

 
2008 

  
12,191 

   
2,187,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
182,000 

 Biolife Plasma Center 
 
Sheboygan, WI 

 
2008 

  
13,230 

   
2,396,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
220,000 

 Biolife Plasma Center 
 
Stevens Point, WI 

 
2008 

  
13,190 

   
2,302,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
196,000 
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Brookfield 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2008 
  

72 
   

2,402,000 
   

96.15 %  
  

429,000 
 Buffalo Wild Wings 

 
Austin, TX 

 
2010 

  
7,296 

   
2,587,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
262,000 

 Candlelight   Fargo, ND  2012   66    1,950,000    92.08 %   348,000  
Carling Manor 

 
Grand Forks, ND 

 
2008 

  
12 

   
779,000 

   
91.67 %  

  
121,000 

 Carlton Place 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2008 
  

213 
   

8,446,000 
   

97.95 %  
  

1,353,000 
 Chandler 

 
Grand Forks, ND 

 
2005 

  
12 

   
325,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
84,000 

 Colony Manor 
 

Grand Forks, ND 
 

2008 
  

24 
   

1,210,000 
   

98.92 %  
  

185,000 
 Columbia West 

 
Grand Forks, ND 

 
2008 

  
70 

   
4,003,000 

   
96.87 %  

  
595,000 

 Country Club 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2011 
  

40 
   

1,637,000 
   

97.50 %  
  

315,000 
 Countryside 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2011 

  
24 

   
877,000 

   
98.19 %  

  
164,000 

 Dairy Queen  Dickinson, ND  2012   2,811    1,330,000    100.00 %   120,000  
Dairy Queen 

 
Moorhead, MN 

 
2011 

  
2,712 

   
1,200,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
147,000 

 Danbury 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2007 
  

135 
   

6,875,000 
   

99.90 %  
  

1,027,000 
 Eagle Run* 

 
West Fargo, ND 

 
2010 

  
144 

   
6,874,000 

   
96.14 %  

  
973,000 

 Ear Acres Office Building 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2007 
  

11,973 
   

1,313,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

123,000 
 Echelon Building 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2006 

  
17,000 

   
2,008,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
135,000 

 Edgewood Vista 
 

Bismarck, ND 
 

2009 
  

193 
   

23,007,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

2,160,000 
 Eide Bailly Building** 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2007 

  
75,000 

   
5,919,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
605,000 

 Emerald Court 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2008 
  

24 
   

1,010,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

165,000 
 Fairview 

 
Bismarck, ND 

 
2008 

  
84 

   
4,575,000 

   
99.92 %  

  
723,000 

 Flickertail 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2008 
  

180 
   

6,519,000 
   

99.91 %  
  

1,149,000 
 Galleria III 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2010 

  
18 

   
862,000 

   
99.82 %  

  
145,000 

 Gate City Bank 
 

Grand Forks, ND 
 

2008 
  

23,117 
   

1,300,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

102,000 
 Glen Pond 

 
Eagan, MN 

 
2011 

  
414 

   
26,508,000 

   
98.12 %  

  
3,856,000 

 Goldmark Office Park 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2007 
  

124,306 
   

18,189,000 
   

90.99 %  
  

1,304,000 
 Grand Forks Marketplace*** 

 
Grand Forks, ND 

 
2003 

  
182,522 

   
9,963,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
894,000 

 Great American Insurance Building 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2005 
  

15,000 
   

2,202,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

149,000 
 Guardian Building Products  Fargo, ND  2012   100,600    3,450,000    100.00 %   343,000  

Hunter (Betty Ann/Martha Alice) 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2009 
  

48 
   

1,856,000 
   

95.83 %  
  

326,000 
 Hunter’s Run II 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2008 

  
12 

   
517,000 

   
99.73 %  

  
88,000 

 Islander Apartments 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2011 
  

24 
   

1,068,000 
   

95.97 %  
  

207,000 
 Library Lane 

 
Grand Forks, ND 

 
2007 

  
60 

   
2,931,000 

   
99.78 %  

  
446,000 

 Mandan Family Dollar Store 
 

Mandan, ND 
 

2010 
  

9,100 
   

849,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

82,000 
 Mandan O’Reilly Auto Store 

 
Mandan, ND 

 
2010 

  
6,300 

   
679,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
68,000 

 Maple Ridge 
 

Omaha, NE 
 

2008 
  

168 
   

7,676,000 
   

85.94 %  
  

1,172,000 
 Maplewood Bend  Fargo, ND  2009 and 

2010 
  182    7,195,000    99.48 %    1,109,000  

Midtown Plaza 
 

Minot, ND 
 

2004 
  

15,010 
   

1,256,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

181,000 
 Oak Court 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2008 

  
81 

   
2,919,000 

   
99.36 %  

  
486,000 

 Parkwood 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2008 
  

40 
   

1,381,000 
   

98.95 %  
  

243,000 
 Pebble Creek 

 
Bismarck, ND 

 
2008 

  
70 

   
4,030,000 

   
99.86 %  

  
671,000 

 Prairiewood Court I & II (3) 

 

Fargo, ND  2006 and 
2007 

  60    2,369,000    98.36 %    381,000 

 Prairiewood Meadows  Fargo, ND  2012   85    3,450,000    99.34 %   683,000  
Premiere Marketing 

 
Norfolk, NE 

 
2011 

  
14,736 

   
700,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
69,000 

 Regis Building 
 

Edina, MN 
 

2009 
  

102,448 
   

13,286,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

1,145,000 
 Richfield Harrison 

 
Grand Forks, ND 

 
2007 

  
140 

   
7,811,000 

   
99.77 %  

  
1,171,000 

 Rosegate 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2008 
  

90 
   

3,488,000 
   

99.86 %  
  

558,000 
 Saddlebrook 

 
West Fargo, ND 

 
2008 

  
60 

   
1,503,000 

   
98.92 %  

  
332,000 

 Sierra Ridge 

 

Bismarck, ND  2006 and 
2011 

  272    10,309,000    99.48 %    1,279,000 

 Social Security Building 
 

St. Cloud, MN 
 

2007 
  

10,810 
   

2,904,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

359,000 
 Somerset 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2008 

  
75 

   
3,982,000 

   
97.76 %  

  
588,000 

 Southgate 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2007 
  

162 
   

6,327,000 
   

98.33 %  
  

1,048,000 
 Southview III 

 
Grand Forks, ND 

 
2011 

  
18 

   
3,051,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
144,000 

 Southview Village 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2007 
  

72 
   

701,000 
   

99.91 %  
  

492,000 
 Stony Brook 

 
Omaha, NE 

 
2009 

  
148 

   
10,595,000 

   
98.40 %  

  
1,572,000 

 Sunset Ridge 
 

Bismarck, ND 
 
2008/2010 

  
180 

   
13,917,000 

   
99.90 %  

  
1,590,000 

 Sunview 
 

Grand Forks, ND 
 

2008 
  

36 
   

1,903,000 
   

99.55 %  
  

303,000 
 Sunwood Estates 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2007 

  
81 

   
4,160,000 

   
98.77 %  

  
624,000 

 Terrace on the Green  Moorhead, MN  2012   116    3,450,000    93.98 %   767,000  
Titan Machinery 

 
Dickinson, ND 

 
2012 

  
17,760 

   
1,791,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
177,000 

 Titan Machinery  Fargo, ND  2012   29,800    2,820,000    100.00 %   279,000  
Titan Machinery  Marshall, MN  2011   42,000    5,075,000    100.00 %    1,104,000  
Titan Machinery  Minot, ND  2012   23,690    2,630,000    100.00 %   260,000  
Twin Parks 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2008 

  
66 

   
2,371,000 

   
99.66 %  

  
432,000 

  
Village 

 
Grand Forks, ND 

 
2008 

  
35 

   
1,742,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
290,000 

 Village Park 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2008 
  

60 
   

2,346,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

364,000 
 Village West 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2008 

  
80 

   
2,818,000 

   
99.88 %  

  
499,000 

 Walgreens 
 

Batesville, AR 
 

2009 
  

14,820 
   

8,346,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

597,000 
 Walgreens 

 
Fayetteville, AR 

 
2009 

  
14,550 

   
5,368,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
471,000 

 Walgreens 
 

Alexandria, LA 
 

2009 
  

14,560 
   

4,358,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

301,000 
 Walgreens 

 
Laurel, MS 

 
2010 

  
14,820 

   
4,650,000 

   
100.00 %  

  
330,000 

 Walgreens 
 

Denver, CO 
 

2011 
  

13,390 
   

5,300,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

423,000 
 Wells Fargo Building 

 
Duluth, MN 

 
2007 

  
95,961 

   
8,390,000 

   
94.14 %  

  
965,000 

 West Pointe Center 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2007 
  

28,500 
   

3,635,000 
   

55.50 %  
  

147,000 
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Westside 
 

Hawley, MN 
 

2010 
  

14 
   

449,000 
   

100.00 %  
  

93,000 
 Westwind 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2008 

  
18 

   
613,000 

   
97.49 %  

  
104,000 

 Westwood Estates 
 

Fargo, ND 
 

2008 
  

200 
   

7,641,000 
   

96.81 %  
  

1,284,000 
 Willow Park 

 
Fargo, ND 

 
2008 

  
102 

   
5,938,000 

   
99.91 %  

  
916,000 

 ____________                     
* 81.25% Ownership Interest  
** 2/3 Ownership Interest  
*** 1/2 Ownership Interest 

(1) Property’s 2012 base rent, except for properties acquired during the year. Base rent is annualized based on December 31, 2012 
base rent. Rent concessions are not reflected in the calculation, as they are limited in nature and the effects are considered 
immaterial at less than 0.05%.  

The following information applies to all of our operating properties:  
 

 
•  We believe all of our properties are adequately covered by insurance and suitable for their intended purposes;  

 
•  We have no plans for any material renovations, improvements or development of our properties, except in accordance with 

planned budgets;  

 
•  Our properties are located in markets where we are subject to competition in attracting new tenants and retaining current 

tenants; and  

 
•  Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the buildings.  

Geography 

Of our 97 properties, 66 are located in North Dakota, with 41 being located in the greater Fargo, North Dakota metropolitan statistical 
area. These 66 North Dakota properties generated approximately 68% of our rental revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012.  

The following table presents the total real estate investment amount by state and annual rental revenue by state, as of December 31, 
2012:  

State 
 

Real Estate 
Investment 

  
% 

 

2012 Rental 
Revenue 

   
% 

North Dakota 
  

$260,625,000 
   

66.0 %  
  

$36,729,000 
   

67.5 %  
Minnesota 

  
69,908,000 

   
17.7 %  

  
10,426,000 

   
19.1 %  

Other 
  

64,213,000 
   

16.3 %  
  

7,293,000 
   

13.4 %  
                  

  
$394,746,000 

   
100.0 %  

  
$54,448,000 

   
100.0 %  

Economy  

The North Dakota workforce is concentrated in agricultural, energy, information technology, aerospace sciences and medical sciences. 
According to the U.S. Census Bureau, 2006-2010 American Community Survey, the estimated combined population of the Fargo, 
West Fargo and Moorhead metro area is 169,444 people. According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics December 2012 News Release, 
North Dakota again registered the lowest jobless rate at 3.2 percent compared to the US rate of 7.9%. The following chart depicts the 
difference in unemployment rates between North Dakota and the national average for 2012:  

  
Jan 

  
Feb 

  
Mar 

  
Apr 

  
May 

  
Jun 

  
Jul 

  
Aug 

  
Sep 

  
Oct 

  
Nov 

  
Dec 

 National (1) 
  

8.3 %  
  

8.3 %  
  

8.2 %  
  

8.1 %  
  

8.2 %  
  

8.2 %  
  

8.2 %  
  

8.1 %  
  

8.8 %  
  

8.9 %  
  

8.8 %  
  

8.8 %  
North Dakota (1) 

  
3.2 %  

  
3.1 %  

  
3.0 %  

  
3.0 %  

  
3.0 %  

  
2.9 %  

  
3.3 0%  

  
3.0 %  

  
3.0 %  

  
3.1 %  

  
3.1 %  

  
3.2 %  

__________                                                 
(1) Seasonally adjusted  

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics  

Tenants  

Our tenants are varied and consist of national, regional, local businesses and individuals. Our commercial/retail properties generally 
attract a mix of tenants who provide basic staples, convenience items and services tailored to the specific cultures, needs and 
preferences of the surrounding community. In 2012 and 2011, no single tenant represented more than 10% of our revenues. We have 
investments in several types of real estate, including multifamily, office, retail, medical and senior living. Within our office and retail 
properties, we have over 30 tenants who operate in numerous industries, including restaurants, pharmacy, financing, banking, 
insurance, professional services, technology and wholesale and direct retail.  
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Lease Expirations  

The vast majority of residential leases are for one year periods. The following table lists, on an aggregate basis, all of our scheduled lease 
expirations on non-residential properties. Base rents do not include CAM (common area maintenance) income and unless otherwise 
provided, the information set forth in the table assumes that tenants exercise no renewal options or early termination rights.  

         
Year 

 

# of Leases 
Expiring 

  

Expiring 
Base Rent 

 Month-to-Month 
  

1 
  

$ 66,000 
 2013 

  
6 
   

552,000 
 2014 

  
10 

   
571,000 

 2015 
  

21 
   

2,629,000 
 2016 

  
5 
   

1,298,000 
 2017 

  
11 

   
1,276,000 

 2018 
  

3 
   

282,000 
 2019 

  
1 
   

 39,000 
 2020 

  
6 
   

1,174,000  
 2021 and Thereafter 

  
24 

   
8,386,000 

 
         

 
  

88 
  

$ 16,273,000 
 

Mortgage Notes Secured by the Properties  

At December 31, 2012, we had $209.0 million in mortgage notes payable with respect to our properties. Even with purchases of $23.3 
million in additional properties in 2012, the debt balance still remains lower than the balance at December 31, 2011 of $217.5 million. 
Principal payments on these notes are payable as follows:  

     
     Years ending December 31, 

 
Amount 

 2013 
 

$ 22,924,000 
 2014 

  
11,945,000 

 2015 
  

36,232,000 
 2016 

  
33,689,000 

 2017 
  

43,586,000 
 Thereafter 

  
60,585,000 

 
     

Total Payments 
 

$ 208,961,000 
 

     

Acquisitions and Dispositions  

We acquired ten properties and disposed of two in the year ended December 31, 2012. Capitalization rates are a key decision making 
item used by the Board. Capitalization rates for acquisitions are calculated using projected net operating income divided by the 
investment. Net operating income is calculated by taking GAAP net income and adding back depreciation, amortization and interest 
expense. Capitalization rate for dispositions are calculated in the same way with the exception of using historical, rather than 
projected, net operating income.  

We use historical occupancy, rental income, and expenses to calculate projected net operating income for potential investment 
properties. For commercial properties, assumptions regarding rental income and expenses are based on the terms of the in-place leases 
and available historical financial information which is then used to generate projected net operating income. We require all 
commercial properties to have long-term leases in place before consideration is given for possible acquisition. The projected NOI 
calculation is based 100% on leases that are or will be in place prior to acquiring the property. While there may be estimates and 
assumptions regarding expenses based on historical information when available, there are no other assumptions for leasing income 
beyond the lease agreements in place prior to acquiring the property.  
 
For residential properties, we make various assumptions about future rents, occupancy levels, and expenses based on historical 
financial information and our assessment of the property’s future potential. The projected NOI for residential acquisitions is typically 
based 100% on historical occupancy and expenses over a three to five year period. When historical information is unavailable, market 
vacancy and credit loss factors are estimated. We normally do not assign a value to residential tenant leases already in place due to the 
short-term duration of twelve months or less of these leases and the uncertainty of retaining all tenants due to a change in ownership 
and in some cases property management companies.  
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Numerous estimates and assumptions are necessary to generate projected net operating income for potential commercial and 
residential acquisitions, and there is no guarantee actual net operating income will equal projected net operating income.  

In making acquisitions, the Board targets capitalization rates between 8.0 to 10%, depending on the amount of risk involved. For those 
properties with greater risk, the Board demands greater capitalization rates (over 9.0%). For those properties exhibiting less risk, a 
lower capitalization risk is acceptable. For potential acquisitions, the Board also requires an adequate spread exists between the 
financing on the property and the capitalization rate. The tables below shows the capitalization rates for those properties acquired and 
disposed of during the year ended December 31, 2012.  

     2012 Acquisitions 
 

Capitalization Rate 
 Dairy Queen, Dickinson, ND 

  
9.00 %  

Titan Machinery, Dickinson, ND 
  

9.61 %  
Titan Machinery, Minot, ND 

  
9.90 %  

Land, Dickinson, ND 
  

9.66 %  
Land, Bismarck, ND 

  
7.50 %  

Guardian Building, Fargo, ND 
  

9.64 %  
Prairiewood Meadows Apartments, Fargo, ND 

  
8.66 %  

Terrace on the Green Apartments, Moorhead, MN 
  

9.15 %  
Titan Machinery, Fargo, ND 

  
9.64 %  

Candlelight Apartments, Fargo, ND 
  

7.48 %  

   
2012 Dispositions 

 
Capitalization Rate 

Burger King, Norfolk, NE 
  

8.00 %  
Land, Minot, ND 

  
0.00 %  

Insurance  

We believe we have adequate property damage, fire loss and liability insurance on all or our properties with reputable, commercially 
rated companies. We also believe our insurance policies contain commercially reasonable deductibles and limits, adequate to cover 
our properties. We expect to maintain this type of insurance coverage and to obtain similar coverage with respect to any additional 
properties we acquire in the near future. Further, we have title insurance relating to our properties in an aggregate amount we believe 
to be adequate.  

Regulations  

Our properties, as well as any other properties we may acquire in the future, are subject to various federal, state and local laws, 
ordinances and regulations. They include, among other things, zoning regulations, land use controls, environmental controls relating to 
air and water quality, noise pollution and indirect environmental impacts such as increased motor vehicle activity. We believe we have 
all permits and approvals necessary under current law to operate our properties.  

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  
In the ordinary course of our operations, we may become involved in litigation. Such matters may be generally covered by insurance. 
At this time, we are not aware of any material pending or threatened legal proceedings, or other proceedings contemplated by 
governmental authorities.  
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ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES  

Not applicable.  

 

PART II  

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  

Market Information  

Our common shares of beneficial interest are not listed on any national exchange or over-the-counter market or quoted on any national 
securities market, and we currently do not have plans to list or have our common shares quoted.  

Shareholders and Limited Unit Holders  

As of March 25, 2013, we had 5,296,646.110 common shares of beneficial interests outstanding, held by a total of 792 common 
shareholders and no outstanding options or warrants to purchase our common shares.  

In addition, as of March 25, 2013, there were approximately 12,159,797.494 limited partnership units of our operating partnership 
outstanding held by approximately 454 limited partners. Pursuant to the exchange rights under the LLLP Agreement of the operating 
partnership, we have the option, upon redemption requests by the holders of the limited partnership units, to acquire the limited 
partnership units by paying the holders with our common shares of beneficial interest on a one-for-one exchange basis. The numbers 
of common shareholders and limited partners is based on the Company’s records.  

Quarterly Distribution Data  

We have declared and intend to continue to declare regular quarterly dividends to our common shareholders. Because all of our 
operations are conducted through our operating partnership, our ability to pay dividends depends on the operating partnership’s ability 
to make distributions to us and its other limited partners. We pay declared dividends monthly, whereby the dividend attributable to a 
calendar quarter would be paid in three equal monthly payments during the next quarter. Dividends will be paid to common 
shareholders as of the record dates selected by the Board of Trustees. We intend to make dividends sufficiently to satisfy the 
requirements for qualification as a REIT for federal tax purposes.  

The following tables show the dividends we have paid (including the total amount paid and the amount paid on a per share basis) 
during the last two fiscal years.  

2012 Quarter Ended 
 

Dividends Per 
Common Share 

   
Total Dividends 

December 31 
 

$ 0.206500 
  

$ 1,095,000 
 September 30 

 
$ 0.206500 

  
$ 1,050,000 

 June 30 
 

$ 0.206500 
  

$ 950,000 
 March 31 

 
$ 0.201250 

  
$ 926,000 

      

2011 Quarter Ended 
 

Dividends Per 
Common Share 

 
Total Dividends 

December 31 
 

$ 0.201250 
  

$ 760,000 
 September 30 

 
$ 0.201250 

  
$ 756,000 

 June 30 
 

$ 0.201250 
  

$ 751,000 
 March 31 

 
$ 0.192500 

  
$ 694,000 

 
We expect that future dividends will be maintained at least at the present rate, unless our results of operations, our general financial 
condition, general economic conditions or other factors prohibit us from doing so or the Board determines other action prudent.  
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Sale of Securities  

Private Placements  
During the three months ended December 31, 2012, we sold 252,212 common shares to accredited investors in a private placement 
pursuant to Regulation D and Rule 506. The purchase prices of the shares were (1) $12.88 per share for insiders (our trustees and 
officers; governors, officers and employees of our Advisor; their affiliates; and immediate family members) or (2) $14.00 per share.  
The private placement raised gross proceeds of $3,500,000 during the three months ended December 31, 2012 as set forth below:  
  

         

Period    

Total 
Number 

of 
Common 

Shares 
Sold      

Gross 
Proceeds   

October 1-31, 2012      252,212         $ 3,500,000    
November 1-30, 2012      None       

 
None    

December 1-31, 2012      None         None    

Other Sales  
During the three months ended December 31, 2012, we issued 20,745,268.000 common shares in exchange for limited partnership 
units of the operating partnership on a one-for-one basis pursuant to redemption requests made by accredited investors pursuant to 
Regulation D and Rule 506. The issuances during the three months ended December 31, 2012 were as set forth below:  
  

     

Period    

Total 
Number of 
Common 

Shares 
Exchanged   

October 1-31, 2012      None    
November 1-30, 2012      1,000.000    
December 1-31, 2012      19,745.268    

Repurchases of Securities  

Set forth below is information regarding common shares repurchased during the three months ended December 31, 2012: 
 

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  
                 

Period 
 

Total 
Number 

of 
Shares 

Purchased 
  

Average 
Price 

Paid per 
Share 

  

Total Number 
of Shares 

Purchased as 
Part of 

Publicly 
Announced 

Plans or 
Programs(1) 

  

Maximum 
Number (or 
Appropriate 

Dollar Value) of 
Shares (or Units) 
that May Yet Be 
Purchased Under 

the Plans or 
Programs 

 October 1, 2012 – October 31, 2012 
  

73,000 
  

$ 12.75 
   

368,000 
  

$ 7,194,000 
 November 1, 2012 – November 30, 2012 

  
18,000 

  
$ 12.75 

   
386,000 

  
$ 6,954,000 

 December 1, 2012 – December 31, 2012 
  

16,000 
  

$ 12.75 
   

402,000 
  

$ 6,524,000 
                  Total 

  
107,000 

             
                 

 
___________ 
(1) On June 7, 2012 and December 20, 2012, our Board of Trustees revised the original Share Repurchase Plan as previously 

disclosed in our Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the SEC on March 11, 2011. The amended and restated Share 
Repurchase Plan permits us to repurchase common shares held by our shareholders and limited partnership units held by 
members of our operating partnership, up to a maximum amount of $15,000,000 worth of shares and units, upon request by the 
holders after they have held them for at least one year and subject to other conditions and limitations described in the plan. The 
repurchase price for such shares and units repurchased under the plan is fixed at $12.75 per share or unit. The repurchase plan 
will terminate in the event the shares become listed on any national securities exchange, the subject of bona fide quotes on any 
inter-dealer quotation system or electronic communications network or are the subject of bona fide quotes in the pink sheets. 
Additionally, the Board, in its sole discretion, may terminate, amend or suspend the repurchase plan if it determines to do so is in 
our best interest. 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  
The following table sets forth our selected consolidated financial information and should be read in conjunction with “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our audited consolidated financial statements and the 
notes thereto, both of which appear elsewhere in this Form 10-K.  

(in thousands except per share data)  
                     
  

December 31, 
 

  
2008 

  
2009 

  
2010 

  
2011 

  
2012 

 BALANCE SHEET DATA: 
                    Total assets 
 

$ 273,913 
  

$ 326,150 
  

$ 343,982 
  

$ 381,268 
  

$ 385,104 
 Mortgage loans payable, net 

 
$ 141,532 

  
$ 190,965 

  
$ 192,172 

  
$ 217,480 

  
$ 208,961 

 Total liabilities 
 

$ 152,496 
  

$ 200,300 
  

$ 204,319 
  

$ 237,041 
  

$ 221,904 
 Stockholder’s equity 

 
$ 121,419 

  
$ 125,849 

  
$ 139,663 

  
$ 144,225 

  
$ 163,200 

  
 

 Year Ended December 31, 
 

 2008  2009  2010  2011  2012 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 

                    Rental income 
 

$ 26,440 
  

$ 39,417 
  

$ 43,438 
  

$ 49,318 
  

$ 54,448 
 Operating expenses 

  
22,308 

   
33,309 

   
36,674 

   
40,578 

   
43,057 

 Interest 
  

7,256 
   

10,354 
   

11,628 
   

12,031 
   

11,812 
 Depreciation and amortization 

  
5,021 

   
7,718 

   
9,014 

   
10,247 

   
11,239 

 Total expenses 
  

23,158 
   

35,066 
   

38,577 
   

43,217 
   

46,183 
 Total other income (expense) 

  
416 

   
1,999 

   
897 

   
403 

   
876 

 Loss on impairment of property 
  

—  
   

(312 )  
  

(363 )  
  

(264 )  
  

(262 )  
Discontinued operations 

  
345 

   
—  

   
1,854 

   
116 

   
— 

 Net income 
  

4,042 
   

6,351 
   

7,613 
   

6,618 
   

9,131 
 Noncontrolling interest in income 

  
(2,991 )  

  
(4,992 )  

  
(5,740 )  

  
(4,891 )  

  
(6,424 )  

Net income attributable to INREIT 
 

$ 1,052 
  

$ 1,358 
  

$ 1,872 
  

$ 1,727 
  

$ 2,707 
 Net income per common share 

 
$ 0.45 

  
$ 0.51 

  
$ 0.59 

  
$ 0.46 

  
$ 0.57 

 Weighted average shares outstanding 
  

2,322,000 
   

2,660,000 
   

3,191,000 
   

3,771,000 
   

4,733,000 
 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS DATA:                     

Cash flows provided by operating activities  $ 8,653   $ 11,274   $ 14,700   $ 15,400   $ 20,143  
Cash flows used in investing activities   (17,494 )    (34,941 )    (17,448 )    (11,498 )    (9,557 )  
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities   15,518    20,284    4,057    (10,718 )    (9,223 )  

OTHER DATA                     
Dividends declared (shares)  $ 1,741   $ 2,010   $ 2,511   $ 3,030   $ 4,022  
Dividends declared per share  $ 0.7350   $ 0.7450    0.7700    0.8050    0.8260  

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS  

Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995  

Certain statements contained in this section and elsewhere in this Form 10-K constitute “forward-looking statements” within the 
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements involve a number of known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Please see 
“Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” for more information. Readers are cautioned not to place undue 
reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date the statements were made and are not guarantees of 
future performance.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Our principal demands for funds will be for the (i) acquisition of real estate and real estate-related investments, (ii) payment of 
acquisition related expenses and operating expenses, (iii) payment of dividends and redemptions, and (iv) payment of principal and 
interest on current and any future outstanding indebtedness. Generally, we expect to meet cash needs for the payment of operating 
expenses and interest on outstanding indebtedness from our cash flow from operations. We expect to pay dividends to our 
shareholders from our cash flow from operations; however, we may use other sources to fund dividends, as necessary. We expect to 
meet cash needs for acquisitions and other real-estate investments from net proceeds of stock offerings and debt proceeds.  

We continually evaluate our liquidity and ability to fund future operations and debt obligations. As part of our analysis, we consider 
lease expirations, credit quality of tenants and debt maturity schedules among other factors.  
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Tenant Credit Quality  
We are exposed to credit risk within our tenant portfolio, which can reduce our results of operations and cash flow from operations if 
our tenants are unable to pay their rent. Tenants experiencing financial difficulties may become delinquent on their rent or default on 
their leases and, if they file for bankruptcy protection, may reject our lease in bankruptcy court, resulting in reduced cash flow. This 
may negatively impact net asset values and require us to incur impairment charges. Even if a default has not occurred and a tenant is 
continuing to make the required lease payments, we may restructure or renew leases on less favorable terms, or the tenant’s credit 
profile may deteriorate, which could affect the value of the leased asset and could in turn require us to incur impairment charges.  

Historically, the geographic location of our properties and credit-worthiness of our tenants have resulted in minimal to no property 
impairments or write-offs on uncollectible rental revenues. We anticipate the trend to continue through 2013. It is possible, however, 
tenants may file for bankruptcy or default on their leases in the future and that economic conditions could again deteriorate.  

To mitigate credit risk, we have historically looked to invest in assets we believe are critically important to our tenant’s operations and 
have attempted to diversify our portfolio by tenant, tenant industry and geography. We also monitor tenant performance through 
review of rent delinquencies as a precursor to a potential default, meetings with tenant management and review of tenants’ financial 
statements and compliance with financial covenants. When necessary, our asset management process includes restructuring 
transactions to meet the evolving needs of tenants, refinancing debt and selling properties, as well as protecting our rights when 
tenants default or enter into bankruptcy.  

Lease Expirations and Occupancy  

No significant leases are scheduled to expire or renew in the near term. Our Advisor actively manages our real estate portfolio and 
begins discussing options with tenants in advance of scheduled lease expirations. In certain cases, we may obtain lease renewals from 
our tenants; however, tenants may elect to move out at the end of their term. In the cases where tenants elect not to renew, we may 
seek replacement tenants or try to sell the property.  

Debt Maturity  
One of our principal long-term liquidity requirements includes repayment of maturing debt. The following table provides information 
with respect to the maturities and scheduled principal payments of our indebtedness as of December 31, 2012. The table does not 
consider any extension options.  

     Years ending December 31, 
 

Amount 
 2013 

 
$ 22,924,000 

 2014 
  

11,945,000 
 2015 

  
36,232,000 

 2016 
  

33,689,000 
 2017 

  
43,586,000 

 Thereafter 
  

60,585,000 
 

     

Total Payments 
 

$ 208,961,000 
 

     

 

Sources and Uses of Cash  
Operating Activities  
Our real estate properties generate cash flow in the form of rental revenues, which are reduced by interest payments, direct lease costs 
and property-level operating expenses. Property-level operating expenses consist primarily of property management fees including 
salaries and wages of property management personnel, utilities, cleaning, repairs, insurance, security and building maintenance costs, 
and property taxes. Additionally, we incur general and administrative expenses, advisory fees and acquisition, disposition, financing 
and development expenses.  

Net cash from operating activities for 2012 was $20.1 million and primarily related to rental receipts offset by the payment of property 
management fees, property operating expenses, acquisition-related expenses and general administrative expenses.  

Net cash from operating activities for 2011 was $15.4 million and primarily related to rental receipts offset by the payment of property 
management fees, property operating expenses, acquisition-related expenses and general administrative expenses.  

Investing Activities  
Our investing activities are generally comprised of real estate-related transactions (purchases and sales) and payments of capitalized 
property-related costs such as intangible assets and real estate tax and insurance escrows.  
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Net cash used in 2012 for investing activities was $9.6 million, primarily due to the aggregated payment of $13.1 million for the 
acquisitions of properties including related intangible assets offset by proceeds ($933 thousand) from the sale of two properties: (i) a 
retail property in Norfolk, Nebraska; and (ii) vacant land in Minot, North Dakota.

Net cash used in 2011 for investing activities was $11.5 million, primarily due to the aggregated payment of $16.8 million for the 
acquisitions of properties including related intangible assets offset by proceeds ($2.825 million) from the sale of two properties: (i) a 
retail property in Norfolk, Nebraska; and (ii) an assisted living facility in Williston, North Dakota.

Financing Activities 

During 2012, we paid $10.3 million in dividends to shareholders and others with non-controlling interests in our operations. We also 
made scheduled mortgage principal installments of $16.1 million. We received $11.0 million in proceeds from mortgage financings 
and paid back $8.0 million on a line of credit, both related to investment activity.

During 2011, we paid $9.5 million in dividends to shareholders and others with non-controlling interests in our operations. We also 
made scheduled mortgage principal installments of $12.8 million. We received $8.0 million in proceeds from mortgage financings and 
drew $8.0 million on a line of credit, both related to investment activity.

Our objectives are to generate sufficient cash flow over time to provide shareholders and others with non-controlling interests in our 
operations with increasing dividends and to seek investments with potential for strong returns and capital appreciation throughout 
varying economic cycles. During 2011 and 2012, we funded 100% of the dividends from operating cash flows. In setting a dividend 
rate, we focus primarily on expected returns from those investments we have already made to assess the sustainability of a particular 
dividend rate over time. 

Cash Resources 

At December 31, 2012, our cash resources consisted of cash and cash equivalents totaling $4.6 million and had unencumbered 
properties with a gross book value of $11.6 million. Our unencumbered properties may be used as collateral to secure additional 
financing in future periods, although there can be no assurance we will be able to obtain financing for these properties. 

We also have four lines of credit: (i) a $11.0 million line of credit with Wells Fargo Bank secured by an office property in Duluth, 
Minnesota and four Applebees, (ii) a $1.0 million line of credit and a $3.0 million line of credit with Bremer Bank secured by two 
commercial properties in Moorhead, Minnesota and an office property in St. Cloud, Minnesota and (iii) a $2.0 million line of credit 
with Bell State Bank and Trust secured by a multifamily property in Fargo, North Dakota. As of December 31, 2012, there was no 
balance outstanding on the lines of credit leaving $17.0 million available. There were $8.0 million outstanding on the lines of credit 
and $6.93 million available as of December 31, 2011. Our cash resources can be used for working capital needs and other 
commitments. 

The issuance of limited partnership units of the operating partnership in exchange for property acquisitions is also expected to be a 
source of long-term capital for us. During 2012, we issued 396,000 limited partnership units valued at approximately $5.5 million in 
connection with the acquisitions of a 2,811 square foot restaurant in Dickinson, North Dakota, a 17,760 square foot implement 
dealership in Dickinson, North Dakota, a 100,600 square foot commercial property in Fargo, North Dakota, a 116 unit apartment 
complex in Moorhead, Minnesota and a 29,800 square foot implement dealership in Fargo, North Dakota.

Cash Requirements 

During the next twelve months, we expect cash payments will include paying dividends to our shareholders and to others who hold
non-controlling interests in our operations, making scheduled mortgage loan principal payments, reimbursing the Advisor for costs 
incurred on our behalf and paying normal recurring operating expenses. We expect to continue to use excess funds to invest in new 
properties. We expect our cash resources will be adequate to cover our cash requirements over the next twelve months.

Critical Accounting Estimates 

Preparation of our financial statements requires estimates and judgments to be made affecting the amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses reported. Such decisions include the selection of the appropriate accounting principles to be applied and the 
assumptions on which to base accounting estimates. We evaluate these estimates based on assumptions we believe to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. 

The difficulty in applying these policies arises from the assumptions, estimates and judgments that have to be made currently about 
inherently uncertain matters, such as future economic conditions, operating results and valuations as well as management intentions. 
As the difficulty increases, the level of precision decreases, meaning actual results can and probably will be different from those 
currently estimated. 
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There have been no material changes in our Critical Accounting Policies as disclosed in note 2 to our financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2012 included elsewhere in this report. 

Results of Operations  

Comparison of the Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:  

The following table provides a general comparison of our results of operations for years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:  

 
    Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2012   Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2011 

    Residential Commercial Total   Residential Commercial Total 

Real Estate Revenues  $  37,737,000   $  16,711,000   $  54,448,000     $  32,255,000   $  17,061,000   $   49,316,000  

Real Estate Expenses               

  Real Estate Taxes        3,525,000         2,311,000         5,836,000           3,136,000         2,438,000          5,574,000 

  Property Management Fees        4,048,000            268,000         4,316,000           3,563,000            288,000          3,851,000  

  Utilities        2,791,000            764,000         3,555,000           2,509,000            804,000          3,313,000  

  Repairs and Maintenance        4,613,000            787,000         5,400,000           3,809,000            954,000          4,763,000  

  Insurance           858,000              42,000            899,000              670,000            129,000             799,000  

Total Real Estate Expenses      15,835,000         4,171,000       20,006,000         13,688,000         4,612,000        18,300,000  

Net Operating Income  $  21,902,000   $  12,540,000   $  34,442,000     $  18,567,000   $  12,449,000   $   31,016,000  

       Interest          11,812,000            12,031,000         

       Depreciation and amortization          11,239,000            10,247,000         

       Administration of REIT   3,126,000     2,640,000         

        Other (income)/expense   (866,000)                  (404,000) 

Income from continuing operations                          9,131,000                         6,502,000            

        Discontinued operations        —                 116,000 

Net Income    $    9,131,000        $     6,618,000  

Net Income Attributed to:        

       Noncontrolling Interest   $     6,424,000         $     4,891,000  
       INREIT Real Estate 

Investment Trust   $     2,707,000         $     1,727,000  

Dividends per share (1)   $          0.8260        $          0.8050  

 
(1)  Does not take into consideration the amounts distributed by the operating partnership to limited partners. 

Revenues 

Property revenues of approximately $54.4 million increased approximately $5.1 million or 10.4% for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2012 in comparison to the same period in 2011. Approximately $0.4 million of the increase in property revenues was 
due to three residential properties acquired during the year.  Rental income from residential properties owned for more than one year 
increased approximately $1.0 million in comparison to the same period in 2011.  

Residential revenues comprised 69.3% of total revenues for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2012 compared to 65.4% of 
total revenues for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011, as a result of residential acquisition activity. 

Commercial revenues for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2012 remained relatively flat with the same period in 2011. 
However, commercial revenues comprised 30.7% of the total revenues for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2012 
compared to 34.6% of total revenues for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011, primarily because of the increase in 
residential properties. 

 

The following table illustrates annual changes in rental occupancy for the periods indicated: 
  

                31-Dec-12     31-Dec-11     
Residential occupancy    98.8 %        98.2% 

 
    

Commercial occupancy    99.3 %        97.4% 
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Residential and commercial occupancy have remained relatively consistent across reporting periods and have reached historical highs 
during 2012. Tenant concessions of 0.7% during the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011 improved to 0.4% in the same 
period of 2012.

Expenses

Residential expenses from operations of $15.8 million during the twelve month period ended December 31, 2012 increased $2.2 
million or 15.8% in comparison to the same period in 2011. This increase corresponds with a 17.0% increase in residential rental 
revenues and is attributed to increases in real estate tax expense, property management fees, repairs and maintenance expense, utilities 
and insurance expense, all of which increased principally because of the increase in number of residential properties owned in 2012 
versus 2011.

Commercial expenses from operations of $4.2 million during the twelve month period ended December 31, 2012 remained relatively 
consistent with the same period in 2011, which corresponds to relatively no change in commercial revenues.

Interest expense of $11.8 million during the twelve month period ended December 31, 2012 decreased $0.2 million in comparison to 
the same period in 2011. Interest expense was approximately 21.7% and 24.4% of rental income for twelve month periods ended 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The decrease of interest expense as a percentage of rental income during the twelve month 
period ended December 31, 2012 was a result of lower interest rates for mortgage notes payable during 2012 compared to 2011, 
reduced mortgage indebtedness and increased rental revenues from acquired properties unencumbered by mortgages.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased 9.7% from $10.2 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 to 
approximately $11.2 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012. The $1.0 million increase was primarily a result of 
depreciation and amortization for the ten properties added to our portfolio during 2012. Depreciation and amortization expense as a 
percentage of rental income for the twelve month periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 was relatively consistent at 20.6% and 
20.8%, respectively.

REIT administration expenses increased from $2.6 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 to $3.1 million for the 
twelve month period ended December 31, 2012 due to a $0.5 million increase in advisory fees, related to acquisition activity during 
2012.

Net Operating Income

We measure the performance of our segments based on net operating income (“NOI”), which we define as total revenue from rental
operations less expenses from rental operations and real estate taxes (excluding depreciation and amortization related to real estate 
investments and impairment of real estate investments). We believe that NOI is an important supplemental measure of operating
performance for a REIT because it provides a measure of core operations unaffected by depreciation, amortization, financing, and 
administration expense. NOI does not represent cash generated by operating activities in accordance with GAAP and should not be 
considered an alternative to net income, net income available for non-controlling interests and shareholders or cash flow from 
operating activities as a measure of financial performance.

Residential NOI increased $3.3 million or 17.8% for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2012 in comparison to the same 
twelve month period in 2011 due primarily to acquisition activity in the residential segment. Commercial NOI remained relatively the 
same for the twelve month periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

2012 Property Acquisitions and Dispositions 

In January 2012, the operating partnership purchased a 2,811 square foot restaurant in Dickinson, North Dakota for approximately 
$1.33 million. The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $1.3 million and 
cash. 

In March 2012, the operating partnership purchased a 17,760 square foot implement dealership in Dickinson, North Dakota for 
approximately $1.39 million. The purchase was financed through the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately 
$959,000, the assumption of $431,000 in mortgage debt and cash. 

In August 2012, the operating partnership purchased a 23,690 square foot implement dealership in Minot, North Dakota for 
$2,630,000 with cash.

In August 2012, the operating partnership purchased 2.5 acres of land adjacent to an implement dealership in Dickinson, North Dakota 
for $400,000 with cash. 

In August 2012, the operating partnership purchased approximately 12 acres of development land in Bismarck, North Dakota for 
$2,420,000 with cash. 
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In August 2012, the operating partnership purchased a 100,600 square foot commercial property in Fargo, North Dakota for 
$3,450,000. The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at $965,000 and cash. 

In September 2012, the operating partnership purchased an 85 unit apartment complex in Fargo, North Dakota for $3,450,000. The
purchase was financed through assumption of $2,439,000 in mortgage debt and cash. 

In September 2012, the operating partnership purchased a 116 unit apartment complex in Moorhead, Minnesota for $3,450,000. The
purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at $796,000, the assumption of $2,199,000 in mortgage 
debt and cash. 

In October 2012, the operating partnership purchased a 29,800 square foot implement dealership in Fargo, North Dakota for 
$2,820,000.  The purchase was financed through the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $1,488,000, 
assumption of $1,251,000 in mortgage debt and cash.

In November 2012, the operating partnership purchased a 66 unit apartment complex in Fargo, North Dakota for $1,950,000.  The 
purchase was financed through assumption of $1,249,000 in mortgage debt and cash.

During the first quarter of 2012, we sold a 4,500 square foot retail property in Norfolk, Nebraska for approximately $350,000 and 
recognized a loss of approximately $88,000. 

During the second quarter of 2012, we sold vacant land in Minot, North Dakota for approximately $583,000 and recognized a gain of 
approximately $114,000.

2011 Property Acquisitions and Dispositions 

In January 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 4,997 square foot restaurant in Apple Valley, Minnesota for approximately 
$2.5 million. The purchase was financed through the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $1.7 million and 
cash. 

In January 2011, the operating partnership purchased the remaining 65.44% interest in Sierra Ridge, a 136 unit apartment complex in 
Bismarck, North Dakota for approximately $6.5 million. The purchase was financed with approximately $2.2 million in cash and the 
assumption of $4.3 million in debt. The debt assumption was finalized on April 1, 2011. 

In May 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 40 unit apartment complex and a 24 unit apartment complex in Fargo, North 
Dakota for approximately $2.5 million. The purchase was financed through the assumption of approximately $0.8 million in debt and 
the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $1.7 million. The properties were purchased from entities affiliated 
with Kenneth Regan and James Wieland, related parties who each received limited partnership units valued at approximately 
$419,000. 

In May 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 2,712 square foot restaurant and a 3,510 square foot office building in Moorhead, 
Minnesota for approximately $2.2 million. The purchase was financed with a combination of a new $575,000 loan and the issuance of 
limited partnership units valued at approximately $1.6 million.

In June 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 13,390 square foot retail store and 36,432 square feet of adjacent land in Denver, 
Colorado for approximately $5.9 million. The purchase was financed with a combination of $4.6 million mortgage financing and 
approximately $1.3 million in cash. 

In July 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 24 unit apartment complex in Fargo, North Dakota for approximately $1.0 million. 
The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $503,000, the assumption of 
approximately $531,000 in mortgage financing, and cash. 

In July 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 40.26% interest in a 144 unit apartment building in Bismarck, North Dakota. The 
sales price was approximately $2.3 million. The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at 
approximately $1.2 million, the assumption of approximately $1.0 million in mortgage debt and $125,000. The remaining ownership 
consists of Mr. Regan and Mr. Wieland, related parties. The investment is recorded under the equity method of accounting. 

In August 2011, the operating partnership purchased an 18 unit apartment building in Grand Forks, North Dakota for approximately 
$640,000. The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $382,000, new mortgage 
financing of $249,000 and cash. 

In September 2011, the operating partnership purchased a single tenant 8,000 square foot office building in Norfolk, Nebraska for 
$600,000. The purchase was financed with cash. 
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In October 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 42,000 square foot implement dealership in Marshall, Minnesota for 
approximately $5.0 million. The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $2.6 
million, approximately $2.4 million in new mortgage financing and cash. 

In December 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 414 unit apartment complex in Eagan, Minnesota for approximately $26.2
million. The purchase was financed with the assumption of an existing $16.7 million mortgage, an $8.0 million advance from the 
Wells Fargo line of credit and cash. 

During the second quarter of 2011, we sold an assisted living facility in Williston, North Dakota for $1.45 million and recognized a 
gain of $367,000.

During the third quarter of 2011, we sold a retail property in Norfolk, Nebraska for $1,375,000 and recognized a loss of $67,000.

See Notes 20 and 21 of Notes to the Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report for more information regarding our 
acquisitions and dispositions during 2012 and 2011.

Funds From Operations and Modified Funds From Operations 

Funds From Operations (FFO) applicable to common shares and limited partnership units means net income (computed in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles), excluding gains (or losses) from sales of property, plus depreciation and amortization, 
and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint 
ventures will be calculated to reflect funds from operations on the same basis. 

Historical cost accounting for real estate assets implicitly assumes the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time. 
Since real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, many industry investors have considered presentations 
of operating results for real estate companies that use historical cost accounting to be insufficient by themselves. The term Funds From 
Operations was created to address this problem. It was intended to be a standard supplemental measure of REIT operating 
performance that excluded historical cost depreciation from — or “added it back” to — GAAP net income.

Our management believes this non-GAAP measure is useful to investors because it provides supplemental information that facilitates 
comparisons to prior periods and for the evaluation of financial results. Management uses this non-GAAP measure to evaluate our 
financial results, develop budgets and manage expenditures. The method used to produce non-GAAP results is not computed 
according to GAAP, is likely to differ from the methods used by other companies and should not be regarded as a replacement for 
corresponding GAAP measures. Management encourages the review of the reconciliation of this non-GAAP financial measure to the 
comparable preliminary GAAP results. 

Since the introduction of the definition of FFO, the term has come to be widely used by REITs. In the view of National Association of 
Real Estate Investment Trusts “NAREIT”, this use (combined with the primary GAAP presentations required by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission) has been fundamentally beneficial, improving the understanding of operating results of REITs among the 
investing public and making it easier than before to compare the results of one REIT with another. 

In addition to FFO, management also uses Modified Funds From Operations (“MFFO”) as a non-GAAP supplemental performance 
measure. MFFO as defined by our management excludes from FFO acquisition related costs which are required to be expensed in 
accordance with GAAP. Prior to 2009, acquisition costs for business combinations were capitalized; however, beginning in 2009, 
acquisition costs related to business combinations are now expensed. Our definition of MFFO also excludes disposition costs related 
to sales of investment properties. Acquisition and disposition related expenses include those paid to our Advisor and third parties. 
Management believes that excluding acquisition and disposition related costs from MFFO provides useful supplemental performance
information that is comparable over the long-term and this is consistent with management’s analysis of the operating performance of 
the REIT. 

While FFO and MFFO applicable to common shares and limited partnership units are widely used by REITs as performance metrics,
not REITs use the same definition of FFO and MFFO or calculate FFO and MFFO in the same way. The FFO and MFFO 
reconciliations presented here are not necessarily comparable to FFO and MFFO presented by other REITs. FFO and MFFO should 
also not be considered as an alternative to net income as determined in accordance with GAAP as a measure of a REIT’s performance, 
but rather should be considered as an additional, supplemental measure, and should be viewed in conjunction with net income as
presented in the consolidated financial statements included in this report. FFO and MFFO applicable to common shares and limited 
partnership units do not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP, and are not necessarily 
indicative of sufficient cash flow to fund a REIT’s needs or its ability to service indebtedness or to make cash dividends to 
shareholders. 

The following table includes calculations of FFO and MFFO, and the reconciliations to net income for the years ended December 31, 
2012 and 2011, respectively. We believe this calculation is the most comparable GAAP financial measure (in thousands): 
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Reconciliation of Net Income Attributable to INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust to FFO and MFFO Applicable to 
Common Shares and Limited Partnership Units  

       
  2012  2011   

 
 Amount  

Weighted Avg 
Shares & Units(1)  

Per Share 
& Unit(2)  Amount  

Weighted Avg 
Shares & Units(1)  

Per Share 
& Unit(2) 

 
 

Net Income attributable to 
                       

 
 INREIT Real Estate 

                       
 

 Investment Trust 
 

$ 2,707,000 
   

4,733,000 
  

$ 0.57 
  

$ 1,727,000 
   

3,771,000 
  

$ 0.46  
 Add back: 

                       
 

 Noncontrolling Interest - OPU 
  

6,392,000 
   

11,008,000 
       

4,895,000 
   

10,714,000 
    

 
 Depreciation & Amortization from continuing 

operations 
  

11,239,000 
           

10,247,000 
        

 

 Depreciation & Amortization from discontinued 
operations 

  
1,000 

           
53,000 

        

 

 Pro rata share of unconsolidated affiliate 
depreciation & amortization 

  
392,000 

           
27,000 

        

 

 Loss on depreciable asset sales 
  

88,000 
           

67,000 
        

 
 Subtract: 

                       
 

 Gains on depreciable asset sales 
  

(114,000 ) 
          

(367,000 ) 
       

 
 Funds from Operations (FFO) applicable to 

common shares and limited partnership units 
 

$ 20,705,000 
   

15,741,000 
  

$ 1.32 
  

$ 16,649,000 
   

14,485,000 
  

$ 1.15 
 

 Add back: 
                       

 
 Acquisition and disposition expenses 

  
763,000 

           
918,000 

        
 

 Modified Funds from Operations (MFFO) 
 

$ 21,468,000 
   

15,741,000 
  

$ 1.36 
  

$ 17,567,000 
   

14,485,000 
  

$ 1.21  
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

 
(1) Limited partnership units of the operating partnership may be exchanged for our common shares on a one-for-one basis pursuant to redemption 

requests.  Please see Note 12 to the consolidated financials included in this report for more information.  
(2) Net Income is calculated on a per share basis. FFO and MFFO are calculated on a per share and unit basis.  
 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

As of December 31, 2012, we had no significant off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation 
S-K.  

Recent Developments  

Common Share Dividends. On January 15, 2013, we paid a dividend or distribution of $0.2065 per share on our common shares of 
beneficial interest, to common shareholders and limited unit holders of record on December 31, 2012. Subsequent to December 31, 
2012, our Board of Trustees approved a plan to increase our quarterly dividend or distribution to $0.2100 from $0.2065 per common 
share and limited partnership unit, effective with the next quarterly dividend planned for April 15, 2013. All future dividends remain 
subject to the discretion of our Board of Trustees.  

In January 2013, the operating partnership purchased a property occupied by an implement dealership in Redwood Falls, Minnesota 
for approximately $4.7 million. The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units, assumption of a mortgage 
and cash. The purchase price allocation is not yet complete. 

In February 2013, the operating partnership purchased seven apartment complexes in Fargo, North Dakota for approximately $7.3 
million.  The purchases were financed with the issuance of limited partnership units and cash.  The purchase price allocation is not yet 
complete. 

In February 2013, the operating partnership purchased an apartment complex in Grand Forks, North Dakota for approximately $4.4 
million.  The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units and cash.  The purchase price allocation is not yet 
complete.   

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET DATA  
Not required.  

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA  
Our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report are listed in Item 15 and begin immediately after the signature 
pages.  
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 
10-K (the “Evaluation Date”). Based upon the evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded as of the 
Evaluation Date that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our 
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, and is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal 
executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a comprehensive system of internal control over financial reporting 
to provide reasonable assurance of the proper authorization of transactions, the safeguarding of assets and the reliability of the 
financial records.  Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and Board of 
Trustees regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.  The system of internal control over 
financial reporting provides for appropriate division of responsibility and is documented by written policies and procedures that are 
communicated to employees.  The framework upon which management relied in evaluating the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting was set forth in Internal Controls – Integrated Framework published by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organization of the Treadway Commission.  

Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. Our 
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
disposition of our assets;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., and that our receipts and 
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorization of our management and trustees; and 

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Based on the results of our evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of 
December 31, 2012.  However, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may 
become inadequate because of changes in our business or other conditions, or that the degree of compliance with our policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.

Inherent Limitations of Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any control system. A control system, no matter how well conceived and 
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance that its objectives are met.  No evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance 
that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within us have been detected.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness 
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or because the degree of 
compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.  

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) under the 
Exchange Act) during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2012 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 

None.

PART III 

The information required in Item 10 (Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance), Item 11 (Executive Compensation), 
Item 12 (Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters), Item 13 (Certain 
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence), and Item 14 (Principal Accountant Fees and Services) will be 
incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC or 
filed by amendment to this Annual Report on or before April 30, 2013.

PART IV 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) The financial statements listed below are included in this report

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(3) Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused the
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

Dated: March 29, 2013
INREIT REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

By: /s/ KENNETH P. REGAN 
Kenneth P. Regan

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on 
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signature Title Date

/s/ KENNETH P. REGAN 
(Kenneth P. Regan)

Chief Executive Officer and Trustee
(principal executive officer)

March 29, 2013

/s/ PETER J. WINGER 
(Peter J. Winger)

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(principal financial officer)

March 29, 2013

/s/ BRUCE W. FURNESS 
(Bruce W. Furness)

Chairman of the Board of Trustees March 29, 2013

/s/ CLIFFORD FEARING 
(Clifford Fearing)

Trustee March 29, 2013

/s/ JAMES R. HANSEN 
(James R. Hansen)

Trustee March 29, 2013

/s/ TIMOTHY HUNT 
(Timothy Hunt)

Trustee March 29, 2013

/s/ LAWRENCE R. O’CALLAGHAN 
(Lawrence R. O’Callaghan)

Trustee March 29, 2013

/s/ RICHARD SAVAGEAU
(Richard Savageau)

Trustee March 29, 2013

/s/ JAMES S. WIELAND 
(James S. Wieland)

Trustee March 29, 2013

/s/ LANCE R. WOLF 
(Lance R. Wolf)

Trustee March 29, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust 
Fargo, North Dakota 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust as of December 31, 2012 
and 2011, and the related statements of operations and other comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of 
the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.  Our audits also included the consolidated financial statement 
schedule listed in the Index at Item 15.  INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust’s management is responsible for these statements.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement.  The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control 
over financial reporting.  Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes examining, on 
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2012 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic 
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. 
 
/s/ Widmer Roel PC 
 
Fargo, North Dakota 
March 12, 2013 
 
   

  

4334 18th Avenue S., Suite 101 • Fargo, ND 58103-7414 
Phone:(701) 237-6022 • (888) 237-6022 • Fax: (701) 280-1495 • www.widmerroelcpa.com 
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Part I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1. Financial Statements 
 
INREIT REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
AT DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011  

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

2012 2011
ASSETS
Property and equipment, less accumulated depreciation $355,966,000 355,662,000$       
Cash and cash equivalents 4,556,000 3,193,000
Restricted deposits and funded reserves 3,471,000 3,398,000             
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 4,338,000 1,507,000             
Due from related party 337,000 368,000
Receivables 2,664,000 2,629,000
Prepaid expenses 860,000 709,000
Notes receivable 4,000 1,807,000             
Financing costs, less accumulated amortization 2,436,000 2,360,000             
  of $1,556,000 in 2012 and $1,012,000 in 2011
Assets held for sale -                            450,000
Rent incentive, less accumulated amortization 1,183,000 1,283,000             
  of $317,000 in 2012 and $217,000 in 2011
Intangible assets, less accumulated amortization 9,135,000 7,178,000             
  of $2,606,000 in 2012 and $1,661,000 in 2011
Other assets 145,000 724,000

$385,095,000 381,268,000$       

(continued on next page)

As of December 31,
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INREIT REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
AT DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011  

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

         

2012 2011
LIABILITIES
Mortgage notes payable $208,961,000 217,480,000$           
Notes payable -                                 8,000,000
Special assessments payable 1,644,000 1,574,000
Dividends payable 3,395,000 2,946,000
Due to related party 112,000 67,000
Tenant security deposits payable 1,759,000 1,530,000
Investment certificates 1,417,000 1,444,000
Unfavorable leases, net 1,191,000 519,000                    
Accounts payable - trade 114,000 9,000
Liabilities related to assets held for sale -                                 6,000                        
Fair value of interest rate swap 492,000 453,000                    
Deferred insurance proceeds 105,000 49,000                      
Accrued expenses 2,714,000 2,966,000                 
          Total Liabilities 221,904,000 237,043,000             

Commitments - Note 17

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Noncontrolling interest in operating partnership 109,166,000 108,542,000
Beneficial interest 54,517,000 36,136,000               
Accumulated comprehensive loss (492,000) (453,000)                  

163,191,000 144,225,000             

$385,095,000 381,268,000$           

As of December 31,
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INREIT REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011  

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

2012 2011
Income from rental operations

Real estate rental income $50,769,000 45,089,000$        
Tenant reimbursements 3,679,000 4,227,000            

54,448,000 49,316,000          

Expenses
Expenses from rental operations

Interest 11,812,000 12,031,000          
Depreciation and amortization 11,239,000 10,247,000
Real estate taxes 5,836,000 5,574,000            
Property management fees 4,316,000 3,851,000
Utilities 3,555,000 3,313,000            
Repairs and maintenance 5,400,000 4,763,000
Insurance 899,000 799,000               

43,057,000 40,578,000          

Administration of REIT
Administration expenses 259,000 134,000               
Advisory fees 1,313,000 765,000               
Acquisition and disposition expenses 735,000 794,000               
Trustee fees 64,000 41,000                 
Legal and accounting 493,000 641,000               
Loss on impairment of property 262,000 264,000               

3,126,000 2,639,000            

Total expenses 46,183,000 43,217,000          

Income from operations 8,265,000 6,099,000            

(continued on next page)
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INREIT REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011  

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

2012 2011

Income from operations 8,265,000$      6,099,000$      

Other income
Equity in income of unconsolidated affiliates 788,000 64,000             
Interest income 78,000 239,000           
Gain on bargain purchase -                       100,000           

866,000 403,000           

Income from continuing operations 9,131,000 6,502,000        

Discontinued operations - Note 18 -                       116,000           

Net income 9,131,000$      6,618,000$      

Net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest 6,424,000 4,891,000        

Net income attributable to INREIT
  Real Estate Investment Trust 2,707,000$      1,727,000$      

Net income per common share, 
  basic and diluted $0.57 0.46$               

Comprehensive income:
Net income 9,131,000$      6,618,000$      

Other comprehensive income (loss) - increase (decrease)
     in fair value of interest rate swap (39,000)            (258,000)          

Comprehensive income 9,092,000 6,360,000        
Comprehensive income attributable
     to noncontrolling interest 6,396,000$      4,700,000$      
Comprehensive income attributable
     to INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust 2,696,000$      1,660,000$      
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INREIT REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011  

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   

  

Common 
Shares 

  

Common 
Shares 

Amount 
  

Accumulated 
Earnings 
(Deficit) 

  

Total 
Beneficial 

Interest 
  

Noncontrolling 
Interest 

  

Accumulated 
Comprehensive 

Loss 
  

Total 
 BALANCE, 

DECEMBER 31, 
2010 

  
3,603,000      $ 42,284,000      $ (7,439,000 )    $ 34,845,000      $ 105,012,000      $ (194,000 )    $ 139,663,000 

 Issuance of 
common 
shares 

  
151,000 

   
2,075,000 

       
2,075,000 

           
2,075,000 

 REIT common 
shares 
converted to 
UPREIT 
units 

                            Contribution of 
assets in 
exchange 
for the 
issuance of 
noncontrolli
ng interest 
share 

                  
9,664,000      

   
    9,664,000 

 Repurchase of 
shares 

  
(275,000 )      (3,470,000 )    

   
    (3,470,000 )    

   
  

   
    (3,470,000 ) 

Dividends 
          

(2,266,000 )      (2,266,000 )      (6,420,000 )    
   

    (8,686,000 ) 
Dividends 

declared 
          

(764,000 )      (764,000 )      (2,182,000 )    
   

    (2,946,000 ) 
Dividends 

reinvested - 
stock 
dividend 

  
138,000        1,834,000      

   
    1,834,000      

   
  

   
    1,834,000 

 UPREIT units 
converted to 
REIT 
common 
shares 

  
180,000        2,286,000      

   
    2,286,000        (2,286,000 ) 

      
—  

 Syndication 
costs 

          
(131,000 )      (131,000 )      (138,000 )    

   
    (269,000 ) 

Decrease in 
fair value of 
interest rate 
swap 

                      
(258,000 )      (258,000 ) 

Net income 
          

1,727,000        1,727,000        4,891,000      
   

    6,618,000 
                              BALANCE, 

DECEMBER 31, 
2011 

  

 
3,797,000      $ 45,009,000,      $ (8,873,000 )    $ 36,136,000      $ 108,541,000      $ (452,000 )    $ 144,225,000 
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INREIT REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012  

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

  

Common 
Shares 

  

Common 
Shares Amount 

  

Accumulated 
Earnings 
(Deficit) 

  

Total 
Beneficial 

Interest 
  

Noncontrolling 
Interest 

  

Accumulated 
Comprehensive 

Loss 
  

Total 
 BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 

2011 
  
3,797,000 

  
$ 45,009,000 

  
$ (8,873,000 )  

 
$ 36,136,000 

  
$ 108,541,000 

  
$ (452,000 )  

 
$ 144,225,000 

 Issuance of common shares 
  
1,584,000 

   
21,766,000 

       
21,766,000 

           
21,766,000 

 Contribution of assets in 
exchange for the 
issuance of 
noncontrolling interest 
shares 

                  
5,546,000 

       
5,546,000 

 Repurchase of shares 
  

(415,000 )  
  

(5,260,000 )  
      

(5,260,000 )  
          

(5,260,000 )  
Dividends 

          
(2,927,000 )  

  
(2,927,000 )  

  
(6,804,000 )  

      
(9,731,000 )  

Dividends declared 
          

(1,096,000 )  
  

(1,096,000 )  
  

(2,299,000 )  
      

(3,395,000 )  
Dividends reinvested - 

stock dividend 
  

182,000 
   

2,408,000 
       

2,408,000 
           

2,408,000 
 UPREIT units converted to 

REIT common shares 
  

162,000 
   

2,117,000 
       

2,117,000 
   

(2,117,000 )  
      

— 
 Syndication costs 

          
(1,334,000 )  

  
(1,334,000 )  

  
(125,000 )  

      
(1,459,000 )  

Decrease in fair value of 
interest rate swap 

                      
(40,000 )  

  
(40,000 )  

Net income 
          

2,707,000 
   

2,707,000 
   

6,424,000 
       

9,131,000 
                              BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 

2012 
  
5,310,000 

  
$ 66,040,000 

  
$ (11,523,000 )  

 
$ 54,517,000 

  
$ 109,166,000 

  
$ (492,000 )  

 
$ 163,191,000 
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INREIT REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011 

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

  
2012 

  
2011 

 OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
        Net income 
 
$ 9,131,000 

  
$ 6,618,000 

 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities 
        Gain on sale of property and equipment 
  

(114,000 )  
  

(367,000 )  
Loss on sale of property and equipment 

  
88,000 

   
67,000 

 Bargain purchase on business combinations 
  

—   
  

(100,000 )  
Loss on impairment of property 

  
262,000 

   
264,000 

 Equity in income of unconsolidated affiliates 
  

(788,000 )  
  

(64,000 )  
Depreciation 

  
9,650,000 

   
8,931,000 

 Amortization 
  

1,590,000 
   

1,391,000 
 Effects on operating cash flows due to changes in 

        Tenant security deposits 
  

(218,000 )  
  

(238,000 )  
Due from related party 

  
31,000   

  
(17,000 )  

Receivables 
  

(428,000 )  
  

(442,000 )  
Prepaid expenses 

  
(161,000 )  

  
(234,000 )  

Other assets 
  

577,000   
  

(579,000 )  
Due to related party 

  
46,000   

  
(166,000 )  

Tenant security deposits payable 
  

229,000 
   

317,000 
 Accounts payable 

  
104,000   

  
(144,000 )  

Accrued expenses 
  

95,000 
   

163,000 
 

         

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
  

20,094,000 
   

15,400,000 
 

         

 
  

  
2012 

  
2011 

 INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
        Purchase of property and equipment 
  

(12,325,000 )  
  

(15,222,000 )  
Purchase of intangible assets 

  
(777,000 )  

  
(1,588,000 )  

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 
  

933,000 
   

2,825,000 
 Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 

  
(81,000 )  

  
(273,000 )  

Distributions received from unconsolidated affiliates 
  

1,003,000 
   

18,000 
 Real estate tax and insurance escrows 

  
(70,000 )  

  
522,000 

 Notes receivable payments received 
  

1,804,000 
   

54,000 
 Notes receivable issued for tenant improvements 

  
—    

  
(33,000 )  

Deferred insurance proceeds 
  

56,000 
   

42,000 
 Net payments from (deposits to) replacement reserve 

  
(50,000 )  

  
(156,000 )  

Net payments from exchange escrow 
  

— 
   

2,313,000 
 

         

NET CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
  

(9,507,000 )  
  

(11,498,000 )  
         

   

  
2012 

  
2011 

 FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
        Payments for financing costs 
  

(751,000 )  
  

(1,300,000 )  
Payments on investment certificates 

  
(27,000 )  

  
(1,012,000 )  

Principal payments on special assessments payable 
  

(161,000 )  
  

(169,000 )  
Proceeds from issuance of mortgage notes payable 

  
11,002,000 

   
7,970,000 

 Principal payments on mortgage notes payable 
  

(16,062,000 )  
  

(12,774,000 )  
Net change in short-term notes payable 

  
(8,000,000 ) 

  
8,000,000 

 Proceeds from issuance of shares 
  

21,766,000 
   

2,075,000 
 Repurchase of shares 

  
(5,260,000 )  

  
(3,470,000 )  

Distributions paid 
  

(10,269,000 )  
  

(9,458,000 )  
Payment of syndication costs 

  
(1,461,000 )  

  
(580,000 )  

                                      NET CASH FLOWS USED FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

  

(9,223,000 )  

  

(10,718,000 )  
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INREIT REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011 

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

  
         
  

2012 
  

2011 
 NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  
1,363,000   

  
(6,816,000 )  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 
  

3,193,000 
   

10,009,000 
 

         

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 
 

$ 4,556,000 
  

$ 3,193,000 
 

         

SCHEDULE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
        Cash paid during the period for interest 
 

$ 11,877,000 
  

$ 12,022,000 
 

         

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
        Distributions reinvested 
 

$ 2,408,000 
  

$ 1,834,000 
 

         

Distributions declared and not paid 
 

$ 1,096,000 
  

$ 764,000 
 

         

UPREIT distributions declared and not paid 
 

$ 2,299,000 
  

$ 2,182,000 
 

         

UPREIT units converted to REIT common shares 
 

$ 2,117,000 
  

$ 2,286,000 
 

         

Acquisition of assets in exchange for the issuance of noncontrolling interest shares in UPREIT 
 

$ 5,546,000 
  

$ 9,664,000 
 

         

Acquisition of assets through assumption of debt and property purchased with financing 
 

$ 7,569,000 
  

$ 30,112,000 
 

         

Increase in land improvements due to increase in special assessments payable 
 

$ 328,000 
  

$ 161,000 
 

         

Unrealized (gain) loss on interest rate swap 
 

$ 39,000 
  

$ 258,000 
 

         

Acquisition of assets with reduction of notes receivable 
 

$ — 
  

$ 89,000 
 

         

(continued on next page) 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION  
INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust (“INREIT”) is a registered, but unincorporated, business trust organized in North Dakota in 
November 2002. INREIT has elected to be taxed as a Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”) under Sections 856-860 of the Internal 
Revenue Code, which requires that 75% of the assets of a REIT must consist of real estate assets and that 75% of its gross income 
must be derived from real estate. The net income of the REIT is allocated in accordance with the stock ownership in the same fashion 
as a regular corporation.  

INREIT previously established an operating partnership (INREIT Properties, LLLP) and transferred all of its assets and liabilities to 
the operating partnership in exchange for general partnership units. As the general partner, INREIT has management responsibility for 
all activities of the operating partnership. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, INREIT owned approximately 32.3% and 25.8%, 
respectively, of the operating partnership. The operating partnership is the 100% owner of 25 single asset limited liability companies 
and the 81.25% owner, the 50% owner, and the 40.26% owner in 3 additional single asset LLLPs or LLCs.  

NOTE 2 – PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
Basis of presentation  
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of INREIT and all subsidiaries for which we maintain a 
controlling interest.  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”) and require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the 
reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

Principles of Consolidation  
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of INREIT, INREIT Properties, LLLP and 28 single asset limited liability 
companies. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.  

Additionally, we evaluate the need to consolidate affiliates based on standards set forth in the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810, Consolidation (“ASC 810”). In determining whether we have a 
controlling interest in an affiliate and the requirement to consolidate the accounts of that entity, management considers factors such as 
ownership interest, authority to make decisions and contractual and substantive participating rights of the limited partners and 
shareholders as well as whether the entity is a variable interest entity for which we are the primary beneficiary.  

Principal Business Activity  
INREIT is the sole general partner of the operating partnership, which owns and operates the following property:  

Residential Property  

 
•  2,458 and 204 units respectively in Fargo and West Fargo, North Dakota.  

 
•  551 units in Grand Forks, North Dakota.  

 
•  470 units in Bismarck, North Dakota.  

 
•  316 units in Omaha, Nebraska.  

 
•  14 units in Hawley, Minnesota.  

 
•  414 units in Eagan, Minnesota.  

 
•  116 units in Moorhead, Minnesota.  

 
•  193 unit assisted living facility in Bismarck, North Dakota.  

Commercial Property  

 
•  15,010 square foot office building in Minot, North Dakota.  

 
•  8,000 square foot office building in Norfolk, Nebraska.  

 
•  15,000 square foot office and retail complex in Fargo, North Dakota.  

 
•  28,500 square foot office and retail complex in Fargo, North Dakota.  

 
•  30,200 square foot retail facility in Waite Park, Minnesota.  

 
•  17,000 square foot office building in Fargo, North Dakota.  

 
•  124,306 square foot office complex in Fargo, North Dakota.  

 
•  10,810 square foot office building in St. Cloud, Minnesota.  

 
•  95,961 square foot office building in Duluth, Minnesota.  

 
•  11,973 square foot office building in Fargo, North Dakota.  

 
•  21,492 square foot office building and 1,625 square foot storage area in Grand Forks, North Dakota.  
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•  102,448 square foot office building in Edina, Minnesota.  

 
•  5,043 square foot restaurant in Bloomington, Minnesota.  

 
•  5,576 square foot restaurant in Coon Rapids, Minnesota.  

 
•  4,936 square foot restaurant in Savage, Minnesota.  

 
•  7,296 square foot restaurant in Austin, Texas.  

 
•  15,400 square foot commercial building in Mandan, North Dakota.  

 
•  4,997 square foot restaurant in Apple Valley, Minnesota.  

 
•  2,712 square foot restaurant in Moorhead, Minnesota.  

 
•  3,510 square foot office building in Moorhead, Minnesota.  

 
•  2,811 square foot restaurant in Dickinson, North Dakota.  

 
•  42,000 square foot retail building in Marshall, Minnesota.  

 
•  17,760 square foot retail building in Dickinson, North Dakota.  

 
•  23,690 square foot retail building in Minot, North Dakota.  

 •  29,800 square foot retail building in Fargo, North Dakota. 

 
•  100,600 square foot office building in Fargo, North Dakota.  

The operating partnership is the owner of a single asset limited liability company which owns and leases a commercial building with 
approximately 31,000 square feet of rental space in Fargo, North Dakota. 
 
The operating partnership is the owner of a single asset limited liability company which owns and leases two 36 unit residential 
apartment buildings in Grand Forks, North Dakota.  

The operating partnership is the owner of a single asset limited liability company which owns and leases a 136 unit residential 
apartment complex in Bismarck, North Dakota.  

The operating partnership is the owner of a single asset limited liability company which owns and leases two commercial buildings 
with approximately 75,000 square feet of rental space in Bismarck, North Dakota.  

The operating partnership is the owner of a single asset limited liability company which owns and leases a 168 unit residential 
apartment complex in Omaha, Nebraska.  

The operating partnership is the owner of a single asset limited liability company which owns and leases a 75 unit residential 
apartment complex in Fargo, North Dakota.  

The operating partnership is the owner of a single asset limited liability company which owns and leases a 148 unit residential 
apartment complex in Omaha, Nebraska.  

The operating partnership is the owner of a single asset limited liability company which owns and leases a 179 unit residential 
apartment complex in Bismarck, North Dakota.  
 
The operating partnership is the owner of a single asset limited liability company which owns and leases a 116 unit residential 
apartment complex in Fargo, North Dakota.  

The operating partnership is the owner of a single asset limited liability company which owns and leases a 85 unit residential 
apartment complex in Fargo, North Dakota.  

The operating partnership is the owner of a single asset limited liability company which owns and leases a 66 unit residential 
apartment complex in Fargo, North Dakota. 
 
The operating partnership is the owner of five single asset limited liability companies which own five separate commercial properties 
totaling 72,140 square feet, located in Alexandria, Louisiana; Batesville, Arkansas; Fayetteville, Arkansas; Laurel, Mississippi; and 
Denver, Colorado.  

The operating partnership is the owner of ten single asset limited liability companies which own ten separate commercial properties 
totaling 124,686 square feet, located in Mankato, Minnesota; Janesville, Wisconsin; Eau Claire, Wisconsin; Stevens Point, Wisconsin; 
Sheboygan, Wisconsin; Oshkosh, Wisconsin; Onalaska, Wisconsin; Grand Forks, North Dakota; Marquette, Michigan; and Bismarck, 
North Dakota.  

The operating partnership is also an 81.25% owner of single asset partnership which owns and leases a 144 unit residential apartment 
complex in West Fargo, North Dakota. The remaining owners consist of Kenneth Regan, James Wieland and James Echtenkamp, 
related parties.  
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Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliates  
We account for unconsolidated affiliates using the equity method of accounting per guidance established under ASC 323, Investments 
– Equity Method and Joint Ventures (“ASC 323”). The equity method of accounting requires the investment to be initially recorded at 
cost and subsequently adjusted for our share of equity in the affiliates’ earnings and distributions. We evaluate the carrying amount of 
the investments for impairment in accordance with ASC 323. Unconsolidated affiliates are reviewed for potential impairment if the 
carrying amount of the investment exceeds its fair value. An impairment charge is recorded when an impairment is deemed to be 
other-than-temporary. To determine whether impairment is other-than-temporary, we consider whether we have the ability and intent 
to hold the investment until the carrying amount is fully recovered. The evaluation of an investment in an affiliate for potential 
impairment can require our management to exercise significant judgments. No impairment losses were recorded related to the 
unconsolidated affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.  

Through December 31, 2011, we accounted for our investment in unconsolidated affiliates using the proportional method as defined in 
ASC 970. We have not restated prior periods financial statements as we believe the accounting change does not have a material effect 
on those statements. 

Investment in unconsolidated affiliates as of December 31, 2012 consists of our 40.26% interest in a single asset limited liability 
company which owns a 144 unit residential, multi-tenant apartment complex in Bismarck, North Dakota; our 50.00% interest in a 
single asset limited liability company which owns 183,000 square feet of commercial space in Grand Forks, North Dakota; and our 
66.67% interest as tenant in common in an office building with approximately 75,000 square feet of commercial space in Fargo, North 
Dakota. Consolidation of these investments is not required as the entities do not qualify as variable interest entities and do not meet 
the control requirements for consolidation, as defined in ASC 810. We and the respective affiliate partners must approve significant 
decisions about the applicable entity’s activities. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the unconsolidated affiliates held total assets of 
$29.0 million and $29.6 million and mortgage notes payable of $21.6 million and $22.0 million, respectively.  

The operating partnership holds a 50.00% interest in the Grand Forks Marketplace Retail Center, located in Grand Forks, North 
Dakota, through 100% ownership in a limited liability company, which owns a 1/3 interest in the Retail Center, and a 50% ownership 
in a separate limited liability company, which owns a 1/3 interest in the Retail Center.  

Concentration of Credit Risk  
Our cash balances are maintained in various bank deposit accounts. The bank deposit amounts in these accounts may exceed federally 
insured limits at various times throughout the year.  

Use of Estimates  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
 
Property and Equipment  
We account for our property acquisitions by allocating the purchase price of a property to the property’s assets based on 
management’s estimates of fair value. Techniques used to estimate fair value include appraisals of the properties by a certified 
independent appraiser at the time of acquisition.  

Equipment, furniture and fixtures purchased are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. All costs associated with the 
development and construction of real estate investments, including acquisition fees and interest, are capitalized as a cost of the 
property. Expenditures for renewals and improvements that significantly add to the productive capacity or extend the useful life of an 
asset are capitalized. Expenditures for routine maintenance and repairs, which do not add to the value or extend useful lives, are 
charged to expense as incurred.  

Depreciation is provided for over the estimated useful lives of the individual assets using the straight-line method over the following 
estimated useful lives:  
 

     Buildings and improvements 
  

40 years 
 Furniture and fixtures 

  
9 years 

 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, totaled $9,650,000 and $8,931,000, respectively.  

Annually, we evaluate our real estate investments for significant operational changes to assess whether any impairment indications are 
present, including recurring operating losses or significant adverse changes in legal factors or business climate that affect the recovery 
of the recorded value. If any real estate investment is considered impaired, a loss is provided to reduce the carrying value of the 
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property to its estimated fair value.  Based on evaluation, management recorded loss on impairment of property of $262,000 and 
264,000 as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  
We classify highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased as cash equivalents.  

Receivables  
Receivables consist primarily of amounts due for rent and real estate taxes. The receivables are non-interest bearing. The carrying 
amount of receivables is reduced by an amount that reflects management’s best estimates of the amounts that will not be collected. As 
of December 31, 2012 and 2011, management determined that no allowance was necessary for uncollectible receivables.  

Other assets  
Lease intangibles represent a proportional purchase price allocation of a property acquisition. The lease intangibles represent the 
estimated value of in-place leases and above-market lease terms. Intangible assets are comprised of finite-lived and indefinite-lived 
assets. Indefinite-lived assets are not amortized. Finite-lived intangibles are amortized over their expected useful lives.  

Other intangible assets that are not deemed to have an indefinite useful life are amortized over their estimated useful lives. The 
carrying amount of intangible assets that are not deemed to have an indefinite useful life is regularly reviewed for indicators of 
impairments in value. Impairment is recognized only if the carrying amount of the intangible asset is considered to be unrecoverable 
from its undiscounted cash flows and is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated fair value of the 
asset. Based on the review, management determined that impairment of intangible assets was unnecessary at December 31, 2012 or 
2011.  
 
Rental Incentives  
Rental incentives consist of up-front cash payments to lessees to sign the lease. Rental incentives are amortized against rental income 
over the term of the lease.  

Non-controlling Interest  
Interests in the operating partnership held by limited partners are represented by operating partnership units. The operating 
partnerships’ income is allocated to holders of units based upon the ratio of their holdings to the total units outstanding during the 
period. Capital contributions, distributions, syndication costs, and profits and losses are allocated to non-controlling interests in 
accordance with the terms of the operating partnership agreement.  

Financing Costs  
Financing costs incurred in connection with financing have been capitalized and are being amortized over the life of the financing 
using the effective interest method.  

Syndication Costs  
Syndication costs consist of costs paid to attorneys, accountants, and selling agents, related to the raising of capital. These fees are 
paid based on management’s discretion. Syndication costs are recorded as a reduction to equity and non-controlling interest.  

Federal Income Taxes  
We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, as amended. A REIT calculates taxable income similar to 
other domestic corporations, with the major difference being that a REIT is entitled to a deduction for dividends paid. A REIT is 
generally required to distribute each year at least 90% of its taxable income. If it chooses to retain the remaining 10% of taxable 
income, it may do so, but it will be subject to a corporate tax on such income. REIT shareholders are taxed on REIT distributions of 
ordinary income in the same manner as they are taxed on other corporate distributions.  

         
  

2012 
  

2011 
 Tax status of distributions 

        Ordinary income 
  

82.39 %  
  

68.77 %  
Return of capital 

  
15.96 %  

  
31.23 %  

Capital gain   1.65 %   — % 
         

 
  

100.00 %  
  

100.00 %  
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We intend to continue to qualify as a REIT and, as such, will not be taxed on the portion of the income that is distributed to the 
shareholders. In addition, we intend to distribute all of our taxable income; therefore, no provisions or liabilities for income taxes have 
been recorded in the financial statements.  

The operating partnership is organized as a limited liability limited partnership. Income or loss is allocated to the partners in 
accordance with the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code 704(b) and 704(c). UPREIT status allows non-recognition of gain by an 
owner of appreciated real estate if that owner contributes the real estate to a partnership in exchange for partnership interest. The 
conversion of partnership interest to shares of beneficial interest in the REIT will be a taxable event to the limited partner.  

We have adopted the provisions of FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic ASC 740-10 Accounting for Income Tax 
Uncertainties, on January 1, 2009. The implementation of this standard had no impact on the financial statements. As of both the date 
of adoption and as of December 31, 2012, the unrecognized tax benefit accrual was zero. We are no longer subject to Federal and 
State tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2009.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, No. 2011-04, Fair Value 
Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP 
and IFRSs. Effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2011, ASU No. 2011-04 clarifies how a principal market is 
determined, addresses the fair value measurement of instruments with offsetting market or counterparty credit risks and the concept of 
valuation premise and highest and best use, extends the prohibition on blockage factors to all three levels of the fair value hierarchy, 
and requires additional disclosures. ASU No. 2011-04 will only apply to our disclosures in Note 10 related to fair value assets and 
liabilities and is not expected to have a significant impact on our footnote disclosures.  

Revenue Recognition  
Generally, housing units are rented under short-term lease agreements. Generally, commercial space is rented under long-term lease 
agreements.  

We derive over 95% of our revenues from tenant rents and other tenant-related activities. Commercial tenant rents include base rents, 
expense reimbursements (such as common area maintenance, real estate taxes and utilities), and straight-line rents. We record base 
rents on a straight-line basis, which means that the monthly base rent income according to the terms of our leases with tenants is 
adjusted so that an average monthly rent is recorded for each tenant over the term of its lease. The straight-line rent adjustment 
increased revenue by $313,000 and $308,000 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The straight-line 
receivable balance included in receivables on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 was 
$1,923,000 and $1,719,000, respectively. We receive payments for these reimbursements from substantially all our multi-tenant 
commercial tenants throughout the year based on estimates. Differences between estimated recoveries and the final billed amounts, 
which have been immaterial, are recognized in the subsequent year.  

Reclassifications  
Certain amounts previously reported in our 2011 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the fiscal 2012 
presentation.  

NOTE 3 – EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE  
Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders (the “numerator”) by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding (the “denominator”) during the period. We had no outstanding options, 
warrants, convertible stock or other contractual obligations requiring issuance of additional shares that would result in dilution of 
earnings.  
 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, our denominators for basic and diluted earnings per common share were 
approximately 4,733,000 and 3,771,000 shares, respectively.  
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NOTE 4 – SEGMENT REPORTING  
Commencing January 1, 2012, we began reporting our results in two reportable segments: residential and commercial properties. Our 
residential properties include multi-family and assisted senior living properties. Our commercial properties include retail, office, 
restaurant and medical properties. We assess and measure operating results based on net operating income (“NOI”), which we define 
as total real estate segment revenues less real estate expenses (which consist of real estate taxes, property management fees, utilities, 
repairs and maintenance, insurance and direct administrative costs). We believe NOI is an important measure of operating 
performance even though it should not be considered an alternative to net income or cash flow from operating activities. NOI is 
unaffected by financing, depreciation, amortization, legal and professional fees and other general and administrative expenses.  

The accounting policies of each segment are consistent with those described in Note 2 of this report.  

Segment Revenues and Net Income  
The revenues and net operating income for our reportable segments are summarized as follows for the years ended December 31, 2012 
and 2011, along with reconciliations to the consolidated financial statements. Segment assets are also reconciled to Total Assets as 
reported in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Year ended December 31, 2012 Residential Commercial Total
Income from rental operations $37,737,000 $16,711,000 $54,448,000
Expenses from rental operations 15,835,000 4,171,000 20,006,000
Net operating income $21,902,000 $12,540,000 $34,442,000

     Interest 11,812,000
     Depreciation and amortization 11,239,000
     Administration of REIT 3,126,000
     Other (income)/expense (866,000)
Income from continuing operations $9,131,000
     Discontinued operations -                          
Net income $9,131,000

Year ended December 31, 2011 Residential Commercial Total
Income from rental operations 32,255,000$       17,061,000$         49,316,000$       
Expenses from rental operations 13,688,000         4,612,000             18,300,000         
Net operating income 18,567,000$       12,449,000$         31,016,000$       

     Interest 12,031,000         
     Depreciation and amortization 10,247,000         
     Administration of REIT 2,639,000           
     Other (income)/expense (403,000)             
Income from continuing operations 6,502,000$         
     Discontinued operations 116,000              
Net income 6,618,000$         
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Segment Assets and Depreciation  

As of December 31, 2012 Residential Commercial Total
Property and Equipment $245,494,000 $149,252,000 $394,746,000
Accumulated Depreciation (25,138,000) (13,642,000) (38,780,000)

$220,356,000 $135,610,000 $355,966,000

     Cash and cash equivalents 4,556,000
     Restricted deposits and funded reserves 3,521,000
     Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 4,338,000
     Receivables and other assets 3,960,000
     Financing costs, less accumulated amortization 2,436,000
     Rent incentive, less accumulated amortization 1,183,000
     Intangible assets, less accumulated amortization 9,135,000
Total Assets $385,095,000

As of December 31, 2011 Residential Commercial Total
Property and Equipment 235,230,000$      152,152,000$        387,382,000$           
Accumulated Depreciation (18,538,000)        (12,743,000)          (31,281,000)              
Property and equipment included in
     assets held for sale -                      (439,000)               (439,000)                   

216,692,000$      138,970,000$        355,662,000$           

     Cash and cash equivalents 3,193,000                 
     Restricted deposits and funded reserves 3,398,000                 
     Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 1,507,000                 
     Receivables and other assets 6,235,000                 
     Financing costs, less accumulated amortization 2,360,000                 
     Assets held for sale 450,000                    
     Rent incentive, less accumulated amortization 1,283,000                 
     Intangible assets, less accumulated amortization 7,178,000                 
Total Assets 381,266,000$           

 
 
NOTE 5 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

As of December 31, 2012 Residential Commercial Total
Land and land improvements $25,187,000 $30,524,000 $55,711,000
Building and improvements 205,945,000 117,261,000 323,206,000
Furniture and fixtures 14,362,000 1,467,000 15,829,000

245,494,000 149,252,000 394,746,000
Less accumulated depreciation (25,138,000) (13,642,000) (38,780,000)

$220,356,000 $135,610,000 $355,966,000

As of December 31, 2011 Residential Commercial Total
Land and land improvements 23,131,000$            27,801,000$            50,932,000$            
Building and improvements 198,290,000            122,885,000            321,175,000$          
Furniture and fixtures 13,809,000              1,466,000                15,275,000

235,230,000            152,152,000            387,382,000            
Less accumulated depreciation (18,538,000)            (12,743,000)            (31,281,000)            

216,692,000$          139,409,000$          356,101,000$          
Less:  property and equipment  
 included in assets held for sale -                          (439,000)                 (439,000)                 

216,692,000$          138,970,000$          355,662,000$          
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During 2012, we recorded an impairment loss of $262,000 on one property due to the net book value of the property and equipment 
exceeding its fair market value. The impairment of the property and equipment was as a result of incurring recurring losses, vacancies 
and negative cash flows. We estimated the undiscounted cash flows from the property and compared them to the carrying value 
resulting in an impairment loss. There were no insurance proceeds received during 2012.  

During 2011, we recorded an impairment loss of $264,000 on one property due to the net book value of the property and equipment 
exceeding its fair market value. The impairment of the property and equipment was as a result of incurring recurring losses, vacancies 
and negative cash flows. We estimated the undiscounted cash flows from the property and compared them to the carrying value 
resulting in an impairment loss. Also, during 2011, we received insurance proceeds in the amount of $492,000 for damages caused by 
a wind storm. The proceeds were used to repair damages to the buildings.   

NOTE 6 - RESTRICTED DEPOSITS AND FUNDED RESERVES  
         
  

2012 
  

2011 
 Tenant security deposits 

 
$ 1,730,000 

  
$ 1,512,000 

 Real estate tax and insurance escrows 
  

1,050,000 
   

1,034,000 
 Replacement reserves 

  
691,000 

   
852,000 

 
         

 
 

$ 3,471,000 
  

$ 3,398,000 
 

         

Tenant Security Deposits  
Pursuant to management policy, we have set aside funds to repay tenant security deposits upon tenant move-out.  

Real Estate Tax and Insurance Escrows  
Pursuant to the terms of certain mortgages and management policy, we have established and maintain real estate tax escrows and 
insurance escrows to pay real estate taxes and insurance. We are to contribute to the account monthly an amount equal to 1/12 of the 
estimated real estate taxes and insurance premiums.  

Replacement Reserves  
Pursuant to the terms of certain mortgages and management policy, we have established and maintains several replacement reserve 
accounts. We make monthly deposits into the replacement reserve accounts to be used for repairs and replacements on the property. 
Certain replacement reserve accounts require authorization from the mortgage company for withdrawals.  

Exchange Escrow  
We have established an exchange escrow account in order to facilitate Section 1031 exchanges upon the sale of qualifying properties. 
The cash proceeds from the property sales are held in escrow until qualifying properties are purchased at which time, the cash 
necessary to purchase the replacement property is transferred to the seller.  

The balance in the exchange escrow was used in 2011 to purchase qualifying like-kind properties.  

NOTE 7 - HEDGING ACTIVITIES  
As part of our interest rate risk management strategy, we use a derivative instrument to minimize significant unanticipated earnings 
fluctuations that may arise from rising variable interest rate costs associated with existing borrowings. To meet these objectives, we 
have entered into interest rate swaps in the amount of $1,294,000 and $2,429,000 to provide a fixed rate of 7.25% and 2.57%, 
respectively. The swaps mature on April 15, 2020 and December 2017, respectively. The swaps were issued at approximate market 
terms and thus no fair value adjustment was recorded at inception. The carrying amount of the swaps have been adjusted to their fair 
values at the end of the quarter, which because of changes in forecasted levels of LIBOR resulted in reporting a liability for the fair 
value of the future net payments forecasted under the swaps. The interest rate swaps are accounted for as effective hedges in 
accordance with ASC 815-20 whereby they are recorded at fair value and changes in fair value are recorded to comprehensive income. 
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we have recorded a liability and other comprehensive loss of $492,000 and $453,000, 
respectively.  
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NOTE 8 - LEASE INTANGIBLES  
The following table summarizes the net value of other intangible assets and the accumulated amortization for each class of intangible 
asset:  

             
  

December 31, 2012 
 

  

Lease 
Intangibles 

  

Accumulated 
Amortization 

  

Lease 
Intangibles, net 

 In-place leases 
 

$ 10,034,000 
  

$ (2,375,000 )  
 

$ 7,659,000 
 Above-market leases 

  
1,706,000 

   
(230,000 )  

  
1,476,000 

 Below-market leases 
  

(1,478,000 )  
  

287,000 
   

(1,191,000 )  
             

 
 

$ 10,262,000 
  

$ (2,318,000 )  
 

$ 7,944,000 
 

             

  
  

December 31, 2011 
 

  

Lease 
Intangibles 

  

Accumulated 
Amortization 

  

Lease 
Intangibles, net 

 In-place leases 
 

$ 7,250,000 
  

$ (1,524,000 )  
 

$ 5,726,000 
 Above-market leases 

  
1,588,000 

   
(137,000 )  

  
1,451,000 

 Below-market leases 
  

(689,000 )  
  

170,000 
   

(519,000 )  
             

 
 

$ 8,149,000 
  

$ (1,491,000 )  
 

$ 6,658,000 
 

             

 
The estimated aggregate amortization expense for each of the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter is as follows:  
 

     Years ending December 31, 
 

Amount 
 2013 

 
$ 892,000 

 2014 
  

892,000 
 2015 

  
892,000 

 2016 
  

892,000 
 2017 

  
892,000 

 Thereafter 
  

3,481,000 
 

     

 
 

$ 7,944,000 
 

     

The weighted average amortization period for the intangible assets, in-place leases, above-market leases, and below-market leases 
acquired as of December 31, 2012 was 10.7 years.  

NOTE 9 - SHORT TERM NOTES PAYABLE  
We have an $11,000,000 variable rate (1-month LIBOR plus 2.50%) line of credit agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, which expires in 
November 2013; a $1,000,000 variable rate (prime rate less 0.05%) line of credit agreement and a $3,000,000 variable rate (prime 
rate) line of credit agreement with Bremer Bank, which expire in November 2013 and 2014, respectively; and a $2,000,000 variable 
rate (prime rate) line of credit agreement with Bell State Bank and Trust, which expires in June 2013. The lines of credit are secured 
by properties in Duluth, Minnesota; St. Cloud, Minnesota; and Fargo, North Dakota, respectively. At December 31, 2012, there was 
no balance outstanding on the lines of credit, leaving $17,000,000 unused under the agreements. At December 31, 2011, the 
cumulative balance outstanding on the lines of credit was $8,000,000, leaving $6,925,000 unused under the agreements.  
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NOTE 10 - MORTGAGE NOTES PAYABLE  
Mortgage notes payable consist of: 

  

Interest
Rate Per December 31, December 31,

Maturity Date Property Name (a) Annum 2012 2011

Residential Properties
October-2017 Auburn II (Arneson) 6.30% 636,000$             646,000$             
October-2017 Hunter's Run I (Arneson) 6.30% 306,000               311,000               
July-2016 Autumn Ridge 3 &4 4.50% 3,438,000 3,552,000
January-2016 Autumn Ridge 1 & 2 5.74% 2,926,000 2,981,000
December-2013 Bayview 6.73% 2,032,000 2,101,000
June-2018 Berkshire 3.75% 327,000 338,000
September-2021 Brookfield 3.75% 1,515,000 1,658,000
March-2014 Candlelight 5.67% 1,245,000 -                          
September-2036 Carling Manor 4.40% 552,000 565,000
December-2013 Carlton 1 - 3 5.60% 2,189,000 2,242,000
June-2013 Carlton Place 6.96% 1,920,000 1,986,000
January-2016 Colony Manor 5.96% -                          869,000
February-2017 Colony Manor 3.63% 853,000 -                          
September-2014 Columbia West 7.80% 1,447,000 1,487,000
November-2024 Country Club 4.37% 663,000 705,000
October-2019 Danbury 5.03% 3,112,000 3,183,000
March-2017 Eagle Run 3.95% 4,838,000 4,955,000
June-2018 Emerald Court 3.75% 669,000 691,000
March-2017 Fairview 3.95% 3,325,000 3,387,000
June-2013 Flickertail 6.96% 2,823,000 2,921,000
December-2017 Galleria III 4.75% 646,000 661,000
August-2016 Glen Pond 6.30% 16,405,000 16,694,000
March-2017 Hunter 3.95% 1,236,000 1,267,000
September-2014 Islander 6.00% 506,000 523,000
December-2017 Library Lane 6.10% 1,950,000 1,982,000
May-2021 Maple Ridge 5.69% 4,413,000 4,469,000
March-2017 Maplewood Bend 3.95% 3,513,000 3,598,000
September-2017 Oak Court 5.98% 1,892,000 1,920,000
October-2015 Parkwood 5.96% -                          978,000
February-2017 Parkwood 3.63% 1,254,000 -                          
January-2013 Pebble Creek 5.72% 2,530,000 2,596,000
June-2018 Prairiewood Courts 3.75% 1,616,000 1,669,000
October-2020 Prairiewood Meadows 6.17% 2,429,000 -                          
December-2013 Richfield/Harrison 6.67% 2,577,000 2,665,000
September-2017 Rosegate 5.93% 2,411,000 2,447,000
September-2036 Saddlebrook 4.40% 1,135,000 1,161,000
August-2019 Sierra Ridge Phase I 5.46% 2,731,000 2,790,000
November-2019 Sierra Ridge Phase II 5.92% 3,429,000 3,491,000 (b)
December-2012 Somerset 5.60% -                          1,889,000
October-2022 Somerset 4.01% 3,375,000 -                          
July-2021 Southgate 5.96% 3,081,000 3,139,000

Principal Balance At
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(a) Mortgages are secured by the respective properties, assignment of rents, business assets, deeds to secure debt, deeds of trust 

and/or cash deposits with lender unless otherwise noted in (b) – (d).  
(b) Mortgage is secured by the property and guaranty of owners.  
(c) Variable rate mortgage notes payable, adjusted every three years.  
(d) Secured by mortgage on property and corporate guaranty.  
(e) Accounted for as an investment in unconsolidated affiliate as of January 1, 2012.  

Interest
Rate Per December 31, December 31,

Maturity Date Property Name (a) Annum 2012 2011
August-2016 Southview III 4.50% 242,000 248,000
December-2017 Southview Villages 6.10% 2,131,000 2,166,000
April-2015 Stonybrook 5.40% 5,684,000 5,786,000
January-2022 Sunset Ridge 4.44% 9,300,000 9,435,000
May-2019 Sunview 5.75% 1,261,000 1,290,000
January-2013 Sunwood Estates 7.18% -                          1,858,000
June-2019 Terrace on the Green 6.53% 2,192,000 -                          
March-2014 Twin Parks 5.75% -                          1,661,000 (d)
October-2022 Twin Parks 4.01% 2,400,000 -                          
May-2019 Village 5.75% 1,112,000 1,138,000
July-2016 Village Park 6.15% 911,000 936,000
June-2018 Westwind 3.75% 372,000 384,000
March-2017 Westwood 3.95% 5,231,000 5,410,000
July-2013 Willow Park 6.96% 2,529,000 2,616,000
June-2015 EV-Bismarck 5.64% 14,956,000 15,327,000

Commercial Properties
September-2017 Guardian Building Products 3.45% 2,404,000$          -$                        
November-2016 Titan Machinery - Dickinson, ND 4.23% 420,000 -                          
April-2017 Titan Machinery - Fargo, ND 4.18% 1,241,000 -                          
January-2017 Titan Machinery - Marshall, MN 4.55% 2,366,000 2,445,000
August-2017 Titan Machinery - Minot, ND 3.29% 1,816,000 -                          
March-2016 Bio-life Properties - ND, MN, WI (9 total) 7.56% 9,938,000 10,942,000
December-2016 Bio-life Properties - Marquette, MI 7.06% 1,421,000 1,567,000
August-2017 Aetna 5.93% 7,066,000 7,179,000
August-2022 Banner Building 7.04% See (e) 5,053,000
December-2013 CFB 4.00% 2,342,000 2,401,000
February-2015 Echelon 4.25% 1,223,000 1,286,000
April-2018 Gate City 3.97% 1,085,000 1,115,000 (c) 
September-2020 Goldmark Office Park 5.33% 5,224,000 5,754,000
August-2013 Grand Forks Marketplace 5.26% See (e) 5,975,000
April-2020 Great American Building 7.25% 1,106,000 1,136,000
April-2016 Midtown Plaza 5.31% -                          704,000
October-2015 Regis 5.68% 9,740,000 9,939,000
April-2017 Dairy Queen - Dickinson, ND 3.63% 749,000 -                          
January-2016 Mandan Commercial 5.25% -                          1,087,000
December-2012 Moorhead Commercial 3.00% -                          554,000
April-2025 Walgreens-Alexandria 5.69% 2,226,000 2,347,000
March-2034 Walgreens-Batesville 6.85% 6,602,000 6,736,000
June-2021 Walgreens-Colorado 4.50% 4,447,000 4,550,000
August-2033 Walgreens-Fayetteville 6.85% 5,077,000 5,185,000
October-2024 Walgreens-Laurel 6.07% 2,202,000 2,322,000
December-2013 Westpointe Center 5.50% -                          2,431,000

208,961,000$      217,480,000$      

Principal Balance At
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The mortgage note agreements include covenants that, in part, impose maintenance of certain debt service coverage and debt to worth 
ratios. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we were in compliance with all covenants with the exception of one loan on a retail 
property in Fargo, North Dakota for which we have received a one year waiver on January 1, 2011 from the lender. The property was 
out of compliance with the lender’s debt service coverage ratio requirement as of December 31, 2011. The note was paid off in March 
2012. 

We are required to make the following principal payments on our outstanding mortgage notes payable for each of the five succeeding 
fiscal years and thereafter as follows:  
 

     Years ending December 31, 
 

Amount 
 2013 

 
$ 22,924,000 

 2014 
  

11,945,000 
 2015 

  
36,232,000 

 2016 
  

33,689,000 
 2017 

  
43,586,000 

 Thereafter 
  

60,585,000 
 

     

Total Payments 
 

$ 208,961,000 
 

     

NOTE 11 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT  
FASB issued ASC 820-10 in September 2006 and ASC 825-10 in February 2007. Both standards address the aspects of the expanding 
application of fair value accounting. Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted ASC 820-10 and ASC 825-10. There were no adjustments 
to accumulated deficit as a result of the adoption of ASC 820-10. ASC 825-10 permits a company to measure certain financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value that were not previously required to be measured at fair value. We have elected not to measure any 
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value which were not previously required to be measured at fair value.  
 
ASC 820-10 established a three-level valuation hierarchy for fair value measurement. Management uses these valuation techniques to 
establish the fair value of the assets at the measurement date. These valuation techniques are based upon observable and unobservable 
inputs. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect management’s 
assumptions. These two types of inputs create the following fair value hierarchy:  

 
•  Level 1 – Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets;  

 
•  Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in 

markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations whose significant inputs are observable;  

 
•  Level 3 – Instruments whose significant inputs are unobservable.  

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis in accordance with ASC 820-10:  
                 

Liabilities 
 

Total as of 
12/31/12 

  

Quoted 
Prices: 
Level 1 

  

Significant 
Other 

Inputs: 
Level 2 

  

Significant 
Nonobservable 
Inputs: Level 3 

 Fair value of interest rate swap 
 

$ 492,000 
  

$ —  
  

$ 492,000 
  

$ —  
 

                 

                 

Liabilities 
 

Total as of 
12/31/11 

  

Quoted 
Prices: 
Level 1 

  

Significant 
Other 

Inputs: 
Level 2 

  

Significant 
Nonobservable 
Inputs: Level 3 

 Fair value of interest rate swap 
 

$ 453,000 
  

$ —  
  

$ 453,000 
  

$ —  
 

                 

NOTE 12 - NONCONTROLLING INTEREST OF UNITHOLDERS IN OPERATING PARTNERSHIP  
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, limited partnership units totaled 11,134,000 and 10,900,000, respectively. As of December 31, 
2012 and 2011, the limited partnership declared distributions of $2,299,000 and $2,182,000, respectively, to limited partnersx. 
Distributions per unit were $0.826000 and $0.805000 for 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

During 2012 and 2011, limited partners exchanged 162,000 and 180,000 limited partnership units for 162,000 and 180,000 INREIT 
common shares valued at $2,117,000 and $2,286,000, respectively, pursuant to redemption requests.  

Limited partners in the operating partnership have the right to require the operating partnership to redeem their limited partnership 
units for cash after a one year holding period. Upon such a redemption request, we have the right to purchase the limited partnership 
units in lieu of the operating partnership either with cash or INREIT common shares, in our discretion, on the basis of one limited 
partnership unit for one INREIT common share. However, payment will be in cash if the issuance of INREIT common shares will 
cause the shareholder to exceed the ownership limitations, among other reasons. No limited partner will be permitted more than two 
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redemptions during any calendar year, and no redemptions may be made for less than 1,000 limited partnership units or, if such 
limited partner owns less than 1,000 limited partnership units, all of the limited partnership units held by such limited partner.  

NOTE 13 – SHARE REPURCHASE PLAN  

On March 11, 2011, our Board of Trustees approved a share repurchase plan that enables our shareholders to sell their common shares 
and the partners of our operating partnership to sell their limited partnership units to us, after they have held the securities for at least 
one year and subject to other conditions and limitations described in the plan. Originally, the maximum amount of securities that could 
be repurchased under this plan was $5 million, and the repurchase price was fixed at $12.60 per share or unit under the plan.  

On June 7, 2012 and December 20, 2012, our Board of Trustees amended and restated our share repurchase plan to increase the 
maximum amount that can be repurchased under the plan to $15 million worth of securities and increased the fixed repurchase price to 
$12.75 per share or unit under the plan.  

We may repurchase securities under the plan if we have sufficient funds to do so. Repurchases may be made quarterly, on a pro rata 
basis, based on receipt of written repurchase requests. The share repurchase plan will terminate in the event the shares become listed 
on any national securities exchange, the subject of bona fide quotes on any inter-dealer quotation system or electronic communications 
network or are the subject of bona fide quotes in the pink sheets. Additionally, the Board, in its sole discretion, may terminate, amend 
or suspend the repurchase plan if it determines to do so is in our best interest. 

NOTE 14 - BENEFICIAL INTEREST  
We are authorized to issue 100,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest with $.01 par value and 50,000,000 preferred shares with 
$0.01 par value, which collectively represent the beneficial interest of INREIT. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, there were 
5,308,000 and 3,796,000, respectively, common shares outstanding. We had no preferred shares outstanding as of either date.  

Dividends paid to holders of common shares were $0.826000 and $0.805000 per share for the years ending December 31, 2012 and 
2011, respectively.  

NOTE 15 – DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN 

Our Board of Trustees approved a dividend reinvestment plan to provide existing holders of our common shares with a convenient 
method to purchase additional common shares without payment of brokerage commissions, fees or service charges, except brokerage 
commissions and taxes, if any, when common shares are sold for a participant’s account. On July 20, 2012, we registered with the 
SEC 2,000,000 common shares to be issued under the plan on Form S-3D, which automatically became effective on July 20, 2012. 

Under this plan, eligible shareholders may elect to have all or a portion (but not less than 25%) of the cash dividends they receive 
automatically reinvested in our common shares. If an eligible shareholder elects to reinvest cash dividends under the plan, the 
shareholder may also make additional automatic cash purchases of our common shares, not to exceed $5,000 per fiscal quarter or, with 
our prior approval, in excess of $5,000 per fiscal quarter. The purchase prices per common share under the plan equals 95% of the 
estimated value for dividend reinvestments and equals 100% of the estimated value for additional automatic cash purchases, as 
determined by our Board of Trustees. The estimated value per common share was $14.00 from the effective date of the plan through 
December 31, 2012. Therefore, the purchase price per common share for dividend reinvestments was $13.30 and for additional 
automatic cash purchases was $14.00 through December 31, 2012. The Board, in its sole discretion, may amend, suspend or terminate 
the plan at any time, without the consent of shareholders, upon a ten day notice to participants. 

In 2012, 49,000 shares were issued pursuant to dividend reinvestments and 7,000 shares were issued pursuant to additional automatic 
cash purchases under the plan.  

NOTE 16 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
Property Management Fee  
During 2011, we paid property management fees to INREIT Management, LLC, our Advisor, for properties managed by INREIT 
Management, LLC in an amount equal to 5% of rents on the properties managed. The management team of INREIT Management, 
LLC includes Kenneth P. Regan, our Chief Executive Officer and Board of Trustee Member; Bradley J. Swenson, our President; 
James Wieland, our Board of Trustee member and Peter J. Winger, our Chief Financial Officer. In 2011, we paid management fees of 
$3,000 to INREIT Management, LLC. We did not pay management fees to INREIT Management, LLC in 2012.  

During 2012 and 2011, we paid property management fees to Goldmark Property Management in an amount equal to 5% of rents of 
the properties managed. The management team of Goldmark Property Management includes Kenneth Regan and James Wieland. In 
2012 and 2011, we paid management fees of $4,231,000 and $3,209,000, respectively, to Goldmark Property Management.  
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Board of Trustee Fees  
We paid Trustee fees of $64,000 and $41,000 during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  There is no cash 
retainer paid to Trustees.  Instead, we pay Trustees specific amounts for meetings attended.  In 2011, we paid committee members 
$300 per meeting and board members $800 per meeting.  In 2012, the rates were increased to $400 and $1,000, respectively. 

Advisory Agreement  
We are an externally advised trust and as such, although we have a Board of Trustees and executive officers responsible for our 
management, we have no paid employees. The following is a brief description of the current fees and compensation that may be 
received by the Advisor under the Advisory Agreement, which must be renewed on an annual basis and approved by a majority of the 
independent trustees.  

Management Fee: 0.35% of our total assets, annually. Total assets are our gross assets as reflected on our consolidated financial 
statements, taken as of the end of the fiscal quarter last preceding the date of computation. The management fee will be payable 
monthly in cash or our common shares, at the option of the Advisor, not to exceed one-twelfth of 0.35% of the total assets as of the 
last day of the immediately preceding month. The management fee calculation is subject to quarterly and annual reconciliations. The 
management fee may be deferred at the option of the Advisor, without interest.  

Acquisition Fee: For its services in investigating and negotiating acquisitions of investments for us, the Advisor receives an 
acquisition fee of 2.5% of the purchase price of each property acquired, capped at $375,000 per acquisition. The total of all acquisition 
fees and acquisition expenses cannot exceed 6% of the purchase price of the investment, unless approved by the majority of the 
trustees, including a majority of the independent trustees, if they determine the transaction to be commercially competitive, fair and 
reasonable to us.  

Disposition Fee: If the Advisor provides a substantial amount of services in the effort to sell any investment, the Advisor receives a 
disposition fee of 3% of the sales price of each investment. However, the disposition fee and other real estate commissions paid to 
unaffiliated parties cannot in the aggregate exceed the lesser of 6% of the sales price or a competitive real estate commission (which is 
reasonable, customary and competitive in light of the size, type and location of the property), unless approved by a majority of the 
trustees, including a majority of the independent trustees, if they determine the transaction to be commercially competitive, fair and 
reasonable to us.  

Financing Fee: 0.25% of all amounts made available to us pursuant to any loan, refinance (excluding rate and/or term modifications 
of an existing loan with the same lender), line of credit or other credit facility.  
 
Development Fee: Based on regressive sliding scale (starting at 5% and declining to 3%) of total project costs, excluding cost of land, 
for development services requested by us.  

Management Fees  
During 2012 and 2011, we incurred $1,313,000 and $765,000 to our Advisor for management fees. As of December 31, 2012 and 
2011, we owed our Advisor $112,000 and $67,000, respectively, for unpaid management fees. These fees cover the office facilities, 
equipment, supplies, and staff required to manage our day-to-day operations, and the amount payable based on 0.35% of Total Assets 
in 2012 and 0.50% of net invested assets in 2011.  

Acquisition Fees  
During 2012 and 2011, we incurred $582,000 and $1,174,000, respectively, to our Advisor for acquisition fees. These fees are for 
performing due diligence on properties acquired and were based on 2.5% of the purchase price up to a maximum of $375,000 per 
individual property in 2012 and 3% of the purchase price up to a maximum of $300,000 per individual property in 2011. During 2011, 
half of the acquisition fee was allocated to the cost of ongoing financing activities required during the life of the acquisition. There 
were no acquisition fees owed to our Advisor as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.  

Financing Fees  
During 2012 and 2011, we incurred $51,000 and $0, respectively, to our Advisor for loan financing and refinancing activities. This fee 
was based on 0.25% of loan activity. There were no financing fees owed to our Advisor as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.  

Disposition Fees  
During 2012 and 2011, we incurred $28,000 and $85,000 in disposition fees to our Advisor, respectively. See Note 20. There were no 
disposition fees owed to our Advisor as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.  
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Development Fees  
We did not incur any development fees during 2012 and 2011.  

Investments in Affiliates  
In July 2011, we purchased 40.26% interest in a single asset limited liability company which owns a 144 unit apartment complex in 
Bismarck, North Dakota. Our proportional share of the purchase was $2,326,000, with the remaining interest in the property held by 
Messrs. Regan and Wieland.  

Commissions  
During 2011, we incurred brokerage fees of $83,000 to Roger Domres, or entities owned by Roger Domres, then a shareholder of 
INREIT and a governor and member of our Advisor during a portion of 2011. Brokerage fees were based on 4% of the purchase price 
of limited partnership units and 8% of the purchase price of INREIT common shares sold. During 2011, we incurred marketing fees of 
$19,000 to HSC Partner, LLC, an entity owned by Roger Domres. Marketing fees were based on 2% of the purchase price of INREIT 
common shares sold. We did not incur any brokerage or marketing fees to Roger Domres or entities owned by Roger Domres in 2012. 
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, there were no outstanding brokerages or marketing fees owed to Roger Domres or entities owned 
by Roger Domres.  

During 2012 and 2011, we incurred brokerage fees of $943,000 and $55,000, respectively, to a broker-dealer benefitting Dale Lian, a 
shareholder of INREIT and a member of our Advisor. Brokerage fees were based on 8% of the purchase price of INREIT common 
shares sold. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, there were no outstanding brokerage fees owed to Dale Lian or entities benefitting 
Dale Lian.  

During 2012 and 2011, we incurred brokerage fees of $144,000 and $92,000, respectively, to a broker-dealer benefitting Larry 
O’Callaghan, a member of the Board of Trustees. Brokerage fees were based on 8% of the purchase price of INREIT common shares 
sold. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, there were no outstanding brokerage fees owed to the broker-dealer.  

During 2012, we incurred brokerage fees of $227,000 to a broker-dealer benefitting James Echtenkamp, a shareholder of INREIT and 
a member of our Advisor. Brokerage fees were based on 8% of the purchase price of INREIT common shares sold. As of December 
31, 2012 and 2011, there were no outstanding brokerage fees owed to James Echtenkamp or entities benefitting James Echtenkamp. 

During 2012 and 2011, we incurred real estate commissions of $576,000 ($493,000 of which were paid by the seller) and $265,000 
(all of which were paid by the seller), respectively, to Goldmark Schlossman Commercial Real Estate Services, Inc., which is 
controlled by Kenneth Regan and James Wieland. There were no outstanding commissions owed as of December 31, 2012 and 2011. 

Rental Income  
During 2012 and 2011, we received rental income of $2,160,000 and $2,160,000, respectively, under various lease agreements with 
Edgewood Vista Senior Living, Inc., an entity affiliated with Philip Gisi and Rex Carlson, members of the Board of Trustees during a 
portion of 2011. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we were owed $267,000 and $264,000, respectively, from Edgewood Vista 
Senior Living, Inc. for real estate taxes related to the properties.  

During 2012 and 2011, we received rental income each year of $102,000 under a lease agreement for an office building with EMG 
Investment Group, an entity affiliated with Philip Gisi and Rex Carlson, members of the Board of Trustees during a portion of 2011. 
Gate City Bank, a tenant in the building, is an entity affiliated with Lance Wolfe, current member of the Board of Trustees and the 
Executive Vice President of the Bank. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we were owed $44,000 and $44,000, respectively, from 
EMG Investment Group for real estate taxes related to the property.  

During 2012 and 2011, we received rental income of $179,000 and $179,000, respectively, under an operating lease agreement with 
Goldmark Property Management.  

During 2012 and 2011, we received rental income of $36,000 and $52,000, respectively, under an operating lease agreement with our 
Advisor.  
 
Rental Incentive  
During 2009, we provided a rent incentive of $1,500,000 to a property owned by Edgewood Development Group, an entity affiliated 
with Philip Gisi, a member of the Board of Trustees during a portion of 2011. The rent incentive is being amortized against rental 
income over the term of the lease. During 2012 and 2011, we amortized $100,000 against income, respectively.  
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NOTE 17 - RENTALS UNDER OPERATING LEASES / RENTAL INCOME  
Residential apartment units are rented to individual tenants with lease terms up to one year. Gross revenues from residential rentals 
totaled $37,737,000 and $32,255,000 for 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Commercial properties are leased to tenants under terms expiring at various dates through 2036. Lease terms often include renewal 
options.  For 2012 and 2011, gross revenues from commercial property rentals, including CAM (common area maintenance) income 
of $3,412,000 and $3,951,000 respectively, totaled $16,711,000 and $17,061,000, respectively.  

Commercial space is rented under long-term agreements. Minimum future rentals on non-cancelable operating leases as of 
December 31, 2012 are as follows:  

     Years ending December 31, 
 

Amount 
 2013 

 
$ 16,242,000 

 2014 
  

15,980,000 
 2015 

  
15,521,000 

 2016 
  

11,960,000 
 2017 

  
10,549,000 

 Thereafter 
  

85,191,000 
 

     

Total Payments 
 

$ 155,443,000 
 

     

NOTE 18 - PROPERTY MANAGEMENT FEES  
We have entered into various property management agreements with unrelated management companies. The agreements provide for 
the payment of property management fees based on a percentage of rental income (generally 5%). During 2012 and 2011, we incurred 
property management fees of $85,000 and $114,000, respectively, to unrelated management companies.  

During 2012 and 2011, we incurred management fees of 5% of rents to GOLDMARK Property Management, related party. Also, 
during 2012 and 2011, we incurred property management fees of 5% of rents to our Advisor, related party. See Note 16. 

NOTE 19 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

Environmental Matters  
Federal law (and the laws of some states in which we may acquire properties) imposes liability on a landowner for the presence on the 
premises of hazardous substances or wastes (as defined by present and future federal and state laws and regulations). This liability is 
without regard to fault or knowledge of the presence of such substances and may be imposed jointly and severally upon all succeeding 
landowners. If such hazardous substance is discovered on a property acquired by us, we could incur liability for the removal of the 
substances and the cleanup of the property. There can be no assurance that we would have effective remedies against prior owners of 
the property. In addition, we may be liable to tenants and may find it difficult or impossible to sell the property either prior to or 
following such a cleanup.  

Risk of Uninsured Property Losses  
We maintain property damage, fire loss, and liability insurance. However, there are certain types of losses (generally of a catastrophic 
nature) which may be either uninsurable or not economically insurable. Such excluded risks may include war, earthquakes, tornados, 
certain environmental hazards, and floods. Should such events occur, (i) we might suffer a loss of capital invested, (ii) tenants may 
suffer losses and may be unable to pay rent for the spaces, and (iii) we may suffer a loss of profits which might be anticipated from 
one or more properties.  
 
Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliates 

The operating partnership owns 40.26% interest in a single asset limited liability company which owns a 144 unit multi-tenant 
apartment complex in Bismarck, North Dakota. The property is encumbered by a first mortgage with a balance at December 31, 2012 
and December 31, 2011 of $2,441,000 and $2,495,000, respectively. We owed $983,000 and $1,005,000 of our respective share of the 
mortgage loan balance as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. The property was purchased in July 2011. 
 
The operating partnership is a 50% owner of Grand Forks Marketplace Retail Center through 100% ownership in a limited liability 
company, which owns a 1/3 interest in the Retail Center, and a 50% ownership in a separate limited liability company, which owns a 
1/3 interest in the Retail Center. Grand Forks Marketplace Retail Center has approximately 183,000 square feet of commercial space 
in Grand Forks, North Dakota. The property is encumbered by a non-recourse first mortgage with a balance at December 31, 2012 and 
December 31, 2011 of $11,663,000 and $11,949,000, respectively. We owed $5,831,000 and $5,975,000 for our respective share of 
the mortgage loan balance as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. 
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The operating partnership owns a 2/3 interest in a commercial building with approximately 75,000 square feet of rental space in Fargo, 
North Dakota. The property is encumbered by a first mortgage with a balance at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 of 
$7,468,000 and $7,579,000, respectively. We owed $4,979,000 and $5,053,000 for our respective share of the mortgage loan balance 
on December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.  

NOTE 20 - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  
We report in discontinued operations the results of operations for properties that have either been sold or are classified as held for sale. 
We also report any gains or losses from the sale of properties in discontinued operations.  

2012  
During the first quarter of 2012, we sold a 4,500 square foot retail property in Norfolk, Nebraska for approximately $350,000 and 
recognized a loss of approximately $88,000.  

During the second quarter of 2012, we sold vacant land in Minot, North Dakota for approximately $583,000 and recognized a gain of 
approximately $114,000.  

During the third quarter of 2012, there were no dispositions. 

During the fourth quarter of 2012, there were no dispositions.  

2011  

During the first quarter of 2011, there were no dispositions.  

During the second quarter of 2011, we sold an assisted living facility in Williston, North Dakota for $1.45 million and recognized a 
gain of $367,000.  

During the third quarter of 2011, we sold a retail property in Norfolk, Nebraska for $1,375,000 and recognized a loss of $67,000.  

During the fourth quarter of 2011, there were no dispositions.  

The following table shows the effect on net income and the gains or losses from the sale of properties classified as discontinued 
operations for 2012 and 2011:  

         

  

Discontinued Operations 
Twelve Months Ended 

December 31, 
 

  
2012 

  
2011 

 INCOME FROM RENTAL OPERATIONS EXPENSES 
 

$ — 
  

$ 146,000 
 Expenses from rental operations 

        Interest 
  

— 
   

66,000 
 Depreciation and amortization 

  
1,000 

   
53,000 

 Real estate taxes 
  

— 
   

33,000 
 Property management fees 

  
— 

   
6,000 

 Utilities 
  

— 
   

11,000 
 Repairs and maintenance 

  
— 

   
5,000 

 Insurance 
  

(1,000 ) 
  

9,000 
 Administrative 

  
— 

   
15,000 

 
         

 
  

— 
   

198,000 
 

         

Administration of REIT 
        Administrative expenses 
  

— 
   

— 
 Acquisition and disposition expenses 

  
28,000 

   
124,000 

 Legal and accounting 
  

2,000 
   

7,000 
 

    
 

  
00  

 
  

30,000 
   

131,000 
 

         

Total expenses 
  

30,000 
   

329,000 
 

         

OTHER INCOME 
        Interest income 
  

4,000 
   

—  
 

         

 
  

4,000  
   

—  
 INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BEFORE 

GAIN (LOSS) ON SALE 
  

(26,000 )  
  

(183,000 )  
GAIN ON SALE OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

  
26,000 

   
300,000 

 
         

INCOME (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
 

$ — 
  

$ 117,000 
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NOTE 21 - BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  

We continue to implement our strategy of acquiring properties in desired markets. It is impractical for us to obtain historical financial 
information on acquired properties and accordingly, proforma statements have not been presented.  

We account for our property acquisitions by allocating the purchase price of a property to the property’s assets based on 
management’s estimates of their fair value. Techniques used to estimate fair value include an appraisal of the property by a certified 
independent appraiser at the time of acquisition. Significant factors included in the independent appraisal include items such as current 
rent schedules, occupancy levels, and discount factors. Property valuations are completed primarily using the income capitalization 
approach, in which anticipated benefits are converted to an indication of current value.  

The total value allocable to intangible assets acquired, which consists of unamortized lease origination costs, in-place leases and tenant 
relationships, is allocated based on management’s evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease and our overall 
relationship with that respective tenant. Characteristics considered by management in allocating these values include the nature and 
extent of the existing business relationships with the tenant, growth prospects for developing new business with the tenant, the 
remaining term of the lease and the tenant’s credit quality, among other factors.  

The value allocable to above or below market component of an acquired in-place lease is determined based upon the present value 
(using a market discount rate) of the difference between (i) the contractual rents to be paid pursuant to the lease over its remaining 
term, and (ii) management’s estimate of rents that would be paid using fair market rates over the remaining term of the lease. The 
amounts allocated to above or below market leases are included in lease intangibles, net in the accompanying balance sheets and are 
amortized on a straight-line basis as an increase or reduction of rental income over the remaining non-cancelable term of the 
respective leases.  

We estimate the in-place lease value for each lease acquired. This fair value estimate is calculated using factors available in third party 
appraisals or cash flow estimates of the property prepared by our internal analysis. These estimates are based upon cash flow 
projections for the property, existing leases, and the current economic climate.  

Our analysis results in three discrete financial items: assets for above market leases, liabilities for below market leases, and assets for 
the in-place lease value. The calculation of each of these components is performed in tandem to provide a complete intangible asset 
value.  

Key factors considered in the calculation of fair value of both real property and intangible assets include the current market rent 
values, dark periods, direct costs estimated with obtaining a new tenant, discount rates, escalation factors, standard lease terms, and 
tenant improvement costs.  

2012 Purchases  
In January 2012, the operating partnership purchased a 2,811 square foot restaurant in Dickinson, North Dakota for approximately 
$1.33 million. The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $1.3 million and 
cash.  
 
In March 2012, the operating partnership purchased a 17,760 square foot implement dealership in Dickinson, North Dakota for 
approximately $1.39 million. The purchase was financed through the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately 
$959,000, the $431,000 assumption of a mortgage and cash.  
 
In August 2012, the operating partnership purchased 23,690 square foot implement dealership in Minot, North Dakota for $2,630,000 
with cash.  
 
In August 2012, the operating partnership purchased 2.5 acres of land adjacent to an implement dealership in Dickinson, North Dakota 
for $400,000 with cash.  
 
In August 2012, the operating partnership purchased approximately 12 acres of development land in Bismarck, North Dakota for 
$2,420,000 with cash.  
 
In August 2012, the operating partnership purchased 100,600 square foot commercial property in Fargo, North Dakota for $3,450,000. 
The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at $965,000 and cash.  
 
In September 2012, the operating partnership purchased an 85 unit apartment complex in Fargo, North Dakota for $3,450,000. The 
purchase was financed through assumption of $2,439,000 in mortgage debt and cash.  
 



F-29

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

In September 2012, the operating partnership purchased a 116 unit apartment complex in Moorhead, Minnesota for $3,450,000. The 
purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at $796,000, the assumption of $2,199,000 in mortgage 
debt and cash.  
 
In October 2012, the operating partnership purchased 29,800 square foot implement dealership in Fargo, North Dakota for $2,820,000.  
The purchase was financed through the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $1,488,000, assumption of 
$1,251,000 in mortgage debt and cash. 
 
In November 2012, the operating partnership purchased a 66 unit apartment complex in Fargo, North Dakota for $1,950,000.  The 
purchase was financed through assumption of $1,249,000 in mortgage debt and cash. 
 
 
The following table summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed during 2012:  
 

Property and In Place Favorable Unfavorable Mortgages Consideration
Equipment Leases Lease Terms Lease Terms Assumed Given

Dairy Queen, Dickinson, ND 987,000$           226,000$       118,000$      -$                 -$                     1,331,000$      
Titan Machinery, Dickinson, ND 1,450,000          199,000         -                   (259,000)      (431,000)          959,000           
Titan Machinery, Minot, ND 2,272,000          358,000         -                   -                   -                       2,630,000        
Land, Dickinson, ND 400,000             -                    -                   -                   -                       400,000           
Land, Bismarck, ND 2,420,000          -                    -                   -                   -                       2,420,000        
Guardian Building, Fargo, ND 3,124,000          531,000         -                   (206,000)      -                       3,449,000        
Prairiewood Meadows, Fargo, ND 3,450,000          -                    -                   -                   (2,439,000)       1,011,000        
Terrace on the Green, Moorhead, MN 3,450,000          -                    -                   -                   (2,199,000)       1,251,000        
Titan Machinery - Fargo, ND 2,728,000          418,000         -                   (325,000)      (1,251,000)       1,570,000        
Candlight Apartments - Fargo, ND 1,950,000          -                    -                   -                   (1,249,000)       701,000           

22,231,000$      1,732,000$    118,000$      (790,000)$    (7,569,000)$     15,722,000$    

Total consideration given for acquisitions in 2012 was primarily given in the form of cash, which totaled approximately $10,176,000. 
Acquisitions with total consideration of approximately $5,546,000 were completed through issuing limited partnership units in the 
operating partnership, valued at $14.00 per unit. Units issued in exchange for property are determined through a value established 
annually by our Board of Trustees, and reflects the fair value at the time of issuance.  

2011 Purchases  
In January 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 4,997 square foot restaurant in Apple Valley, Minnesota for approximately 
$2.5 million. The purchase was financed through the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $1.7 million and 
cash.  

In January 2011, the operating partnership purchased the remaining 65.44% interest in Sierra Ridge, a 136 unit apartment complex in 
Bismarck, North Dakota for approximately $6.5 million. The purchase was financed with approximately $2.2 million in cash and the 
assumption of $4.3 million in debt. The debt assumption was finalized on April 1, 2011.  
 
In May 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 40 unit apartment complex and a 24 unit apartment complex in Fargo, North 
Dakota for approximately $2.5 million. The purchase was financed through the assumption of approximately $0.8 million in debt and 
the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $1.7 million. The properties were purchased from entities affiliated 
with Kenneth Regan and James Wieland, related parties who each received limited partnership units valued at approximately 
$419,000.  

In May 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 2,712 square foot restaurant and a 3,510 square foot office building in Moorhead, 
Minnesota for approximately $2.2 million. The purchase was financed with a combination of a new $575,000 loan and the issuance of 
limited partnership units valued at approximately $1.6 million.  

In June 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 13,390 square foot retail store and 36,432 square feet of adjacent land in Denver, 
Colorado for approximately $5.9 million. The purchase was financed with a combination of a $4.6 million loan and approximately 
$1.3 million in cash.  

In July 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 24 unit apartment complex in Fargo, North Dakota for approximately $1,044,000. 
The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $503,000, the assumption of an 
approximately $531,000 loan and cash.  
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In July 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 40.26% interest in a 144 unit apartment building in Bismarck, North Dakota. The 
sales price was approximately $2,326,000. The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at 
approximately $1,188,000, the assumption of approximately $1,013,000 in mortgage debt and $125,000. The remaining ownership 
consists of Mr. Regan and Mr. Wieland, related parties. The investment is recorded under the equity method of accounting.  

In August 2011, the operating partnership purchased an 18 unit apartment building in Grand Forks, North Dakota for approximately 
$640,000. The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $382,000, a new 
$249,000 loan and cash.  

In September 2011, the operating partnership purchased a single tenant 8,000 square foot office building in Norfolk, Nebraska for 
$600,000. The purchase was financed with cash.  

In October 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 42,000 square foot implement dealership in Marshall, Minnesota for 
approximately $5.0 million. The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units valued at approximately $2.6 
million, an approximately $2.4 million loan and cash. 

In December 2011, the operating partnership purchased a 414 unit apartment complex in Eagan, Minnesota for approximately $26.2 
million. The purchase was financed with the assumption of an existing $16.7 million mortgage, an $8.0 million advance from the 
Wells Fargo line of credit and cash.  

Total consideration given for acquisitions in 2011 was primarily given in the form of cash, which totaled approximately $13,284,000. 
Acquisitions with total consideration of approximately $9,664,000 were completed through issuing limited partnership units in the 
operating partnership, valued at $14.00 per unit. Units issued in exchange for property are determined through a value established 
annually by our Board of Trustees, and reflects the fair value at the time of issuance.  
 
The following table summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed during 2011:  
 
                         

  

Property and 
Equipment 

  

In Place 
Leases 

  

Favorable 
Lease 
Terms 

  

Unfavorable 
Lease 
Terms 

  

Mortgages 
Assumed 

  

Consideration 
Given 

 Applebee’s, Apple Valley, MN 
 

$ 1,795,000 
  

$ 323,000 
  

$ 405,000 
  

$ —  
  

$ —  
  

$ 2,523,000 
 Sierra Ridge Apartments, Bismarck, ND 

  
6,459,000 

   
—  

   
—  

   
—  

   
(4,264,000 )  

  
2,195,000 

 Country Side Apartments, Fargo, ND 
  

936,000 
   

—  
   

—  
   

—  
   

(286,000 )  
  

650,000 
 Country Club Apartments, Fargo, ND 

  
1,528,000 

   
—  

   
—  

   
—  

   
(467,000 )  

  
1,061,000 

 Bank of the West, Moorhead, MN 
  

922,000 
   

78,000 
   

—  
   

—  
   

(264,000 )  
  

736,000 
 Dairy Queen, Moorhead, MN 

  
1,027,000 

   
152,000 

   
2,000 

   
—  

   
(311,000 )  

  
870,000 

 Walgreen’s, Denver, CO 
  

4,706,000 
   

450,000 
   

54,000 
   

—  
   

(4,062,000 )  
  

1,148,000 
 Taco Bell Land, Denver, CO 

  
669,000 

   
20,000 

   
1,000 

   
—  

   
(538,000 )  

  
152,000 

 Islander Apartments, Fargo, ND 
  

1,044,000 
   

—  
   

—  
   

—  
   

(531,000 )  
  

513,000 
 Southview III, Grand Forks, ND 

  
640,000 

   
—  

   
—  

   
—  

   
(249,000 )  

  
391,000 

 Premiere Marketing, Norfolk, NE 
  

495,000 
   

111,000 
   

—  
   

(6,000 )  
  

—  
   

600,000 
 Titan Machinery, Marshall, MN 

  
5,000,000 

   
—  

   
—  

   
—  

   
(2,445,000 )  

  
2,555,000 

 Glen Pond Apartments, Eagan, MN 
  

26,250,000 
   

—  
   

—  
   

—  
   

(16,694,000 )  
  

9,556,000 
 

                         

 
 

$ 51,471,000 
  

$ 1,134,000 
  

$ 462,000 
  

$ (6,000 )  
 

$ (30,111,000 )  
 

$ 22,950,000 
 

                         

For one acquisition completed during 2011, the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeded the fair 
value of the purchase price of the business. Consequently, we reassessed the recognition and measurement of identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed and concluded that the valuation procedures and resulting measures were appropriate. As a result, we 
recognized a gain of $100,000 associated with this acquisition. The gain is included in the line item “Other income” in the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

NOTE 22 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

In January 2013, the operating partnership purchased a property occupied by an implement dealership in Redwood Falls, Minnesota 
for approximately $4.7 million. The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units, assumption of a mortgage 
and cash. The purchase price allocation is not yet complete. 

In February 2013, the operating partnership purchased seven apartment complexes in Fargo, North Dakota for approximately $7.3 
million.  The purchases were financed with the issuance of limited partnership units and cash.  The properties were purchased from 
entities affiliated with Kenneth Regan and James Wieland, related parties who each received limited partnership units.  The purchase 
price allocation is not yet complete. 



F-31

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

In February 2013, the operating partnership purchased an apartment complex in Grand Forks, North Dakota for approximately $4.4 
million.  The purchase was financed with the issuance of limited partnership units and cash.  The properties were purchased from 
entities affiliated with Kenneth Regan and James Wieland, related parties who each received limited partnership units.  The purchase 
price allocation is not yet complete.   

We have evaluated subsequent events through the date of this filing. We are not aware of any other subsequent events which would 
require recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Exhibit 21.1 

NAME OF SUBSIDIARY
JURISDICTION
OF FORMATION

INREIT Properties, LLC North Dakota

Grand Forks INREIT, LLC North Dakota

Autumn Ridge INREIT, LLC North Dakota

Bismarck Interstate INREIT, LLC North Dakota

32nd Avenue INREIT, LLC Delaware

INREIT BL Mankato, LLC North Dakota

INREIT BL Janesville, LLC North Dakota

INREIT BL Eau Claire, LLC North Dakota

INREIT BL Stevens Point, LLC North Dakota

INREIT BL Sheboygan, LLC North Dakota

INREIT BL Oshkosh, LLC North Dakota

INREIT BL Onalaska, LLC North Dakota

INREIT BL Grand Forks, LLC North Dakota

INREIT BL Marquette, LLC North Dakota

INREIT BL Bismarck, LLC North Dakota

INREIT Stonybrook, LLC Delaware

INREIT Alexandria, LLC Delaware

INREIT Batesville, LLC North Dakota

INREIT Fayetteville, LLC North Dakota

INREIT Laurel, LLC Delaware

* Marketplace Investors, LLC North Dakota

** Eagle Run Partnership North Dakota

INREIT Maple Ridge, LLC North Dakota

*** INREIT Highland, LLC North Dakota

Sierra Ridge, LLC North Dakota

INREIT Fed-3 LLC Colorado

INREIT Sunset Ridge, LLC North Dakota

Prairiewood Meadows, LLC North Dakota

Terrace On The Green, LLC Minnesota

INREIT Somerset, LLC North Dakota

INREIT Twin Parks, LLC North Dakota

The Candlelight Apartments, LLC Delaware

* 50% Ownership 
** 81.25% Ownership 
*** 40.26% Ownership
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

 
 
To the Board of Trustees 
INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust 
Fargo, North Dakota 
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3D of our report dated 
March 12, 2013 relating to our audits of the consolidated financial statements of INREIT Real Estate 
Investment Trust, included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.  We also 
consent to the reference to our firm as Experts in the Registration Statement on Form S-3D. 
 
/s/ Widmer Roel PC 
 
Fargo, North Dakota 
March 12, 2013 

4334 18th Avenue S., Suite 101 • Fargo, ND 58103-7414 
Phone:(701) 237-6022 • (888) 237-6022 • Fax: (701) 280-1495 • www.widmerroelcpa.com 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 



Exhibit 31.1 

OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 

I, Kenneth P. Regan, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for, the periods presented 
in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-5(e) and 15d-15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Dated: March 29, 2013
By: /s/ Kenneth P. Regan

Kenneth P. Regan
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2 

OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 

I, Peter J. Winger, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for, the periods presented 
in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-5(e) and 15d-15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Dated: March 29, 2013
By: /s/ Peter J. Winger

Peter J. Winger
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of INREIT Real Estate Investment Trust (the “Company”) for the annual 
period ended December 31, 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the 
undersigned, in the capacities and on the dates indicated below, hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section1350, as adopted pursuant 
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of their knowledge: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended; and 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operation of the Company. 

Dated: March 29, 2013 By: /s/ Kenneth P. Regan
Kenneth P. Regan
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 29, 2013 By: /s/ Peter Winger
Peter Winger
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the 
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 
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